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			Prologue

			Mothers and Daughters

			Every story about a dead woman starts with her body.

			Elizabeth Short. Nicole Brown. Mary Jane Kelly.

			I don’t want to do that. I want to start with anything but her body. Anything.

			Lindsey Maccabee deserves that. She deserves to not be defined by her death.

			I want to start with life. Because that is what they take away.

			Lindsey grew up in Columbus. Her mother, Sharon, worked for thirty years for General Motors, building door locks. Her father, Gordon, worked in a factory making televisions. She had a brother, Stacy, who was fifteen years her senior. But she was inseparable from her sister, Jenny, who was only fifteen months older than her.

			At fifteen, she fell in love with a boy. The boy cheated on her. Lindsey beat the hell out of the girl he fooled around with—­then she cried for weeks. Two years passed before she fell in love again, this time with a boy named Joshua. He took her to the prom. She turned eighteen, and they moved in together. Their daughter, Adrianna, was born on August 10, 2008. Lindsey landed a job at a pizza place. She got pregnant a second time, then had a miscarriage. Joshua wanted to move back to his hometown in Iowa. Lindsey didn’t want to leave her family. She was heartbroken when he left.

			She went back to live with her mother and got a job at McDonald’s. There she met a guy in the kitchen who introduced her to pills.

			Lindsey’s mother, Sharon, relayed this all to me. The guy from McDonald’s? Well, his father told him to stop seeing Lindsey and put him into rehab. Lindsey moved on. She found a guy who set her up in an apartment, allowing her to move out of her mother’s house. That went on a few years, until he realized she was an addict.

			“She went to the streets instead of getting help,” her mother said. She ended up evicted, moved in here with her baby, Alana, who was born in August 2014. Adrianna went to her dad’s sister. Someone called Child Protective Services on Lindsey. “Next thing I know, they take the baby out of here and put her with the aunt as well. Lindsey wasn’t allowed to see them. I begged her to get off the drugs. But she would leave, stay gone a few days, come home to clean up, eat, and sleep, then leave. This happened up to the day she was murdered.”

			Meanwhile, in 2012, her sister, Jenny, went to the doctor for back pain related to her scoliosis, and he prescribed her fifteen milligrams of oxycodone. After a few years, she started abusing. Her doctor recognized the issue and cut her off cold turkey.

			“Then she started stealing,” Sharon said. “She’d steal from me, my mom, anyone, and stores. She was more scared to take to the streets [than Lindsey] and went to rehab two times, jail for ten days for stealing, then ended up going to a Suboxone doctor, then selling them for her habit—­that went from pills to heroin.”

			This is how it can happen. This is how a family can be destroyed by those little white pills.

			Hopes and dreams. A mother of two. Little white pills.

			Now we can start where every story about a murdered woman starts.

			We begin at a railroad crossing in rural Ohio. A school bus pulls up to the crossing and stops, as is the law. One of the kids on the bus glances out the window and sees what looks like a mannequin lying in the cornfield. Then the other kids all look out the window. At the same time, another car pulls up, and the driver peers into the field. The driver knows—­this isn’t a mannequin. He dials 911. Police arrive and identify the body as thirty-­year-­old Lindsey Leigh Maccabee, a mother of two little girls from South Columbus. Her naked body is lying faceup, her head bludgeoned, her throat slit. She had been missing for forty-­eight hours. She was last seen in South Columbus.

			One month later and a dozen miles away, a farmer mowing the field behind a crop of soybeans along Allen Road in Violet Township came upon the partially skeletonized remains of a person, later identified as twenty-­five-­year-­old Danielle Leann Greene. Danielle had been missing for thirty days. She was last seen in South Columbus.

			Danielle and Lindsey were best friends. Before both went missing, they lived in the same house together. Their bodies were found a month apart, miles away from home. Something about two best friends being murdered got to me. I headed to Columbus to tell their story for Crime Watch Daily, a television show, produced by Warner Bros. and Telepictures, home of Extra and Ellen, that I was working on. It was daytime television, and I knew what they were going to make me do. I understood. And I was part of the problem.

			We would “clean them up” for television. Danielle and Lindsey would not be sex workers. They would be going out on “dates.” Why? Because the mainstream media believes that viewers will tune out as soon as they hear the victims are sex workers. What we once called prostitutes. Ten percent of the viewership might say, “They deserved it,” and tune out. Twenty percent might say, “Well, they put themselves in that position,” and tune out. And those tune outs can kill your ratings. And it is true. People do tune out. You can see it in the ratings, which are recorded in five-­minute increments. You can watch when they leave. When the viewer makes a judgment about a victim, they change the channel.

			But you take what you can get. You lighten the truth to get their story out there. And you make the trade with yourself that it’s better than if it doesn’t get out there at all. Because a story about two dead sex workers is not going to make it on Dateline or 48 Hours.

			When the victims are on societal margins, it becomes a numbers game. Two isn’t going to do it. Six and someone might pay attention.

			We saw that a year earlier, in the summer of 2015, when the prospect of an active serial killer had the national media salivating. In Chillicothe, Ohio, six women were found dead. “Serial Killer!?” screamed the headlines. The victims weren’t “ideal.” They weren’t the young lovers necking in the cars during Son of Sam’s rampage. Or the couples sleeping in their beds during the Golden State Killer’s reign. No. They were getting into the strange cars of strange men at midnight. And we still didn’t have answers for what happened to them.

			I found Lindsey’s Facebook page. There was one post from April 18, 2016, that read, “I’m lost, broken hearted, misunderstood, lonely and straight up fucked. I don’t got nobody or nothing in this fucked shit world today. I seen the true real colors of the fucked-­up rainbows.”

			Through Lindsey’s page I found her brother, Stacy, and sent him a message to start piecing together Lindsey’s life. Her family didn’t have much, but after her troubles out of high school, Lindsey eventually earned an associate’s degree in medical billing. She was on the straight and narrow. Then her father died and left her a bit of money. With the money came hangers-­on, “friends” who came with drugs. Her life went into a spiral. She would live with friends or on the streets, but she always came back home after a week or so to recharge.

			I located Danielle’s father on Facebook as well. A bald, hulking man with a perpetual concerned look on his face, Scott Greene was devastated that his little girl was gone, but he had lost her many times before. She left home at sixteen. She got into pills, which led to heroin, which led to sex work. He tried to get her back and get her off the streets, but nothing stuck. She lost custody of her two daughters, Victoria and Brandy.

			I tried to learn everything I could about the women’s lives before I would travel to Columbus to work the case. Did they have a pimp? Regular johns? Regular dealers?

			I reached out to Trista Thurston, a reporter for the Lancaster Eagle Gazette, who had written a story about the two women. It’s one thing I do when working any story—­contact the journalists who were there first. I often do that as a courtesy, and maybe to ask for a contact. But I mainly do it to ask one specific question: Is there anything you wanted to investigate further but didn’t have the time?

			Some of the writers say no straight out. For them, it’s a gig. They do their work, they go home. Rinse and repeat. But for most, it is a passion for more information. And it is a passion that cannot be fed because newsrooms continue to shrink; reporters are working more stories but with less depth. The time is not there.

			I asked. Trista replied, “I would have liked to have visited the Home for Lost Children.”

			I had heard rumblings about this “Home” in South Columbus. It was not an official organized home. It was a man’s house; he’d opened his doors to wayward girls of all ages. Why? I wondered. What was he getting out of it? What went on there? The man running it had lost his wife two years prior, and he claimed he was lonely and wanted to help the people on the streets.

			Danielle spent the last few months of her life there. Maybe someone knew something. Saw something.

			But then I learned a fact that cemented my travel plans. Lindsey had stayed at the Home for Lost Children as well. And I learned the two best friends had a third they were close with, another girl, named CeeCee.

			Two best friends. Housemates. Mothers to two daughters who were taken away from them. They were sex workers. They were heroin addicts. And they were dead.

			Two weeks later, I was driving around Fairfield County in a rented SUV with Danielle’s father, Scott. Lindsey’s mother, Sharon, and brother, Stacy, were in another car. We all followed a detective. We caravanned through back roads of southern Ohio, green farmland on either side of us giving way every half mile or so to a picturesque homestead. After thirty minutes, we arrived at the spot where Lindsey’s body was found. The corn had been cut down, and we could see straight through the field to the embankment of railroad tracks fifty yards to the left and the row of thick trees five hundred yards to the right. Her mother had not been to the place where her daughter’s body had been dumped nine months earlier. She walked twenty feet from the road into the cornfield and placed a bouquet of flowers in a small five-­foot-­by-­ten-­foot clearing that seemed to be carved into the crop, the land somehow understanding that the place was now sacrosanct. The police wouldn’t share the crime scene photos with me. I was left to imagine Lindsey’s body—­ribs were broken, skull was fractured, throat was slashed. The police found very little blood at the scene, leaving them to think she had been killed elsewhere and left in this field.

			I turned to the detective and asked a question I knew the answer to: “Do you think the killer wanted her to be found?”

			It was clear he did. There was no effort to hide Lindsey’s body at all. Danielle’s case was another matter.

			The caravan moved on to the next dump site. Scott drove with me to the area where his daughter Danielle’s skeletonized body had been found. The whole way there he chatted nervously. Then he abruptly stopped.

			“We’re close,” he said. “I can feel it.”

			Scott didn’t have a car, so he had never driven out to where his daughter had been found, even though it was less than an hour away from his house.

			We pulled along the side of the two-­lane road, the green fields stretching out far behind us, not a house or other building in sight, and walked toward a dirt path in between a creek and a soybean field. Danielle’s body had been found about two hundred yards from where we stood, in the creek behind the field. You couldn’t see the location from the road, as the only clump of trees in the area was hiding the spot. You couldn’t see it even if the crops were cut.

			Going to a crime scene gives you a different perspective on things you can never get from sitting at home and looking at Google Street View. The biggest for me at this scene? There was no way a dealer from South Columbus would drive all the way out here, having no way of knowing that there was a path in between the creek and the crop that would allow him to drive down the narrow trail without encountering a house so he could find a spot to dump Danielle’s body.

			No. The person who did this was local.

			This killer knew the area. They knew they could find a safe place to dump a body, presumably at night. There is a lot of talk about serial killer truckers in America—­men who pick up women in one state, murder them, then dump them in another, leaving a little trail behind. But a tractor-­trailer truck could not drive down that narrow dirt path. The killer had to be in a car or small truck.

			Scott Greene stared at the creek that his daughter’s body was found in and broke down in tears. “I hope they get the needle,” he said, referring to Ohio’s preferred method of capital punishment. I put my hand on his shoulder and made up my mind. I would set up a Facebook page searching for answers and target ads not in South Columbus but in Fairfield County, with a radius circling both body dump sites.

			It was a long shot, but when you hear a father cry like that, you take long shots.

			We got back into the SUV and drove to Scott’s house in South Columbus, a rough area filled with shanty houses, hollowed-­out buildings, and a gargantuan opioid epidemic that has turned its streets into ghost trails filled with strung-­out men and women selling their bodies to feed their addiction.

			Along the way, we picked up Scott’s son, Jonithen, Danielle’s younger brother. Jonithen knew people in the neighborhood and could provide a modicum of cover in the kind of area that did not take kindly to outsiders. A slightly smaller version of his father, wearing a ball cap and shorts, Jonithen climbed into the back of the SUV. We also met with my security detail, which Crime Watch Daily insisted on for a story like this—­two armed men, former police officers, who would follow us in a black sedan.

			We drove through the cramped streets of South Columbus, into a neighborhood called Hungarian Village. Rows and rows of small farmhouses sat five feet from each other, almost all of them with front porches looking out over green and yellow grass. Behind them were tight alleyways lined with garages and trash cans. The roads were so narrow that many of the streets were one-­ways, turning directions into a puzzle to be figured out. Scott knew which way to go, as he pointed out different parts of his daughter’s life.

			“She lived right over here on Hanford,” he said. “Before she started getting into trouble as a teenager.” We turned another corner. “Right here is where I tried to run over a kid on his bike. I caught him in bed with Danielle. They were clothed, but I chased him down. I was ready to kill him. She was sixteen.”

			We turned onto Parsons, the main strip where the women worked. There were two main roads that run north-­south in Columbus. One was High Street, where you’d find skyscrapers, the Ohio Statehouse, and hip little bars and restaurants leading up to the Ohio State University campus. The other was Parsons, where chain restaurants and strip malls to the north slowly gave way to vacant lots, empty brick buildings, and unironic dive bars as you headed south. A bridge over railroad tracks contained the strip, about a half mile in length, that the women walked up and down as they searched for dates. In the rows of stores that once made up the neighborhood’s downtown, only the pawnshop, the pharmacy, and a store called the Appliance and Mattress Center have managed to survive.

			We passed the church where the women can take showers and eat lunch.

			We passed by a man walking slowly, shuffling, really. Like a zombie.

			“Yeah, this guy here,” Scott said. “He’s a heroin addict. I’ve seen him at the heroin house, the one right by my house.” Scott knew the heroin house. He apologized for sweating so much when he confided in me later that he was in recovery.

			We passed by shuttered storefronts, but also what appeared to be a newly remodeled CVS. Scott continued to point out locations.

			“That’s a drug house right there . . . There’s where we had my daughter’s service . . . That’s another dealer house right there. They live there because of the girls. It’s convenient.”

			“Are we headed to 153?” Jonithen asked.

			“That’s the Home for Lost Children?” I asked.

			“Yeah,” said Scott. “I never heard it called that before. It’s a house full of young girls. A guy named Ed Roscoe owns the house. He just lets people crash there.”

			I pulled the SUV onto the street where the house sat and saw it with my own eyes for the first time. A two-­story gray home, with a fake stone façade caked with layers of dirt. A chain link fence guarded the property, which consisted of dirt and faded rosebushes. There was a red ramp with white latticework leading up to the front door, probably built to aid someone in a wheelchair. Small garden statues and large wind chimes filled the front yard.

			In front of the home about five or six men and women stood around. Across the street another group of people hung out.

			By the house next door, two younger women stood by the fence.

			“The guy in the hat right there,” said Jonithen. “That’s Roscoe.”

			I opened the door to the SUV and walked toward the house. Immediately, everyone in front of Roscoe’s house scattered, perhaps thinking I was a cop based on the black SUV, or they spied the security detail setting up across the street from Roscoe’s house.

			I approached the house and the small, frail older man in a ball cap. Roscoe spoke in a low voice with a distinct Southern drawl.

			“Danielle stayed here on and off,” he told me. “She was a character. She stayed upstairs with her friend and for a while was with this guy named Tony.”

			I later learned that Tony was a guy who took her to Florida at some point. He apparently stayed down there, and she came back. He was not around when she went missing.

			I asked Roscoe if any guys ever came around bothering the girls.

			“No,” he said.

			He told me the last time he saw Danielle. He had taken her to the Salvation Army on the third or fourth of September 2016, two months before her body was found.

			“She got some secondhand clothes and that evening she disappeared. She left that night. I thought maybe she left and went some other place to stay. All her clothes are still here. And about a week or two later found out somebody killed her.” Danielle’s body was found November 5, and she had been last seen thirty days before that, so I wasn’t sure about the elderly man’s timeline. He might have been confused, or he might have just not seen her for a few weeks.

			As Roscoe and I spoke, the crowd that scattered began to creep back onto the street. From the house came a woman in a white tank top. She was either high or coming down. She walked up to the fence where I was standing.

			“You asking about Danielle?” she slurred.

			“Yes.”

			“Danielle stayed in my room. I still have her belongings in my closet. She was a really good girl. A really beautiful young girl.”

			“What do you think happened?” I asked.

			“I mean, whatever she done she thought that she probably could have got some money from this guy and she got in the wrong car,” she said, starting to weep. “You know, she just got in the wrong fucking car.”

			Three more people came out of the house, including a man who introduced himself as Roscoe’s son and a woman named Jamie. Jamie didn’t want to be on camera. I asked her if there were any creepy guys around that we should look at.

			“There’s always creepy guys around here.”

			“I know,” I said. “I mean particularly creepy guys.”

			“It’s the Southside. It’s all creepy guys.”

			“Detectives did diddly-­squat on this case,” said a guy who looked to be about twenty-­five years old and was wearing a dirty T-­shirt. “They know these nicknames of the people. But they don’t do door-­to-­door interviews; they’re clueless.”

			“Nicknames like ‘Whiteboy’?” I asked. Whiteboy was the name of a pimp Scott told me about. The man supposedly last seen with Danielle.

			“Exactly.”

			Two more people filtered out of the house. A tall trans woman, followed by a short redhead wearing a loose-­fitting purple T-­shirt and tight jeans.

			The redhead approached me and told me her name: CeeCee.

			“Danielle was my best friend, and Lindsey was like my stepsister,” she said.

			CeeCee lived in the house with both of them. On the surface, she looked like any girl you would see at the mall. She had a sparkle to her, but it was fading.

			She started telling me their story.

			“The first time Lindsey hit Parsons Avenue, we did it together. And then Danielle. Danielle’s been doing tricks and dates basically all her life since she’s been thirteen.”

			“What do you think happened?” I asked her.

			“I know one thing for sure and two for certain—­Lindsey and Danielle were probably together when they both got killed. And the last time they was seen, they left this house going on a date together. It’s not a coincidence. And Lindsey knows they are not going to get in a car with someone they don’t know randomly. They had to know him.”

			And CeeCee also felt she had seen the killer before.

			“I feel in my heart I think we passed this guy. He’s close to us.”

			As CeeCee talked, I was hit by a heavy feeling in my chest. A feeling I had never had in twenty years of doing this. It was like I was talking to a person who was slipping away. There was someone coming around here, picking up women and killing them. From this small pool of women. It felt like I was talking to the next victim.

			CeeCee continued. “About a month ago, a guy got me back here in the alley. He raped me and cut me and beat me.

			“The neighbor next door came to tell the dude to move his car. He probably saved my life, to be honest.” She never reported the incident.

			As daylight started to run out, I asked her one last question: “What is it going to take to catch this guy?”

			She leaned up against the chain link fence bordering the Home for Lost Children.

			“For one, we’re gonna have to stick together,” she said, starting to cry. “But all of us. If it’s going to happen to them two, it can happen to us.”

			“Have you thought twice about getting into a car now?” I asked.

			She looked away and nodded. “Yeah. But I’m a drug addict.”

			“So, you have to.”

			“Yep.”

			I was staring the epidemic right in the face. I wanted to take care of this girl, because I could not get the thought out of my head: She was going to be the next victim.

			I asked for her Facebook page and told her I would stay in touch. Then I thanked Roscoe, and we left.

			I really wanted to catch this fucking guy.

			We headed back to Scott’s home so I could drop him off and head to the airport to fly back to Los Angeles, and along the way he told me to make a right off Parsons onto a side street.

			We drove past charming white Victorian farmhouses that had overstayed their welcome.

			“It’s right up here,” he said. “One more block.”

			We drove one more block.

			“There,” he said, his arm reaching across my body and pointing to my left.

			I turned my head to see a house with a large banner hanging over the porch. On either side of the banner were pictures of the same woman, staring straight into the camera. She was blond, smiling, looked like she could pass for fourteen.

			In between the photos were large block letters in yellow on a black background.

			MISSING

			JAYME BOWEN

			5’0” Tall—100 lbs. |

			Blonde Hair—­Blue Eyes

			Tattoo On Side Of Neck

			“George III”

			Any Information:

			Call Columbus Police

			(614) 645-4545 or 911

			Help Find Jayme

			& Bring Her Home!

			“Danielle was friends with Jayme,” Scott said to me.

			Jayme Bowen was last seen in South Columbus on April 10, 2014—two years before Danielle and Lindsey went missing. She was twenty-­two years old.

			I pulled the SUV up to the curb across the street from the house.

			“My daughter used to live right there,” Scott said, pointing at a neighboring house. “Her and Jayme knew each other. They were friends. And her mom seems to think this is tied together.”

			Scott had spoken with Jayme’s mother only over Facebook. I suggested we get out and ring the bell.

			A middle-­aged woman emerged from the well-­kept house. Her face showed that she was used to people coming and asking questions by that point.

			Scott introduced himself as Danielle’s father. She remembered Danielle.

			“She was friends with my daughter,” Nancy Bowen said. “Danielle and Lindsey—­they were the ones both found, the two girls down in Fairfield County in the field. My daughter and Lindsey. They lived together. Doing the same thing.”

			“Wait,” I said. “Your daughter used to live with Lindsey and was also friends with Danielle?”

			“Yes,” Nancy said. “That’s why I think this is tied together.”

			Jayme’s father stepped out of the house and between the two chairs sitting on the porch and introduced himself to Scott and me.

			“I can’t imagine what you guys are going through, not even knowing where she is,” Scott said.

			“Yeah, it’s crazy,” the older man said. “And I never got over it. It’s that bad. You’re never gonna rest. You never quit looking.”

			Mike Bowen had been missing his daughter for three and a half years. “I’ve heard things on the streets, you know? We’ve heard she’s in Canada. China. There were sightings in Cleveland. We’ve heard everything from one of her limbs is here, one of her limbs is there, to part of her body’s in another state.”

			I didn’t know what to say.

			Back in the car, we drove to Scott’s house. I gave him a hug and promised him I wasn’t going to stop searching for answers. He was traveling down a road no parent should ever have had to step foot on. I tried to capture what he was going through as best I could—­to make people care for a victim most of America would typically just shrug their shoulders at and look away from. These were women with hopes and dreams. These were not only daughters, but mothers.

			I tried to tell their story through their crime scenes, retracing their last moments as best I could. Then I stepped out of their lives and back into mine, driving to my hotel with the footage in my bag, CeeCee’s words running through my head.

			“Yeah. But I’m a drug addict.”

		

	


		
			Chapter 1

			Dying to Live

			On the plane back to LA, I had two thoughts on my mind. The first was desperation.

			“Yeah. But I’m a drug addict” was what CeeCee said to me when I asked if it made her think twice about getting into a stranger’s car.

			This wasn’t a life choice for Danielle and Lindsey. These women were working for medicine. These women put themselves in danger to not be sick. They were killing themselves to live.

			Many villains had brought them to this place. Childhood trauma. Prescription-­happy doctors. Dealers. Pimps. But the common denominator was men. Men. Men. The women were abused and taken advantage of. Their dreams stomped on so many times they shrunk smaller and smaller and smaller, until eventually, they just dreamed about their next fix.

			And then there was the final villain. The final boss at the end of the game. The only reason we could get anyone to pay attention to the opioid epidemic. And to be honest, the only reason why I was paying as much attention—­the killer who took their lives.

			That was my first thought. My second thought? How the hell am I going to find the man or men who did this?

			I rushed into my apartment in Toluca Lake and bolted upstairs to start work on a Facebook page. My hope was that the system I used to identify Marques Gaines’s attacker, which helped solve nine other murders, might be able to aid in the investigation of who killed Danielle and Lindsey.

			Marques Gaines was attacked on a Chicago sidewalk by a man whose crushing blow knocked him unconscious and into the crosswalk. The attacker then threatened the bystanders who gathered around the fallen Marques. The crowd dispersed, and a minute later, a taxicab rolled over his body, killing him. Using social media, I was able to identify Marques’s assailant. I tracked his movements, gathered evidence and photos from the man’s Facebook profile, sent what I had to the police, and begged them for help. After six months of pleading, the assailant was brought to justice.

			For that case I had video of the perpetrator. For all my successful cases since, I had some type of video or photo of the perpetrator. But for Danielle and Lindsey, I had only photos of the victims and the locations of where their bodies had been found. No video of an attack on a street. Not even a sketch of a person of interest.

			Danielle and Lindsey were not even reported missing. No posters were printed or Facebook pages set up. So there was no searching for video from the night they disappeared, to possibly spot them getting into a car. Hell, even if they had known to search for the women, South Columbus is not exactly filled with a multitude of businesses that employ security cameras.

			So I focused on the locations. Locations were all I really had. Target the people who lived in the area, hope they would share the post, and maybe—­maybe—­it would get in front of someone who might have heard whisperings of a crime around the block or up the street. I named the page “South Columbus/Fairfield County Murderer of Young Women.”

			The first photo I used was one of three I had of Danielle. It was a mirror selfie, black and white. Danielle was torqued sideways, with her phone in the foreground, held tightly by ring-­covered fingers. She was wearing a tank top and jeans. Her eyes were looking in the mirror, and her non-­phone hand was raised to her mouth, index finger covering her lips in a “shhh” motion.

			Next to her photo, I posted a screenshot of the Google Street View of the road where she was found. And then for the last photo, I screenshot the bird’s-­eye view of the map, pinpointing the same location from above.

			The text read:

			Do you live in Fairfield County? This girl, Danielle Greene, was found dead along Allen Rd., less than a mile north of hwy 33, last fall. She was most probably picked up in South Columbus. Look at these images. Do you know anyone who would have disposed of Danielle’s body here? Do you know anyone who was partying with a girl with pink shorts and things got out of hand? Two little girls lost their mom, a dad lost his daughter, and they need answers. Please, Please message any information. And Please share.

			I targeted a fifteen-­mile radius across the crime scene and boosted the post with a budget for $500. For this amount of money, Facebook told me it would serve the post about the murders to the twenty thousand people who were within the radius of the crime. Even if I had twenty thousand friends in the area following my Facebook page, I wouldn’t hit that many people. But give Facebook money, and they will find them.

			As I waited and hoped for the tips to come in, I scanned my notes of my interview with Scott Greene, Danielle’s father.

			When you begin an interview with the parent of a murdered child, you tend to start at the beginning. What kind of girl was Danielle when she was little?

			“Feisty,” Scott answered. “She was born on the Fourth of July, and she was definitely a firecracker. If you made her mad, you definitely knew it. She was something else. She was also a good kid. She was helpful and loving.”

			As a little girl, Danielle dreamed of becoming a veterinarian. She brought stray animals home. When the family participated in a blanket drive for the houseless, Danielle became very involved.

			“She had a heart of gold. She didn’t want to see anybody hurting. She was an amazing person. Uhm. She just made some wrong choices,” Scott told me.

			Those choices started around when Danielle was sixteen. She started smoking weed and moved on to pills. When the pills dried up, she switched to heroin.

			In 2011, Scott was thumbing through the pages of Busted magazine, a national publication that searched through counties that made the mug shots of all their arrestees public, then printed their pictures along with the crime they were arrested for and the date. Scott perused the photos of men arrested for possession of a controlled substance and women arrested for driving under the influence.

			Then he saw his daughter staring back at him. Under her picture: “Danielle Green [sic], Solicitation.”

			“It broke my heart,” Scott said. “I went and found her and talked to her and found out what was going on.”

			Danielle told her father that she could take care of herself. “She was always telling me she’s okay. Those were her favorite words to me. ‘I’m okay. I’m a big girl.’ I tried to get her to stop, but it was a lost cause.”

			She had a few boyfriends. One was about a decade older. Scott liked him. He had a good job. Scott thought he would be a good influence on her. Instead, Danielle’s addiction was passed on to him. He ended up hooked on drugs, at one point getting his car repossessed after all his money started going toward their addiction.

			Scott tried to keep up with Danielle, but she moved around a lot. Her cell phone number changed every month, the result of buying burner phones. She made the occasional post on Facebook, but if Scott wanted to see her, he had to drive to South Columbus and search for her on Parsons. He had to drive up and down the street alongside the men who were looking for a date, scanning each woman, hoping to see his daughter.

			It was on Parsons that he last saw Danielle. “I yelled at her and she turned around and we met up. But she was in a hurry to get somewhere and didn’t really talk. We were so close when she was younger. She was daddy’s little girl, man. You know. And to see her go from that to this. It’s like a nightmare. I live it every day. I can’t wake up from it.”

			In my notes, I saw there was a pause. This was when Scott started sobbing.

			“Sorry,” he said. “I miss her, you know. She was my baby.”

			The nightmare came to a crescendo in the fall of 2016. Scott received a phone call from his ex-­wife. She was crying. She wouldn’t tell him what was wrong. She couldn’t. He called his son, Jonithen, who told him the sheriffs were trying to get a hold of him.

			In Fairfield County, the sheriff’s office put out an “all call.” That meant every available detective needed to respond to the scene. About a half dozen showed up the day farmers found bones in a creek.

			The detectives quickly determined that the remains that the two farmers had discovered in a small creek 250 feet from the roadway were indeed human.

			When Scott talked to the detectives, he asked what happened. They said it was unclear. With her body being 85 percent skeletonized, there was not much for them to go on.

			“I can’t picture her laying there like that,” Scott said to me when we first met. “I can’t help but think what her last moments were like. Did she suffer? Did she plead for her life? Did she go peacefully? They ruled out a drug overdose.”

			Danielle had overdosed before. When Scott’s ex called him crying but wouldn’t say why, he had hoped it was to say his daughter was in the hospital recovering from another overdose. But as his ex kept crying and refused to tell him why, his thoughts veered to her having died from an overdose. But murdered? And dumped in a field, miles away from home?

			But Scott is also a realist. He understands the pull of the opioid. “I think that if I could have gone back in time and told her, ‘Hey, this is going to happen to you,’ I don’t think she would have changed anything other than what happened that day,” he said. She wouldn’t have stopped working the streets. She wouldn’t have stopped getting into cars. She wouldn’t have stopped because of the pills. “She would have just kept going.

			“I feel in my heart that [Danielle’s and Lindsey’s murders] are tied together. They were friends. They lived together. Same lifestyle. And they both end up dead, found a month apart in fields far away from home. Places they had no businesses being in. What’s going on here? Is there a serial killer out there that’s picking up prostitutes?”

			Being that this was the second body to turn up in Fairfield County in a month, the detectives reached out to Columbus police for leads.

			Fairfield County is a world of difference from South Columbus. The bodies were found amidst the county’s bucolic fields and rolling hills. Murders like these—­as opposed to fairly cut-­and-­dry domestic entanglements—­are few and far between in rural America. Addiction festers there, too, but it is hidden in the farmhouses as opposed to out on display on the streets.

			When I was there filming the Crime Watch Daily episode, the Fairfield County detectives were eager to talk. I drove up through the countryside to Lancaster, Ohio, and pulled into the parking lot of the Fairfield County Sheriff’s Office brand-­new brick headquarters at the end of the town’s quaint little main street, Lincoln Avenue. I was met by a plainclothes detective.

			“Sorry about the smell,” he said as he greeted me in the lobby. “We had a big bust last night.”

			He was referring to the pungent marijuana odor battling it out with an air freshener.

			He led me into their offices and introduced me to Chief Deputy Jared Collins, an unassuming midwestern man wearing a plain suit and red-­and-­silver-­checkered tie. After the crew arranged the lighting and cameras for the Crime Watch Daily aesthetic, he walked me into the particulars of each crime—­or at least what he was willing to tell me.

			When they received the call that Danielle’s body had been found within a month and a few miles of finding Lindsey’s body, Collins told me that “generally I couldn’t consider that as being odd.”

			This answer surprised me. “Is southeast Ohio so messed up that it’s not odd to have two women found in a field?” I asked.

			“I wouldn’t say that,” he countered. “I would say [that because of] our proximity to Columbus, there are bodies dumped in this county.”

			Fairfield County: where Columbus dumps its ODs and murder victims.

			“Once we established that both of our victims were from the same area, then of course we started developing that link that seemed to only get stronger,” Collins said.

			Collins would not tell me how much they worked with Columbus law enforcement. But as you keep reading, you will learn it was not enough.

			In Columbus, Danielle had been a veteran of the Parsons area, Lindsey a relative newcomer.

			Lindsey’s mother, Sharon, described Lindsey in a text to me as “Shy, loving, very pretty Z   liked hanging out with her friends, loved sweets . . . her and [her sister] Jenny would get into it over clothes, actually fight.” As a child, Lindsey wanted to be a nurse.

			She gave birth to her daughter, Adrianna, in August 2008. The relationship with the father floundered. It was around 2010 when she started working at that McDonald’s and became involved with that manager who liked to take oxycodone.

			“Back in 2010 you didn’t hear how bad they were,” her mother said. “I wonder if she knew how addictive they were, if she would have even tried them.”

			But Lindsey did try them. And she told her sister, Jenny, about the experience. She told Jenny everything. And Jenny told their mom.

			“Jenny told me he was getting Lindsey into pills. When I confronted Lindsey, she admitted [her boyfriend] did them but said he doesn’t do it much with her—­yeah, right, huh,” Sharon told me.

			When the McDonald’s manager broke up with her, Lindsey then moved in with another man in 2014. They had a baby named Alana.

			It was in 2014 that her father died and left what her brother, Stacy, described as “a bunch of money.”

			“She really didn’t have that many friends,” Stacy said. “And when she got all that money, everybody wanted to be her friend.”

			Lindsey and Alana’s father lived together two years, “until he realized she was now an addict,” said Sharon. “So, she went to the streets instead of getting help.”

			Stacy saw her on the streets. “She tried to deny it, but I knew what she was doing,” he told me. “You could just tell by the way she was hanging out and loitering on the streets. The way she was walking.”

			Stacy asked her to come home. Lindsey didn’t want to.

			She started bringing the kids over to her mother’s and then would be gone for a few days at a time. At first her mother could only guess what she was doing. Eventually Lindsey admitted she was doing sex work and said that was how she’d get quick money. “I told her, ‘One day you won’t get out of the car you get into,’ ” said Sharon. “She laughed it off.”

			Sharon then swiftly recapped Lindsey’s final spiral to me. Eviction. Kids taken away. Struggle and sadness till her very last day.

			On the day Lindsey went missing, Jenny, who by then was also addicted, had taken their mother’s car and driven to South Columbus to pick up Lindsey. Stacy went looking for her. He found the car—­Jenny wasn’t inside, but Lindsey was in the passenger seat.

			“I said, ‘You don’t need to be out here. Just come home.’ But she wanted to wait on Jenny, ’cause she was out trying to get drugs or something. She just didn’t want to come. And that’s my biggest regret, because that was the night. That was the night she was killed.” Stacy started to cry when he said those last words. “She was a good girl. She was. But she was only in it for a short while. She didn’t even have a chance.”

			That night, Jenny left Lindsey in South Columbus. She was the last of the family to see her.

			At 11:00 a.m. on a Friday morning, a detective knocked on the door of the Maccabee home. Jenny answered. They asked if Lindsey Maccabee lived there.

			“Jenny knew right then, she knew why they were here,” said Sharon. “Jenny started screaming, ‘Mom!’ Then screaming, ‘What’s happened’ to her sister . . . When I got there, they came in, then told me they had found her body in a field in Fairfield County.”

			As with Danielle’s case, every detective on duty arrived at the freshly cut cornfield by the railroad tracks. Whether it was a homicide wasn’t a question. Stab wounds, blunt-­force trauma. Not twenty-­four hours old. Even though the body had no clothes, within twelve hours they identified it as Lindsey’s.

			Chief Deputy Collins wouldn’t divulge the extent of the wounds. But Lindsey’s mom didn’t hold back.

			“When I saw her at the funeral, I pulled down the neck on the turtleneck [the funeral home] requested she wear. I knew her throat had been cut, and then I pulled up her sleeves and could see her defensive wounds. I broke!”

			Collins would not deny that the crimes very well might have been connected. “It just wasn’t within miles of each other. Both bodies were within proximity to County Road 17, which is Pleasant Valley Road. It runs essentially halfway across the county . . . Given the preponderance of everything we collected, all the interviews that we’ve done . . . it just leads a sensible person to believe these crimes are related.”

			He told me they checked “thousands of hours of video” from different camera sources in the South Columbus area. (I drove around South Columbus and didn’t see a whole lot of cameras.) He said they met with Columbus PD, Vice, Narcotics, Gang. “We gradually, over several months, were able to work through our entire list of persons of interest.”

			And that seemed like that.

			I also ran Facebook-­boosted posts targeting people in South Columbus, with more pics of Danielle. The first photo was a black-­and-­white selfie of Danielle in front of her closet. Her hair was pulled back, and she was wearing thick black eyeliner. The second photo was in color. She was wearing a pink hoodie and a red Ohio State ball cap, worn backward over her long dirty-­blond hair. She was looking down at her phone, a cigarette butt in her hand as it cradled the device.

			South Columbus: Do you know anyone who hung around with Danielle Greene? Her body was found on Allen Rd. in Fairfield County. We are looking for anyone who might remember her or anyone who might know someone who would dump a body in this area. Please please message any info. And please share.

			Scott heard on the street about that dealer and/or pimp named Whiteboy. People had told him that Whiteboy had been responsible for at least Danielle’s demise. But Whiteboy, who was in fact black, was in the wind, hadn’t been seen in months.

			The detectives wanted to talk with him, they told me, but they didn’t even know his real name. Scott directed me to a source, who gave me Whiteboy’s cell number. I told the cops, and they said they knew the number as well, but told me it was a dead end.

			I didn’t want to interfere in the investigation at this point. It was still somewhat fresh. I had to let the police do their thing, and the last thing I wanted to do was spook a suspect into running. But I Googled the number and found an advertisement for an escort on backpage.com under the subcategory “Columbus massage.” “Soft sensual mutual touch outcall available,” read the headline. The photos showed a girl posing with a bra on, looking over her shoulder, and another of her from behind, bent over on all fours, her crimson panty–­clad behind high in the air. “New girl ready to have a relaxing time call me or text me.” And right there was the phone number—­Whiteboy’s supposed phone number. “Outcall available any time to please you im ready and waiting for your call sweetie . . . Location: Columbus, Everywhere.”

			I looked down further at the search results for the number and found another website, called Scarlett My Book. Same phone number, only this was a different girl. This woman was posing in four photographs in a shower, her hands covering her naked breasts. She didn’t look a day older than nineteen, and her eyes looked like they were halfway down the road to that lifeless gaze seen by the tenth mug shot.

			Most importantly, this second ad was fresh—­only three weeks old. If this woman was using his number as her contact to set up dates with clients, it was more than likely that he would show up to the date. This was the way to get to Whiteboy.

			I quickly called one of the detectives, and he thanked me for the information. I asked him if we could coordinate, if they could set up a date with the woman and see if he showed up in a car outside—­which is how many pimps operate.

			“No,” he said.

			“Why not?” I asked. “Haven’t you been looking to speak with him for months?”

			“We are just not going about our investigation that way.”

			I was deflated. This was the first solid lead on this guy in months, and the police refused to act. They also said he was working out of their jurisdiction—­in South Columbus versus in Fairfield County. But a traveling businessman staying in a motel on the county border with a $100 bill in his hand would take care of that.

			They still refused.

			You go through five investigations with no leads. You find a good one, and you can’t act. I was not going to impede the investigation by setting up a date myself, as much as I would have liked to. But goddamn it was frustrating. I had other tips. Danielle and Lindsey were seen with the same guy, a guy who drove a van with a red stripe down the side. All seemed to go unheeded.

			Scott had attempted to do his own investigation but ran into dead end after dead end.

			So did Lindsey’s sister, Jenny. Jenny cried every day after Lindsey died.

			“Lindsey was a part of me,” Jenny told her mother. And she felt guilty because she was the last one to see her alive—­when she dropped Lindsey off on Parsons that night.

			“She was blaming herself because she didn’t talk her out of it or go with her,” her mother, Sharon, said. “She kept crying, asking God, ‘Why!?’ ”

			Jenny and Lindsey were inseparable. So close in age, they were like twins.

			Jenny was pregnant at seventeen, in 2003. She had a baby she named Benny. His father died in a car wreck five years later. Jenny then began seeing another man, named Jay, and was pregnant again. Seven months into the pregnancy, he left to get back with his ex. “That crushed Jenny,” said her mother.

			Jenny obtained a new focus after Lindsey’s death. She and her brother, Stacy, drove all over South Columbus, asking passersby questions: “Did you know Lindsey?” “Have you seen anything?” “Have you heard anything?”

			They heard stories about a white van roaming around. That an ex-­girlfriend of Lindsey’s threatened to kill her for sleeping with her boyfriend. That drug dealers thought she stole from them.

			At one point, someone showed Jenny an alley they said Lindsey was attacked in. “Hair and blood were found there by some kids playing,” said Stacy. “Jenny said she thought it was consistent with Lindsey’s area and timeline.”

			Jenny, living at the time with her mother and grandmother, kept all the clues she was uncovering in a notebook.

			At 6:00 a.m. one day, six months after Lindsey’s body was found, Jenny walked into her grandmother’s bedroom and left her a coffee. An hour later, her mother emerged from her bedroom and walked into the kitchen. There she found Jenny slumped over against the cabinets. At first, she thought she had passed out and tried to help her up. But it was no use. “She was already getting stiff and fell over on the floor in same position as she was . . . I knew right then my girl was gone.”

			She woke up Stacy, who was spending the night at the house. He administered CPR until the paramedics arrived. But Jenny’s heart had stopped beating.

			The family scanned Jenny’s cell phone. She had called someone at 4:00 a.m., and a text said she would meet her dealer at an ATM on Harrisburg Pike. The family later surmised that when Jenny entered her grandmother’s room to drop off the coffee, she was returning her grandmother’s stolen ATM card, which she must have swiped the night before. At the ATM, Jenny took out $60, bought the heroin, came back, gave her grandmother the coffee, and shot up in the kitchen.

			The police told her family that fentanyl was the cause of death. The syringe found in the kitchen was mostly full.

			Within six months, Sharon Maccabee lost both her daughters.

			The notebook with the clues Jenny gathered hasn’t been found.

			The Crime Watch Daily story on Danielle and Lindsey ran on October 17, 2017. It was supposed to be a two-­parter, but producers cut it down to one. The two women got seven minutes and seven seconds.

			“Two young women, savagely murdered and dumped,” boomed Chris Hansen’s voice over quick cuts of Danielle’s and Lindsey’s photos, hazy re-­creation shots and B-­roll of a forest. I also had graphics mock up a map of all the missing and murdered women in central and southern Ohio.

			I hoped the Crime Watch Daily video might shake something loose. I ran another Facebook ad with the video of the segment embedded.

			People of Fairfield County—­Please watch and share. And if you have any information (Creepy neighbor? Something just not right?) please message.

			I got nothing. No actionable tips. Just a few people saying they lived in the area and would keep their eyes peeled. It felt like in Karate Kid 2, when Daniel LaRusso is losing the fight and then he goes into the Crane pose—­the move he won with in the first movie. He lifts up on one leg, both arms stretched out over his head, ready to deliver the winning kick—­and he is thwarted. After seventeen years of trying to solve murders, I had used Facebook and it worked. But for this case, I needed to try something new.

			I tried to keep in touch with CeeCee. We had friended each other on Facebook. After the story aired, I asked her if she could go into more detail about the man who had raped her in the alley. She hadn’t wanted to do it over text and asked to video chat. We made numerous plans to chat. She never showed.

			I couldn’t shake the fear that I would be back in South Columbus in a few months to tell her story.

			“Yeah. But I’m a drug addict.”

			I tried to blitz more ads over Facebook and Instagram on Thanksgiving. I asked the public that when they were at Thanksgiving dinner to look at their cousins. Look at their uncles. Bring up the cases of Danielle and Lindsey as they were passing the mashed potatoes.

			“Have you heard any rumors?”

			“Who do you think might have done this?”

			If everyone in Fairfield County asked those questions over the holidays, we could get somewhere. This is how murders are solved. Before the interstates, small towns solved murders because people talked to each other. And when they heard things, they talked to the police. It was not considered snitching. It was considered the right thing to do. Or rather, just what you did. It was the way it was. We have moved so far away from that mindset. That is one of the reasons why the homicide clearance rates in 1960 were 90 percent, and in 2017, they were 58 percent.

			The story was now lost to the news cycle. But I wasn’t going to give up.

			It is hard to get people to care about two heroin-­addicted sex workers.

			But a serial killer? Ears prick up.

			As I said in the prologue, the last national focus on a potential active serial killer in America was in Chillicothe in 2015.

			As Crime Watch Daily did with Danielle and Lindsey, the media presented the women as little girls who had dreams that were somehow derailed when they became adults. That approach isn’t necessarily bad, especially if your goal is to get attention on a large platform. You have to make sure to leave enough time to present the facts of the case, which then take you down the road from the little girl who wanted to be a veterinarian to the doorstep of a hopeless flophouse.

			Authorities could not find a killer for the women of Chillicothe. They surmised that most of the women overdosed and their bodies were dumped in rural areas by their drug-­taking counterparts. A crime for sure, but not a murder.

			Partially in response to the story, to save lives, and to eliminate useless murder investigations of drug overdoses, Ohio lawmakers passed a Good Samaritan Law in May 2016. Anyone who called 911 to report a friend overdosing on drugs would be immune from criminal prosecution.

			“We’re trying to make it easier for somebody to save somebody else’s life,” Ohio representative Robert Sprague told reporters. “It’s recognized that they [addicts] have value. They can get help and they can be put through treatment.”

			Five months after the state passed the law, that school bus full of kids slowing down to cross the train tracks on Lake Road in Fairfield County saw Lindsey’s naked body.

			How could I get someone to care about Lindsey and Danielle?

			Or to keep searching for Jayme Bowen, the missing girl?

			What else was there? How many other women was this happening to in Ohio?

			I began to dig. Googling, hunting for anything I could find about any missing women or bodies of women found south of Columbus between 2014 and 2017.

			I started with the women of Chillicothe:

			Charlotte Trego, twenty-­seven. Last seen May 3, 2014, in Chillicothe, Ohio, after being kicked out of the house she shared with a roommate. Her mother reported her missing two weeks later.

			Wanda Lemons, thirty-­seven. Last seen November 4, 2014, in Chillicothe, Ohio.

			Shasta Himelrick, twenty. Last seen on December 26, 2014. Body found January 2, 2015, in the Scioto River near Higby Road, Chillicothe, Ohio.

			I kept going.

			Tameka Lynch, thirty. Last seen in Chillicothe on May 16, 2014. Body found May 24, 2014, in Paint Creek, west of Bainbridge, Ohio, twenty miles from Chillicothe.

			Tiffany Sayre, twenty-­six. Reported missing on May 11, 2015. Body found on June 20 in a creek bed along Cave Road, west of Bainbridge, Ohio, in Highland County.

			I moved west toward Middletown, Ohio, ninety minutes west of Columbus.

			Michelle Burgan, forty-­seven. Last seen May 16, 2017, in Middletown, Ohio, at a place called the Hope House.

			Lindsay Bogan, thirty. Her naked body found July 2016 by a farmer in his field on Keister Road in Madison Township, Ohio. Her boyfriend had reported her missing on September 13, 2015, saying he saw her a day earlier on Central Avenue at Baltimore Street in Middletown, getting into a silver Dodge Durango. Middletown police lieutenant Jim Cunningham told the Journal-­News, “We believe she was killed in the basement of 1504 Woodlawn Avenue and was later taken to Madison Twp.” Lindsay was also a mother. There were still no arrests.

			Brandy English, forty-­one. Last seen May 11, 2016, in Middletown, Ohio. English had told many people that she was working with the police in their search for answers in the Lindsay Bogan investigation. She had children wondering where their mother went.

			Amber Flack, thirty. Last seen September 1, 2016, in Middletown, Ohio.

			Melinda Miller, forty-­seven. Last seen February 19, 2017, in Middletown, Ohio. People believed Linda knew English and Flack, as all three worked Manchester and Central Avenues in Middletown.

			These were five possible victims in Middletown, Ohio, with their lives all intertwined. Just like Lindsey, Danielle, and Jayme Bowen in Columbus.

			“Yeah. But I’m a drug addict.”

			Add in who we started with: Lindsey Maccabee, thirty. Body found October 6, 2016, in a cornfield off Lake Road near Pleasantville. Danielle Greene, twenty-­five. Body found November 5, 2016, near a creek behind a soybean field off Allen Road in Violet Township. Jayme Bowen, twenty-­two. Last seen April 10, 2014, in the area of Parsons and Stewart Avenues in South Columbus.

			What the hell was going on here? Why wasn’t this a bigger story?

			“Yeah. But I’m a drug addict.”

			It was conceivable to think that a killer could travel to all three locations with ease. Joel Rifkin would drive to New York City from his home on Long Island, pick up a woman, drive her back to the Island, and kill her. He worked at night, but with the bridges, tunnels, tolls, and traffic, that could have been an hour trip. Someone living in the middle of Columbus, Middletown, or Chillicothe would easily be able to visit each hunting ground on a ninety-­minute trip. The detectives in Fairfield County told me they had been working with a task force in Chillicothe but had not inquired about Middletown.

			Fairfield County had told me that they had passed on information to the Columbus Police Department, but they hadn’t heard any new information in months.

			Fourteen missing or murdered women in a 120-mile area. And no task force. No headlines. No communication.

			“Yeah. But I’m a drug addict.”

			I had read about what is known as homicide clusters—­identifying similar victims murdered by similar means in a certain radius. The media had talked of a prolific cluster in Chicago. But nothing about Columbus or central or southern Ohio.

			I feared I was missing more bodies. And after a trip to Washington DC—­to the man who was attempting to compile every homicide in America into one database—­I would discover my fears would be realized.

		

	


		
			Chapter 2

			Serial Killer Clusters and the Moneyball of Murder

			I’m riding in an Uber with bad shocks down a road from Old Town in Alexandria into the country. I arrived the night before, living 8:00 p.m. in an 11:00 p.m. land. I walked down King Street, peeking into every bar, seeking some semblance of humanity. A half-­mile stroll found them all barren—­until I arrived at Murphy’s, an Irish pub complete with brass fixtures, uncomfortable-­looking barstools, a not-­so-­roaring fireplace, but, most importantly, people. I walked to the end of the bar, took a seat, eyed the beers on tap. I had yet to make my selection when I saw all the police department patches on the wall. I realized where I was.

			This was the bar I found the last time I was in Alexandria, when I was in town three years earlier to interview people at NCMEC—­the National Center for Missing & Exploited Children—­about the Allens­town 4. I had met forensic artist Joe Mullins, and he showed me the skulls of the little girls who had been found in the barrels and how he was using his computer to bring them back to life as best he could in the hopes that someone, anyone, would recognize them and give them their names.

			The next night, after I visited Bear Brook State Park, where the girls’ bodies, along with a grown woman’s, who was determined to be the mother of two of the girls, were found, I learned that my friend Michelle McNamara had died. She was in the middle of writing a book about her quest to find the Golden State Killer. Seeing a friend die without getting to the answer to her obsession affected me in a way I could never have imagined. Would I have come up with the idea of using social media to find killers if that didn’t happen? I felt like a different person, but I still gravitated to the same bar, even though I wasn’t looking for it. The bar covered in police department badges.

			My eye was drawn to my hometown gold lion of Nassau County PD, then the covered bridge of Foster, Rhode Island, PD, the winged HP of the Philadelphia Highway Patrol. The river and skyline of Cincinnati PD. The brutalist concrete headquarters of the Boston PD.

			There must have been thousands of them on the walls, on the mirror behind the bar, along the ceiling beams, along the bar. All with different designs and colors and patterns. Their shapes similar but everything else clashing.

			A musician set up behind me, and halfway through my second beer, he started playing “The Wreck of the Edmund Fitzgerald” on an acoustic guitar. I had to get the hell out of there. Besides, I had to prep for my meeting the next day with Thomas Hargrove, whose work was being called the “Moneyball of Murder.”

			Tom was a newspaper guy for thirty-­seven years. He worked for two decades at a news bureau based in DC. And in 2010, the wire service ran a story called “Murder Mysteries.” He analyzed the clearance rates of each major community in America. He reviewed the FBI’s Supplementary Homicide Reports, which show the demographics of murder victims, their age, race, sex, the method of killing, the circumstances of the murder, and age, race, and sex of the offender if the killer was caught. All of it.

			Tom pored over the reports, and within a minute he had an idea: Could a computer be taught to detect serial murder?

			His house is out in rural Virginia, a modest postwar suburban home on a tree-­lined street. He greets me with a weary smile. White hair, white beard, oval glasses—­a genial-­looking elder statesman who lives and breathes murder statistics. We walk into his living room, filled with maritime objects, leftovers from a beach house he sold a while back. The family dog follows us as we take a seat on the couch in front of the fireplace. Tom pulls out his laptop and places it on the coffee table in front of us, but doesn’t open it right away.

			“We founded the Murder Accountability Project because we recognized how few resources homicide detectives have. There is no master list of murder in the United States. That makes us unique among Western industrialized democracies. Nobody can produce a list of murder victims for whom the murder remains unsolved. You can do that in Canada, you can do that in the United Kingdom, you can do that in Germany, you cannot do that in the United States,” he tells me.

			The Murder Accountability Project (MAP) is meant to act as a surrogate—­collect data from FBI reports and local law enforcement agencies and place the data into an open-­sourced database that can be parsed out and pulled based on what someone is searching for.

			Cops use it. Amateur sleuths use it.

			“We’re trying to create a master list that detectives and the general public can use to track unsolved murders and, in many cases, to test theories about unsolved murders, especially looking for offenders that may have committed more than one offense,” he says.

			That last statement is why people have taken notice of Tom and MAP—­“offenders that may have committed more than one offense.” Otherwise known as serial offenders. Serial killers.

			Here is how it works.

			MAP uses the Uniform Crime Report, which was created by Congress in 1930, as the bedrock. This is the job the feds are supposed to be doing. Local law enforcement agencies send their data to the FBI. But the data entry is voluntary. Ninety percent of the data is provided by the Criminal Justice Information Services division of the FBI, based in West Virginia.

			Tom and his team then try to fill in the gaps in the data. There are states—­such as Florida and Alabama—­that don’t send all their numbers into the report. Tom negotiates with them separately and has them send what numbers they can.

			And the data that comes in is messy and incomplete. In fact, Tom learned that the federal government itself—­the FBI, the military police, etc.—­none of them were reporting their data to the Uniform Crime Report. Literally, the crimes being committed under federal jurisdiction were not being included in the federal database. Tom is in the middle of a court battle to force them to include those numbers. The case is pending.

			So, the data is there, piecemeal. But it’s the best thing we have. Each entry contains the name of the law enforcement agency, the circumstance (such as motor vehicle theft, domestic dispute, brawl due to influence of alcohol), the weapon used (such as firearm, personal weapons, beating, etc.), the county the murder occurred in, the source for the information, the year of the murder, and the age, sex, and race of the victim. The one thing that’s not included: the name of the victim. If you find a particular murder you are investigating, you have no street-­level details about the victim. You need to go searching for that crime through police reports or Google to try to match up the circumstances of the murder—­location and date being your best bet to narrow it down—­with the name of the victim as it was reported in the news.

			Twenty minutes from where we are sitting lies FBI headquarters, the most powerful law enforcement and detective agency the world has ever seen, churning away on cases. Nine minutes away sits the immense computing power of the Pentagon. And yet the only database that chronicles every murder in America is being run on a laptop by an unassuming former journalist, out of a house in the country outside of DC.

			Tom has been banging the drum about the importance of the work for years. The database isn’t just about solving older crimes. It’s not just about justice. It’s about bringing down the murder rate. If you identify where murder clusters are taking place, and if you solve more unsolved murders, your murder rate goes down. Doesn’t that make sense?

			“If a city allows its homicide clearance rate to drop,” Tom tells me, “in other words they’re allowing a large number of killers to walk the street, then generally the homicide occurrence rate, the rate at which people are being murdered, remains high. In fact, if there are changes in those things, usually one will affect the other. When there are a lot of murders going unsolved and [they are] increasingly likely to go unsolved, then the murder rate usually rises. Conversely, when there are an increasing number of murders, police get overwhelmed and so detectives have a harder time solving a larger caseload. These are interrelated lines of causality.”

			There absolutely is a very strong correlation. The more a city allows its homicides to go unsolved, the more likely that city is to have a significant homicide occurrence rate.

			Where are we seeing this? On the negative side—­cities that are not solving their murders—­we see skyrocketing murder rates. Baltimore, Chicago, New Orleans, St. Louis. In fact, in St. Louis right now, Tom tells me the lifetime odds of being a murder victim are 1 in 25. In Chicago, they’re currently about 1 in 61. “These would be wonderful odds if you were playing the Powerball; these are awful odds if you want to stay alive.”

			On the inverse, one needs to examine New York and Los Angeles. New York cleared 87 percent of their murders in 2018. Incredible—­remember, the national clearance rate is 58 percent.

			“They are having so few murders that they’re giddy,” Tom says, leaning forward on the couch and becoming more animated. “New York is a city of more than eight million people and they have less than three hundred homicides a year. For a major city, that is unheard of.”

			Los Angeles is clearing 76 percent of their murders. And the murder rate has dropped.

			“We have this as a mantra, and it could not be more true—­solving murders saves lives. We go around the country telling politicians that simple truth. That if you allow murders to go unsolved, you’re essentially expecting your citizenry to be increasingly murdered.”

			“What about Ohio?” I asked. “What’s their clearance rate?”

			“Go to Murderdata.org,” Tom says. He says this a lot when I ask questions. And I understand why. He jumped through so many hoops to get this information. And it’s sitting right there for me to look at.

			I click on the tab titled “Clearance Rate,” and under “State” I choose Ohio and pick “All” for both county and agency. From 1965 to 2018, the clearance rate was 67.19 percent. Looks pretty good. Then I adjust the years, only searching the last ten, from 2008 to 2018. The clearance rate staring back at me: 46.18 percent.

			Tom leans over my shoulder. “In other words, in Ohio the average murder goes unsolved. I can assure you it’s much worse in some cities.”

			Clearly, there is a problem in Ohio with solving murders.

			But how many of these murders are related?

			For that, we look to the data. And this is the sizzle of MAP.

			Clusters.

			Back in the day, Tom worked in Birmingham, Alabama, next door to Atlanta during the period of the Atlanta child murders in 1979 through 1981.

			The Atlanta Police Department would not admit they had a serial killer on their hands—­a killer targeting children, particularly young Black males.

			It was then that Tom first heard criminologists speak of the problem of linkage blindness.

			Linkage blindness happens a lot. Seventeen thousand different law enforcement agencies feed into the ailment. Killers don’t pay attention to city and county lines. Police do. So, two women killed by the same man often will get two different detectives, from two different agencies, working the case—­or if it’s the same city, it will be two different detectives. “If there are commonalities to the murders, usually those commonalities are not recognized unless those two detectives happen to have a conversation over the water cooler,” Tom says. If those two murders occurred in different jurisdictions, then that conversation never, ever happens. Like those police patches on the wall of the bar—­all have the same purpose, but they are a messy, incongruous jumble when put together. That’s America’s justice system.

			The odds are against a series being recognized, which is why criminologists believe that most serial murders go unrecognized as being part of a series.

			A bunch of detectives wearing different uniforms might not be able to overcome that problem. But what about a computer?

			If the computer has all of the data, it can make the connections, spit out the results, and give the detectives a compass, connecting the dots for them.

			Female, Black, strangled, nude, in a shallow grave, all jewelry missing, across three states. Enter those details into a computer, search for every woman found with those attributes. Find enough, and you have a cluster.

			But Tom doesn’t stop there. He then looks at the clearance rate in that cluster.

			Now you’re on your way to a pattern.

			Often, that low clearance rate within a cluster occurs because of the presence of an active serial killer. A serial killer can definitely mess up the batting average for local police.

			“In the case of murders of women, about seventy-­eight percent of all female murders result in an arrest,” Tom says. “That’s because women tend to be killed by intimates, by boyfriends, husbands, someone in the household. Because there’s a very short suspects list, police have a very good percentage for clearing murders of women. But the algorithm searches for clusters of women killed through similar means in a similar geography that had a very low clearance rate. The algorithm has identified previously unrecognized serial killers. This is now a matter of record.”

			“Where is this happening?” I ask.

			“There currently is an investigation underway in Chicago, and boy we wish them well,” Tom says. “Fifty-­one women were murdered through strangulation or asphyxiation, their bodies deposited in empty alleyways, abandoned buildings, and trash cans. Often trash cans that have been set on fire. These are women with a similar background. They mostly have histories of prostitution or drug use and the MO is quite similar. These women’s bodies were disrespected and clearly sexual homicides. The motive was sexual.”

			“Jesus,” I say. “Fifty-­one?”

			“Yes,” Tom says. “All of that screams serial killer, and Chicago detectives agree. One detective told me any reasonable person would conclude that this is a series or probably more than one. We agree with that. We think there are probably two or three serial killers involved in this cluster of fifty-­one unsolved murders.”

			Fifty-­one. And no one had any idea. Each victim was given, at most, three column inches in the Chicago Tribune or Sun-­Times. And that was it. No task force. No public outcry. But Tom’s computer crunched the data and his MAP delivered the answer—­these victims had to be linked. You have a serial killer on your hands, Chicago. The computer says so.

			The algorithm is still a work in progress, Tom tells me. The next step is to identify serial killers who operate in different areas.

			“We can see that mobile serial killers—­killers who kill from city to city—­are, forgive the expression, harder to detect. They are not killing according to a pattern that a computer can easily recognize, especially with such little information. We are dealing with a minimal information problem,” he says.

			And the clusters of unsolved murders with similar demographics, circumstances, and locations are mostly female victims.

			Tom leaves the room for a few minutes. He returns with a notebook and begins to read from it: “Unsolved female murders from 1976 are 39,331.” Of those, “we now know that at least 3.7 percent of all unsolved female murders are known serial murders. That’s a surprising finding because officially, according to the FBI, serial murder accounts for less than one percent of murder. But among unsolved female murders, it’s at least 3.7 percent.”

			There is clearly at least one serial murderer operating in Chicago.

			He opens up a map of America on his computer. There are circles of various sizes covering different parts of each state. There’s a large circle over Suffolk County, New York. I know what that is. That’s LISK, the Long Island Serial Killer.

			“From 2010 to the present, the algorithm is going red alert on fifteen murders of women, only four were solved. That’s a very low clearance rate. So the algorithm is saying something may be going on there. Well, we know what’s going on. Ten of those victims were dug up on Gilgo Beach. In two separate findings of body burial sites, LISK is still an active case,” Tom says.

			There’s a large circle over St. Louis. The city is a mess. “St. Louis is as bad as murder gets in America, unfortunately. They are overwhelmed. So almost everything starts to appear serial in St. Louis, and some of these probably are, almost certainly are. But the algorithm is warning that there are seventy-­four murders of women who were killed by firearms, and only seventeen were cleared through arrest—­a clearance rate of only twenty-­three percent. So the algorithm is saying there could be something going on here. There probably is. But good heavens, given all that St. Louis is going through, they are just overwhelmed by regular killers. I’m sure there are serial killers in St. Louis, most cities have had serial killers. It’s hard to know, but right now that’s the largest suspicious cluster.”

			Tom is revved up now. He talks about the murder numbers the same way a fantasy football obsessive talks about yards-­per-­carry stats. But his voice remains steady throughout, sounding a little like a computer voice module as he spits out facts.

			There are a bunch of circles over Alabama, but Tom doesn’t necessarily believe it’s pointing to a serial killer. They have been having problems with the data from Alabama. Law enforcement refused to provide numbers. “They’ve been criticized in the press for imperfect and incomplete reporting. You have to look with some understanding of the limitations of the data. We certainly are dealing with an imperfect data set.”

			We go north to Chicago. Since 2010, for asphyxiation, there were three women, and only one of those cases was solved. So that hit the algorithm.

			“You’ve picked a time frame in which the murder noise is covering up the strangulations. If we were to go back a little more—­we believe the cluster started in 2001—it pops up just as clear as a bell,” he says.

			Tom sets the time back to 2001 and points at the screen. “Fifty-­six strangulations of women, only thirty percent cleared through arrest. Eleven asphyxiations of women, only three were cleared through arrest.” Chicago has a very low clearance rate, and has had for many years, but they are clearing most of their female murders. About 60 to 62 percent of female murders are cleared through arrest, but—­and this is important—­not murders involving strangulation or asphyxiation.

			“That’s a tell,” says Tom. “Overall in America, there is no particular deference for strangulation. Men who strangle women get caught all the time, and strangulation murders are about as likely to be cleared as any other kind of murder for women. But not in Chicago. So, what’s going on in Chicago? We are absolutely convinced, and we don’t get an argument from police, that these are probably majority serial murder.”

			Jesus. I don’t want to leave this conversation. I need to put a pin in it, though.

			“Okay,” I say. “Let’s go back to Ohio.”

			Tom zooms in on the Buckeye State.

			We start at the very top—­and see a large number of cases in Cleveland. The police have put together a small task force to review them, but they have yet to come out and declare there are serial killers working.

			We move further south.

			“You’ll see there are several suspect places. But these are small clusters.” Tom talks about the new algorithm that he’s working on. “Instead of an algorithm that arbitrarily clusters according to decisions like what periods of time you want to study, the new algorithm individually assesses each murder rather than just clustering them according to arbitrary conditions. That does a much better job. Come back again in a few months and do it again, you’ll see more.”

			Have you seen any clusters in Columbus?

			“Check murderdata.org,” he tells me.

			I walked into that.

			We enter in the time period and see no clusters. Nothing in Fairfield County. Nothing anywhere in central or southern Ohio.

			“Is there a way to see clusters between nearby cities?” I ask. “Can you search for victims with the same characteristics and circumstances across, say, Chicago, Indianapolis, Cleveland, and Columbus?”

			“Maybe. If they’re close to each other, and you set the parameters of the search to include jurisdictions in which the serial killer was active, maybe. Right now, you have the option of selecting particular counties or selecting a metropolitan area. There’s a chance that would work.”

			“Well, can we search for the two murders that started my research into this—­the two women from 2016?”

			“Check murderdata.org.”

			“Yes. I know.”

			Tom decides to do this search on his computer, and I move closer to him to get a better look at his screen. He sets the parameters—­females, murdered in Columbus and Fairfield County in 2016. He begins to talk out loud as he goes down the results. We are searching for Danielle’s murder first.

			“Let’s see,” he says as he scans down the list. “There was a Black woman who was twenty-­five, reported unsolved. There was a white woman, thirty-­five, reported unsolved. There was a thirty-­one-­year-­old.”

			He stops. “How was she killed?” he asks, referring to Danielle.

			“Unsure because she was skeletal, but dumped in a field,” I respond.

			Tom begins to pepper me with questions. “How long did it take them to know that it was a murder? It may not have been reported. What month was the body discovered?”

			“For Danielle, it was November.”

			“We sure she was not shot?”

			“Yes.”

			“We only have one November unsolved murder, and that was reported for a thirty-­five-­year-­old white woman killed by firearms.”

			“Let’s try Fairfield County. Getting rid of Columbus then,” I say.

			“Not showing any unsolved murders for that year, for female.”

			“Let’s try Lindsey,” I say. “Danielle was found in the back of the field, skeletal. Lindsey, her body was discovered by a railroad crossing. She had been killed probably the night before. Blunt-­force trauma and stabbing.”

			“Fairfield County?” Tom asks. He scans down the page. “Not reported.”

			They’re not in there. Danielle’s and Lindsey’s murders are not in MAP. They are not in the Supplementary Homicide Reports. If the computer had no idea they were murdered, it would never be able to build a pattern. According to the United States government, their murders never happened.

			“Why the hell didn’t they report them?” Tom asks out loud, knowing the answer all too well. It’s the same answer he’s heard a thousand times: the system sucks.

			“Can we try all of Ohio?” I ask.

			“Yes. We know that they’re women and what were their ages?”

			“Let’s do twenty-­five and go through to thirty-­five. And they’re white.”

			Tom enters the data, using the drop-­downs on the right side of the screen to narrow the search.

			Ohio

			2016

			Female

			Unsolved

			The list is presented to him. His eyes widen.

			“So, this is a cluster,” he says. “It should have showed up as a cluster.”

			I lean in and see the information about those murders. Remember, there are no names.

			“For 2016, there were five such unsolved murders. Ones in Middletown, Springfield, Columbus, Columbus, Columbiana County.”

			“Try clicking on Columbus,” I say.

			“Okay, this one was reported in June of 2016. She was thirty-­one, killed by a blunt object, reported in June by the Columbus Police.”

			“That’s not Lindsey or Danielle,” I say. “That’s another victim. That’s one I had not seen before.”

			We both start frantically Googling, using the key words “Columbus,” “June 2016,” “Body found,” “female,” “31,” “Blunt force.”

			Within seconds, I got a result:

			“Here,” I say. “Jessica Turner.”

			“She on your list?” Tom asks me.

			“She’s not on my list,” I reply.

			“She going on your list?”

			“Yeah. So, we’ve got Lindsey, Danielle, and now Jessica.”

			“Jessica Turner, mother of four. Body found inside an abandoned house on East Mound Street on the east side of Columbus. Cause of death: blunt-­force trauma to the head.”

			I do another search, looking for a story about an arrest.

			I find nothing. It’s still unsolved. Her killer is still out there.

			Out of the corner of my eye I watch as Tom’s dog sniffs around my messenger bag, no doubt after the half-­eaten bag of beef jerky I bought for the plane ride. Behind him the fire burns slowly. It’s one of those synthetic logs, so the crackling noise is absent. But the rest of the scene is perfect for a cold December day. And I am about to leave with the same question screaming in my head:

			What the hell was going on in Ohio?

			“We have two bodies not reported in my data, and one reported,” Tom says. “That’s infuriating.”

			“That’s within a span of four months.”

			Tom pauses. “I think you’ve got a good hunting ground.”

			A good hunting ground.

			I walk out of Tom’s house. “Go get ’em,” he tells me.

			Another victim. Jessica Turner. Killed within four months of Danielle and Lindsey. Found a handful of miles from where they were last seen. I need to learn about Jessica. And how a mother of four wound up dead in an abandoned house in Columbus.

		

	


		
			Chapter 3

			Walking Through the Columbus Cluster

			On the plane ride home from DC, I start seeking out Jessica Turner.

			The first article I find is on ABC6 News’ website. It says Jessica Turner hadn’t been heard from in over a week—­until her body was found in an abandoned house on East Mound Street in Columbus.

			The story features a picture of her and her family. Three little boys with shaved heads and big smiles. A little baby in her husband’s arms. And Jessica smiling behind them all. Cause of death was blunt-­force trauma to the head.

			There’s a link to a GoFundMe page. Long since expired, it raised $840 for her funeral expenses.

			The quotes from the family members are all too common.

			“I know she was a little lost in the past few years,” said Jessica’s sister, Stephanie Pennell, “but to have her leave this earth in that way is an awful thing.”

			Another article, this one from WBNS10 News, clarifies that her body had been found in the backyard. But that was from an earlier report. You see, when Jessica’s body was found, she wasn’t immediately identified. Reporter Laura Borchers, with fresh lipstick matching her red jacket, did a standup outside the house, a two-­story, vinyl-­sided box of beige and brown. She said she spoke to the neighbor whose dog had pulled him toward the body, where he made the discovery, the discovery of a woman so decomposed, she couldn’t be identified.

			Borchers talks about how homicide detectives will be back on the scene later in the day to “try to see if they can find any clues surrounding the home or the area that may help them discover what happened to this woman.”

			In an alternate universe, one where Columbus isn’t overcome with opioids, Jessica “Jessie” Lynn Turner is a vet tech. Her husband, Chris, is a diesel mechanic with his own shop. They live in a spacious ranch in Reynoldsburg, the Columbus suburb known as “the Birthplace of the Tomato,” where Jessie was born. It’s roomy enough for the young family of six and so close to her mom and stepdad’s place that the kids can ride their bikes there for lunch. They spend all summer at the community pool with Jessie’s mom, Belinda.

			“Go show them how you dive!” Belinda shouts. And Jessie—­a former high school swim champ with a drawerful of ribbons—­climbs the highest ladder and, legs and toes ramrod straight, pierces the surface of the water like an arrow, disappearing without a ripple.

			She reappears and powers across the pool. Belinda never tires of watching her.

			But in this universe, the one we actually all live in, nothing, it seemed, was ever perfect.

			When she was a little girl in pigtails, Jessie thought her freckles were pimples, and she’d cry and try to scrub them off.

			She was Belinda’s middle child, sandwiched between brother Jonathan and sister Stephanie, who was also her cousin. When Belinda’s sister died, Belinda and her husband, Dave, took in twenty-­month-­old Stephanie, eventually adopting her.

			Despite their six-­year age difference, the girls were close. Belinda bought them matching bathing suits—­bikinis with black-­and-­white stripes. They were wearing them in a photo taken in 1999. Jessie was fourteen but looks twelve—­skinny with no makeup, smiling broadly with her arm around eight-­year-­old Stephanie. Jessie bent at the waist, Gumby-­like, craning her neck so her head was even with her sister’s.

			A tomboy with hazel eyes and a turned-­up button nose like her mother’s, Jessie would Rollerblade everywhere when she wasn’t obsessing over every ’90s boy band there was: 98 Degrees, Backstreet Boys, ’N Sync.

			Belinda used to wear her hair long, almost down to her butt, like Jessie did, but now sports a super short, silver pixie cut. Still, you’d never mistake them for anything but mother and daughter. And they favored each other in more than looks—­they both called it like they saw it, without the sugarcoating.

			And Jessie wasn’t shy.

			“She had the mouth,” says Belinda. “She never cussed or told me to shut up, but she would just give you the one, scathing comment.”

			Dave, lean and as sinewy as an old-­school cowboy, remembers the last time he tried to put his stepdaughter over his knee—­he can’t recall how old she was or what she’d done, but he’ll never forget her fight, how she broke his grip and wriggled away: “I got a couple whacks in, but she was too strong for me, without me doin’ the man thing.” The “man thing” apparently being to really control her.

			Jessie loved school—­loved it so much Belinda had to force her to stay home when she was sick. But she struggled when it came to taking tests and studying.

			“She had a touch of, what is it?” Belinda says, searching for the word. “ADHD. She was a little slow in learning. She tried her hardest.”

			Stephanie was the brain, always bringing home A’s. As they grew older, Stephanie matured, but Jessie didn’t. Soon, it was Jessie who seemed like the younger sister, and they slowly drifted apart. No longer together. No longer even.

			They had their moments, though. Jessie taught Stephanie to drive in the Reynoldsburg church parking lot in “the big tuna boat”—­a Mercury Grand Marquis. The girls used to try to sneak it out at night, but Dave, a military man who wasn’t born yesterday, would catch them by using the penny-­on-­the-­tire trick.

			And Jessie could still best Stephanie in at least one place—­the pool. “She was the one with fifty first-­place ribbons and I was the one with the one,” says Stephanie.

			“You should have seen Jessie swim. My lord,” says Belinda. “You should have seen her dive.”

			Jessie made the high school swim team but tore her rotator cuff during the demanding practices and couldn’t compete at the elite level as her mother had hoped.

			Belinda, a lead host at Olive Garden, and Dave, a maintenance man for the neighborhood Y, never had much in the way of savings, so without an athletic scholarship, college for Jessie was pretty much out.

			Belinda wrangled her an apprenticeship with their veterinarian.

			“I think she got along with animals better than people,” says Dave.

			Once, Jessie brought home a beat-­up-­looking Saint Bernard puppy. “That’s gonna grow up to be a dinosaur!” Dave griped. “I’m not pickin’ up its shit in the backyard!” But Dinosaur Dog stayed.

			“She would have been great back in the grooming cage,” says Belinda, “the cage where they keep the animals [when their owners are on] vacations and stuff like that.”

			That’s why a job as a vet tech made so much sense.

			Jessie lasted one shift.

			“They threw her into the room where they [were euthanizing] a cat and she passed out,” remembers Belinda, her voice rising in anger. “Why’d they have to go and throw her in the deep end like that on the first day?”

			“Her first good job was at a call center for JCPenney,” says Dave, until “the boss told her, ‘You don’t speak good enough.’ ”

			Jessie was fired from other gigs, too, including the time she got the boot from Speedway for giving away free soda pop.

			She stayed the longest at Walmart but yearned to be a mom—­a more venerable occupation than a string of minimum-­wage failures. And she was good at it. At twenty she gave birth to her first son, Matthew. But she didn’t stay with his dad, her high school boyfriend Charlie, a sweet dude, her parents say, but no rocket scientist.

			“Between Jessie and Charlie, instead of being two people, it was like one and a quarter,” says Belinda.

			Lonely after her breakup with Charlie, she called Livelinks Chatline (“Real People. Real Connections. Real Fun.”).

			Stephanie teased Jessie about it. “Are you a single lady looking for a mate?” she mimicked in a high, syrupy voice. “Call this number—­you can chat for free.”

			Chris Lowe was the first guy to pick up the phone. Jessie asked him if he’d like to meet the next day. He said yes, “& ever since then we have not been apart h,” Jessie wrote in a Facebook post.

			It was Chris—­wiry and tattooed, with a sleepy smile—­who Jessie fell for, plunging hard and fast. And he was equally smitten, although not right away—­not until they were driving down south to Chillicothe to see his parents. He said something Jessie didn’t like.

			“And she turned around and busted me right in the nose,” says Chris.

			That did it.

			The babies came in quick succession: Zackary in August 2006. Justin in March 2008. In a picture she posted on Facebook in February 2012, one of those formal portraits you get at Walmart, she is a big-­box Mona Lisa. Her hair is long and straight and parted in the middle. She stares into the camera with a hint of a smile. Her face is still round and healthy, and she is surrounded by her trio of boys: Justin the toddler in a collared shirt and a little vest; Matthew and Zackary in school-­picture striped shirts. They sit on her and lean into her like she’s their rock, the center of everything.

			Before it all went to hell, says Belinda, the kids always had clean clothes and baths. “They were never slobs,” says Dave.

			Jessie’s man had skills and potential. Even Dave was impressed. “This guy can take a vacuum cleaner and a notebook and make it drive down the street. I mean, he’s a whiz-­kid mechanic,” he says.

			Despite his talents, “Chris just wouldn’t clock in,” says Dave.

			They’d get him jobs—­Dave hooked him up with an outfit making cabinets, and Belinda vouched for him at Olive Garden. He’d work for a few weeks, they say, get a paycheck, then disappear.

			But nothing Chris did could shake Jessie, even when she had to chase off other girls—­literally chase them down the street—­when they didn’t have enough sense to stay away from what was hers.

			“If she liked ya, she loved ya,” says a friend. “If she didn’t, watch out.”

			Her rules were simple—­don’t mess with the babies, and definitely don’t mess with her man.

			“Me and Chris we r so cute together lol,” Jessie wrote under a selfie. “I don’t know where I would be without him. We r a perfect match.”

			Her lone girl was born on her parents’ anniversary—­December 10, 2012. Sophia was Jessie’s “ditto,” says Dave, because mother and daughter looked so much alike.

			“My fourth and last child and God finally bless me with my little Girl h,” Jessie posted in her announcement of Sophia’s birth on Facebook. She loved that her daughter had “gorgeous” aquamarine eyes, blue as water.

			“She wanted a girl so bad,” says Belinda. One to dress up in pink frilly tutus, pierce her tiny earlobes, and brush her hair into a tight topknot like a pint-­size ballerina.

			But achieving her heart’s desire had come with a cost. Jessie endured C-­section number four to have Sophia, and the pain from that, says her mother, “really destroyed her.”

			Chris had already gone down the all-­too-­familiar path of opioid addiction—­one that started with a prescription for Percocet for a back injury and ended with a dealer on speed dial.

			Jessie joined in, popping pills at first, says her family, to deal with the pain. And then because she couldn’t stop. But Chris says she skipped pills and went straight to heroin.

			They can’t say precisely when the addiction trumped parenthood and paying rent, but Stephanie thinks it was sometime after her parents cosigned for an apartment for Jessie, Chris, and the kids across the street. When Dave was handed the eviction notice, he was stunned.

			“Next thing I know, I come from work [and] there’s are all these bags and everybody’s living in my living room,” says Dave.

			Stephanie called the house to offer moral support to her mom, and Jessie answered before nodding off in the middle of the conversation.

			“I was like, ‘Hello? Hello? Hello?’ ” Stephanie remembers. “And finally, one of the kids grabbed the phone and said, ‘Oh, Mommy’s sleeping.’ ”

			At one point, Jessie, Chris, and the four kids were living in a van. Then the van broke down and Jessie couldn’t get Justin to school. They moved into an abandoned house, taking up residence as squatters. Then, in May 2015, children’s services took the kids.

			“Broke my heart,” says Belinda. “I cried my head off—­cried, cried, cried, cried, cried, cried, cried.”

			“Honey, we can’t do nothin’,” Dave had told her.

			“My Twin,” Jessie wrote in a post on July 12, 2015. Pictured are Jessie and Sophia, a heart-­shaped pacifier in the toddler’s mouth. “She probably thinks I gave up on her and I didn’t. I’m right here. But some stupid people had to split a fucking good family up . . . But I better get them back. If I don’t I ain’t gonna sit here and live this life. I want to be a mom and spend all my money on my kids and go places.”

			On July 28, Jessie posted another picture, this one of Sophia alone, staring straight into the lens, caught in a rain of sun rays. “My baby is getting bigger I can’t wait til she is back in my arms forever. I will have all my kids back before Halloween I miss them so much. My baby is potty training already,” she wrote.

			By December of that year, Jessie had stopped writing messages to go with the pictures she posted of the kids. In the rare shot where Jessie appears with them, she appears hollowed-­out and gaunt—­so much older than thirty, with tight wrinkles around her eyes and gray at her temples. Posts throughout the spring of 2016 are similarly wordless, as though she’d stopped trying to convince anyone, including herself, that her family would ever be whole again. She knew what she had to do. But when she’d try to check into rehab, the beds were always full. At least that was what she told her family.

			But even at the height of her addiction, Jessie always found a way to get from God-­knew-­wherever she was in Columbus to Belinda and Dave’s place in Reynoldsburg for her weekly Wednesday visit with her tumble of boys and Sophia.

			When Jessie and Chris lost custody of the kids, Jessie’s old boyfriend Charlie had “stepped up,” says Dave, and Matthew, the eldest son, went to live with him. The rest of the siblings were scattered among different foster homes for a while. The kids struggled, especially Sophia.

			“Didn’t talk,” says Belinda. “Just cried.”

			That strangers had her grandbabies ate her alive. By all rights, they should have been with her. “I begged and pleaded and pleaded and begged,” Belinda says.

			Dave pushed back. “What do you wanna do this for?” he had said. “We won’t even live to see ’em graduate.”

			But Belinda wore him down. “Go ahead and start the process,” he said.

			Once Belinda and Dave had the kids, Jessie could visit without a social worker hovering nearby. But they had to abide by the rules: no overnights, even if she missed the bus. Dave was the enforcer, something he now regrets. His last exchange with her was heated. He came home from a late shift and found her sleeping on the couch. She’d missed the bus. He kicked the cushions to wake her.

			By June, they didn’t know where she was living, but every Friday, Jessie would show up at Olive Garden because that was the day Belinda was paid. It wasn’t a fortune—­she earned $10 an hour—­but it was enough to bring Jessie by. Judge Belinda if you want, and she’s sure people will, but at least she could lay eyes on her daughter, who was growing skinnier every time Belinda saw her.

			“I know, I know, I know,” she told Dave when he growled at her about it. She was “enabling” her daughter every time she pressed a few bucks into Jessie’s hand. But what if Jessie didn’t have money for food?

			But on Friday, June 17—no Jessie.

			“I called and called and called,” Belinda says. No answer. She fretted but didn’t panic. Sometimes they wouldn’t hear from her for days. The weekend came and went.

			“But when she missed her Wednesday, I knew something was wrong,” says Belinda. “She never goes without seeing her kids.”

			Wednesday, June 22, 2016, marked one week since Belinda last heard from Jessie. She asked people what to do. Report her missing? But how did she call the police when she didn’t know where to tell them to look? Jessie had no permanent address.

			The last time she’d seen her, Jessie had been at Belinda’s house to see the kids. Belinda gave Jessie $60 and hugged her tight. “I love you,” Belinda said. “You know I get paid Friday. Come on by if you need some money.”

			A big black pickup truck waited for her in the driveway, a newer-­looking one—­not raggedy—­a “classic dope boy truck,” said Stephanie, when her mother described it to her. Belinda couldn’t see who was behind the wheel because of the dark tinted windows.

			“After she got in, I couldn’t see her either,” says Belinda.

			Then came “the absence,” as Belinda calls the ten days Jessie was gone: The calls that were never answered. The texts that went unreturned.

			“I must’ve called two hundred times on her phone,” Belinda tells me. “I didn’t watch the news. I never watch the news. But I guess on the news they said we found an unidentified woman . . . this was on June twenty-­fifth.” She didn’t think it was Jessie. Couldn’t have been.

			The “ugly phone call,” says Belinda, came two days later, on June 27.

			He said his name was Detective Glenn Bray. “Can we come by in about a half an hour? We need to talk to you about your daughter Jessica Turner.”

			Belinda said yes, then quickly summoned Stephanie.

			“I really, really thought Jessie might have killed somebody,” says Belinda. The month before, Belinda had seen bruises on Jessie’s neck.

			“She admitted that she was raped,” Belinda says. She wouldn’t say by who.

			“That’ll never happen to me again,” Jessie had told her. And Belinda knew she meant it.

			Detective Bray and his partner filled Belinda’s doorway with their bulk. “I’m tellin’ you, these six-­foot-­five, three-­hundred-­pound detectives come in, and I told Stephanie to take the kids back to the bedroom.”

			“Okay, what did she do now?” Belinda asked them.

			Bray pulled out a mug shot of Jessie. “Is this your daughter?”

			“Yes,” Belinda answered.

			Jessie had been in and out of court—­and jail—­for possession and receiving stolen property. Chris had been arrested and was still in the workhouse, but Jessie had been released, much to her family’s dismay. She was alone on the streets of Columbus, a territory Chris navigated with ease. He’d tried to school her on how to stay under the radar of predators, always getting on her for counting her money out in the open. Now, without her man to protect her—­and to get drugs for the both of them—­Jessie was especially vulnerable. The rape was proof of that. She was tough, with a don’t-­give-­a-­damn attitude, but underneath, she was a stay-­at-­home-­mom from the suburbs with a deadly habit who was in way over her head. Belinda was sure she’d be safer locked up.

			But Detective Bray was painfully direct.

			“Blunt-­force trauma to the head,” Belinda recites.

			“Was she raped?” she asked them.

			The cops said they couldn’t tell, but her clothes were still intact. Not much else was.

			“The body was severely decomposed with skeletonization of the head, neck and the fingers of the left hand,” the autopsy report read. “The hands, wrists and . . . feet were mummified. Skin is completely absent from a portion of the abdomen, the anterior left thigh, the anterior and lateral right thigh and the calves. There appear to be seven generations of maggots covering the body.”

			“You had to know my daughter,” says Belinda. “We are fighters. Somebody had to clip her from behind or she fought [off another rape] and maybe somebody rammed her head into something. I don’t know . . .” she says, trailing off as monstrous images claw their way into her brain. “But I know my daughter. She would fight to the bitter end.”

			“Maybe that’s what happened,” says Dave, but “there was nothing left to tell if there was any bruising. She was pretty deteriorated, layin’ there for . . .” His eyes fill with tears, and he can’t continue. What he wants to say but can’t is that the stubborn girl he raised as his own was left to molder in tall grass for more than a week as temperatures soared into the mid-­to-­high eighties, erasing evidence that might have helped find her killer with each passing day.

			“So, we don’t know if she had defensive wounds,” finishes Stephanie.

			“There was nothin’ under the fingernails,” says Belinda.

			“ ’Cause she had no fingernails left,” says Stephanie.

			“No eyes,” Belinda says. “No hair.”

			They talk about it now, more than four years later, with almost clinical remove.

			But in those first awful, frenzied days, it was different. Belinda held it together until Big Bray and his buddy left, then broke down. The worst day of her life turned crueler when she learned she’d have to come up with $1,000 to get her daughter’s body from a slab at the county coroner’s office to the funeral home. It might as well have been a million.

			They’d had to use vouchers from the county social worker to buy furniture after taking in Jessie’s kids—­bunk beds for the boys, a bed for her Sophia.

			Belinda was explaining her predicament to a friend at work, and a manager caught wind of it. He told her they could tap an employee-­funded charity that helped families with disaster relief. Belinda’s case more than qualified. “It was the most wonderful thing,” says Belinda. “The most wonderful thing.”

			With a $1,000 check in hand, she went to claim her daughter.

			She wanted to open the body bag—­to see her girl. The funeral director pulled Stephanie aside.

			“I don’t know how to tell your mom this, so I’m gonna tell you this—­I really need you to get her to understand she does not want to open up that bag.”

			“And then that’s when she explained to me what . . . was left,” Stephanie says.

			They reached a compromise.

			“I went down to the basement,” says Belinda, “and she’s all wrapped up in blue tarps.” She approached the mummy on the table but couldn’t tell which end was which. So, she guessed.

			“I’m so glad I found you,” she whispered fiercely.

			Belinda was still cradling the bundle when her son, Jonathan, came to get her.

			“Mom,” he said, “it’s time to go.”

			That first year, Belinda called Detective Bray almost every day. He didn’t have much to say. Something about pinging Jessie’s cell phone off a tower near a suspect they liked, but not having enough to get a warrant to search his house or car.

			“Every time I contacted him, he said, ‘It’s nothing like you see on TV.’ He says, ‘It takes time.’ I said, ‘Well, how about her phone rec­ords?’ I still don’t know what her last phone call was. I know when it was, but he didn’t tell me who it was.”

			But Bray told her other things she wished he hadn’t. Judging from the position of her body, they surmised that despite the mortal blow to her head, Jessie must’ve woken up at some point and, summoning her old swimmer’s strength, tried to army crawl across the yard to the house. She had no way of knowing it was vacant, that even if she made it up a set of stairs to the door, no one would answer.

			She was found with her arm slung over the first step.

			“I didn’t need to hear that,” Belinda says.

			Dave tries to comfort her. “That’s all still . . .”

			“Speculation,” Stephanie finishes.

			The family reached out to Jessie’s friends, anyone who might know something, and entered the world of rabbit holes—­tantalizing tips, scraps of information and unsubstantiated rumor that sent them burrowing in all directions. Jessie’s best friend, Loren, sent Stephanie a Facebook correspondence she’d had with a guy named Rudolph. Jessie, they learned, had been crashing with him, waiting for Chris to get out of jail.

			The last time her sometimes-­roommate saw her, Jessie announced she was meeting “Whiteboy,” jumped into a big black pickup truck, and never came home.

			Holy shit. Whiteboy.

			That was June 16, the day after Belinda had hugged her daughter goodbye, pressed sixty bucks into her hand—­and watched her disappear into the passenger seat of a big black pickup truck.

			Belinda hadn’t seen the driver, but Rudolph had: he described Whiteboy as Black, and he was pretty sure Whiteboy dealt to Jessie. That’s what Rudolph told Loren; Loren had heard the same thing from Jessie. Nobody knew Whiteboy’s real name.

			At first, Jessie’s family—­admittedly not well-­versed in drug culture—­thought “Whiteboy” was slang for heroin.

			“No,” says Chris, “Whiteboy is the Black guy who sells the heroin.”

			He found this out doing his own detective work—­an investigation more fruitful, he says, than anything the police have come up with. He even tried to find connections between Jessie, whom he calls “Jess,” and Lindsey Maccabee and Danielle Greene.

			Danielle, he says, was a cousin of his. And he thinks all three women stayed at a women’s shelter at some point.

			He owed it to Jess—­and to “Mom” Belinda—­to keep digging.

			The first time he saw Belinda after the funeral, she punched him. Like mother, like daughter.

			Belinda recalls the scene, her eyes and cigarette blazing. “I said, ‘Why! Why did you get her hooked on the drugs! Why! You know it’s your fault!’ ”

			He issued a weak protest, but she cut him off. “I went, ‘Pow!’ Clocked him right in the jaw,” Belinda says.

			Chris couldn’t really argue. He felt responsible and vowed to find her killer, no matter the personal cost. “That’s what Mom asked me to do. I was fully prepared to piss away my life. My kids are taken care of. Totally prepared.”

			Word was Whiteboy had Jessie’s jewelry, easily recognizable because they were custom pieces: a necklace that had all the kids’ names engraved on it and a matching bracelet with Jessie’s initials.

			Chris says he tracked his prey all the way to Gastonia, North Carolina, where he found Whiteboy in a black truck—­a Ford F150. With tinted windows. Chris claims he saw Jessie’s jewelry in the glove compartment.

			Here is where his story takes on a very Death Wish vibe.

			“He took my heartbeat,” Chris says. “I was really wantin’ to take his.”

			But Chris suppressed his inner vigilante. Instead, he says, he put a gun in Whiteboy’s mouth “and told him to get in the trunk of my car.” He drove Whiteboy all the way home, depositing him at Columbus police headquarters on Marconi Boulevard.

			“They came right out front and arrested me for pulling him outta my trunk,” Chris says. “I was fully prepared for that. I was fine with it. I don’t regret it.”

			And Whiteboy? “They let him walk right away,” says Chris, still furious. “Because they didn’t have no direct evidence tying him to anything.”

			What about the jewelry? “Someone stole it from me while I was finishing out my time in jail,” he says. He was saving it for his daughter, Sophia.

			Chris wasn’t charged with kidnapping, but says the police told him if he went near Whiteboy again, he would be. He’s heeded the warning so far. He says he’s been in recovery for a while and is working on cars in Newark, about an hour outside Columbus. He doesn’t want to wind up back in the workhouse. But he’s keeping an eye on Whiteboy and members of his family on Facebook. Whiteboy’s mom lives off East Mound, the street where Jessie’s body was discovered.

			Detective Bray doesn’t recall hearing about Chris’s far-­fetched citizen’s arrest, and there’s no mention of anything like it in Chris’s rap sheet. But, he adds, that doesn’t mean cops didn’t break it up and send everyone on their way. At the very least, doesn’t Bray think the story—­and Whiteboy—­merit a closer look? Belinda hasn’t heard anything from Bray in three years. The case is getting colder by the minute. So why not?

			Bray said he would call Chris and check his story—­and Whiteboy—­out. But it never happened. Chris is sure he got his man.

			And he’s sure of another thing. Jessie wouldn’t have gone down without a fight.

			“I think it’s part of the reason why she ended up dead,” says Chris. “Shoulda been me instead of her.”

			I added Jessica Turner to the list. Danielle, Lindsey, and Jessica. And I knew there were more.

		

	


		
			Chapter 4

			Missing in Columbus

			Back when I first went to Columbus in 2017 and passed by the home of Jayme Bowen, who went missing in 2014, I stopped and had a brief conversation with her parents. Three years later, she was still missing.

			The banner running the length of the porch, the one that shouted at passersby to “Help Find Jayme & Bring Her Home!,” is gone.

			Her mom, Nancy Bowen, huddles against a wicked fall wind in the corner of the porch to steal a smoke, looking sadly at the spot where the banner used to be. Jackson, a giant black dog she calls her shadow, fills a picture window with his bulk, watching her every move. “If I die before he does, he’s gonna have to go with me,” Nancy says. “He’ll grieve himself to death.”

			And if Nancy dies before Jayme comes home, you wouldn’t be wrong to guess she’d succumbed to the same malady.

			Four days earlier, on November 12, Jayme turned twenty-­nine. She was twenty-­two when she was taken. That’s what they all think. Someone took her and still has her. Or hurt her and hid her, buried her in a shallow grave underneath one of the vacant houses that littered the neighborhood in April 2014, the last time anyone in the family ever saw Jayme. Whenever one of those houses is demolished, Nancy is there to ask: “Did you find anything?”

			There was no twenty-­ninth birthday party for Jayme this year. No balloons released into the air to catch and bob in the trees outside the house; no neighbors filling the yard, eating cake, like at the other birthday parties Nancy has thrown for her absent child. The coronavirus took care of that.

			But that doesn’t explain the missing banner.

			“We was tryin’ to sell the house next door,” Nancy says. “That’s the one he more or less bought for Jayme. “He” is Nancy’s husband of a million years, James Michael, aka Mike. Jayme was named after him.

			“After she disappeared, my husband just spent forever over there. He nitpicked. He painted every wall. Replaced everything in it—­furnace, air conditioner, hot-­water tanks. New appliances, new bathrooms, new toilets.”

			It didn’t make much sense, truth be told. All the place really required, says Nancy, was a fresh coat of paint. But for Mike, it was therapy. He’d peered into all the dumpsters he could stomach and held his breath every spring, wondering if a hunter or fisherman would stumble on the body of his daughter, revealed by flood or thaw.

			“I think that’s where he let his frustration and pain go, was working on that house,” Nancy says.

			When Mike ran out of things to fix and replace and spruce up, the house sat, waiting for Jayme.

			Eventually, Mike wanted to retire; it didn’t make sense to keep paying utility bills, taxes, and insurance on an empty house. He put a For Sale sign in the yard. But it didn’t move.

			“People were a little skeptical over that banner,” says Nancy. “They didn’t realize nobody walked in my yard and stole her.”

			For curb appeal, Nancy grudgingly agreed to take it down for a couple of weeks. They sold the house a year ago September. When she tried to string the sign to the porch columns again, Jayme’s son Jayden, a whip-­smart eleven-­year-­old who’s taken over his mom’s old room, came up with all kinds of excuses. “Don’t put it up just yet,” he told her.

			Jayden is in counseling. But when they get to the part where they ask him, “What if your mother doesn’t come back?” he clams up, and they can’t get another word out of him.

			“I look out for his feelings first,” says Nancy. But she’s not happy about mothballing the banner.

			“I didn’t never wanna take it down till she came home.”

			For a little thing who stood just under five feet and weighed a hundred pounds, Jayme Bowen was hard to miss. That was why the fact that no one saw or heard anything the day she disappeared was so hard to believe.

			“She was loud,” says Nancy. “She’d yell, ‘Hey, Mom!’ And you could hear her a block away.”

			She’d sing at the top of those big lungs, too, like she was a contestant on The Voice, her asthma be damned. Didn’t care who heard her or where she happened to be, even hunting through the racks at the local thrift store.

			“She’d sing George Strait, she’d sing Elvis Presley,” says Nancy. “The oldies but goodies.” Her modern tastes ran toward soulful bombshells. “She liked Deana ‘Did I Shave My Legs for This?’ Carter, for one,” says Nancy. “And she loved Carrie Underwood—­thought that was the most beautiful person in the world.”

			Jayme would have made a perfect country star, with Underwood’s wholesome, blond good looks and Carter’s sass and clearwater blue eyes. She had everything but their pipes.

			“She couldn’t sing worth a crap,” says Nancy. “Couldn’t carry a tune in a bucket. But she put so much effort in it we didn’t care.”

			Everything she did, says Nancy, “required a lot of air.” Jayme could talk your leg off; she would call her aunt most mornings to bring her up to speed on the neighborhood gossip.

			At twenty-­two, Jayme still lived in the house on East Gates Street, where she’d lived since she was born, crowding in with her parents, her granny, and her sons. Jayme was the baby, the last of four. She liked getting real close, like up Nancy’s butt, scooching next to her mother on the couch, nearly climbing on top of her sometimes, to watch TV and eat ice cream after a long day. “She was a mommy’s girl,” says Jayme’s big sister Kaye.

			“I’m the only person I know whose kids never ran away from home,” Nancy says. “I used to laugh about it.”

			But that’s exactly what police thought happened to Jayme in those crucial early days following her disappearance: that she’d simply walked out of everyone’s life without a word to anyone.

			Detective William Springer was new to Missing Persons when Jayme Mulynn Bowen vanished the morning of April 10, 2014, during a short walk from her sister’s place, where she’d spent the night, to her mom’s house. The detective said Jayme had been spotted “runnin’ wild, partying everywhere on the west side,” Nancy remembers.

			“You’re crazy,” Nancy told him. “That’s not my kid.”

			Kaye offers a blunter assessment: “I think they thought, ‘She’s a junkie, give it a few days, she’ll come home. She’s probably out gettin’ high somewhere.’ That’s the way they pretty much said it.”

			Springer told Nancy that wild Jayme had landed in jail. When Springer went to question her, he discovered he’d been hearing about the wrong girl—­another Jayme, not Nancy’s Jayme at all.

			By then, six months had passed. Any surveillance footage from cameras at the Pizza Hut on the corner of Stewart and Parsons or the Boost Mobile store that might have captured Jayme on the street that morning were long gone—­erased or recorded over.

			Nancy knew after watching true crime on TV that the first forty-­eight hours are the most important in a missing persons investigation. After that, if no solid leads are developed, the odds of finding someone are cut in half.

			“They should’ve done somethin’ then, not wait six months to get serious,” Nancy says.

			During those months, Nancy pestered Springer to “trace the phone or ping it or whatever they call it.” (Jayme’s phone records had generated no clues. “There was not one outgoing or incoming call made on that phone that morning,” Kaye recalls.)

			Detective Springer eventually told Nancy that he’d enlisted help from the FBI, and they “got a ping,” Nancy says. “But he didn’t know what all the technology meant and stuff.”

			Despite not knowing what happened to Jayme, tracing her last known moments would be easier than Danielle’s or Lindsey’s.

			On April 9, 2014, Jayme had a sleepover at her sister’s house, which is less than a ten-­minute walk from Nancy’s front door.

			Nancy didn’t know it at the time, but Jayme and Kaye had started using again. Both her girls, and everyone else’s kids, it seemed like, had gotten hooked on heroin.

			For Kaye, it started with the Percocet doctors prescribed after her ACL surgery. And Jayme? She had plenty of reasons to turn to the cheap high, including the loss of Big George, her sweet, blond-­haired, brown-­eyed childhood friend turned true love, who was killed by a cop outside a Columbus bar, leaving Jayme to raise Little George (“George III,” like the tattoo on her neck said) and Jayden on her own. After her most recent stint in rehab, Jayme had been in recovery for months. Then, weeks before she went missing, she’d slipped back into her old habit.

			“Stress? Boredom? I don’t know what it was,” says Nancy.

			At around 10:30 or 10:45 the morning of April 10, the sisters needed cigarettes. “I’m going to Mom’s,” Jayme told Kaye, and borrowed her sister’s cell phone for the road. Jayme’s phone had been turned off because she hadn’t paid her bill. She hated walking anywhere alone. The phone was a security blanket. Kind of like company.

			Kaye told Jayme to hurry back with her phone. She was waiting for a call from her boyfriend.

			“I know, I know, sister,” Jayme said. “I’m not gonna be gone that long.”

			Jayme grabbed her hair, which fell to her waist, gave it a twist, and plopped it on the top of her head in a golden knot. She pulled on a pair of red joggers that were way too big for her because they belonged to Kaye’s boyfriend and a gray shirt with a flower design on it. She topped off the adorably sloppy ensemble with a pink hoodie and headed out the door.

			About a half hour later, Kaye phoned Jayme from her landline. Nobody answered.

			Annoyed, she called her mom’s house, and her grandma picked up. “Granny!” Kaye snapped. “That bitch go upstairs and go to sleep? Where’s Jayme?”

			But Granny hadn’t seen her.

			“You sure she didn’t sneak in?”

			Kaye kept calling her phone, which Jayme had borrowed. It rang and rang and rang.

			She phoned her mom’s again. By then, Nancy had arrived home from Sears—­she’d gotten off work early that day—­but still no Jayme.

			Kaye breathlessly explained: “I tried calling, and it went straight to voice mail.”

			Nancy dialed the phone a few more times, and so did Kaye. No Jayme. Then, suddenly, it didn’t ring anymore. Like somebody had powered it off.

			“I’m comin’ to get you,” Nancy told Kaye.

			She pointed the car in the direction Jayme would’ve walked. No Jayme.

			They widened their search, looking down streets and alleys. No Jayme.

			Mother and daughter leaned out car windows, shouting at anyone they saw: “Hey, have you guys seen Jayme?”

			They drove around for hours, until 4:00 or 5:00 that Thursday afternoon. Finally, an increasingly anxious Nancy made Kaye beat on the doors of drug dealers. Had they seen Jayme?

			“Well, next thing I know, the drug dealers are postin’ on Facebook—­they’re lookin’ for Jayme, too,” says Nancy. “She’s that kind of person. Everybody—­everybody—­was lookin’ for Jayme.”

			Everybody except the police. And it was a story I heard time and again. Adults who go missing, Nancy was told when she made her first, frantic call, didn’t merit a report until they’d been gone twenty-­four hours—­half of the precious first forty-­eight.

			On Friday morning, the police finally let Nancy make an official missing persons report; by that evening, the TV cameras were there.

			By Saturday morning, they had posters printed with Jayme’s smiling, perpetually girlish face. Blond hair. Blue eyes. Five-­foot. One hundred pounds.

			“She could be mistaken for a kid so easy,” says Nancy. Is that what happened? Someone saw Jayme, bopping down the street in baggy red joggers and a pink hoodie, that mop of hair up on her head, and thought they were snatching a little girl?

			People spilled out of houses that first Saturday she was gone, wanting to help. “I think every empty house in the south end got searched,” Nancy says. “They all had flashlights and sticks. I mean, it went on all day long that day. And every day for a long, long time after that.”

			As days turned to weeks and weeks to months, “people started sayin’ Kaye had sold Jayme to drug dealers or Jayme had ODed and Kaye got rid of her. I mean, it was some cruel stuff they were sayin’.”

			The gossip, innuendo, all the crazy stories, “it tore my mind to pieces,” says Kaye. “For somebody to even think that I would do something, or let somebody do something, to Jayme, they gotta be sick in their head, honestly. Anybody that knows me out here knows I would never let nobody touch my sister. Nobody. You touch Jayme, you were getting’ your butt kicked.”

			But the tales were so pervasive, Kaye asked Detective Springer to give her a polygraph test.

			“I felt in the back of my mom and dad’s head they had to be thinkin’, ‘Kaye has to know something. She’s just too scared to say,’ you know? I asked the detectives to give me a dang-­gone lie detector test and I took my mother with me,” says Kaye.

			Did you hurt Jayme Bowen? Do you know who hurt Jayme Bowen? Do you know where Jayme Bowen is?

			“The guy that gave her the test said she didn’t have a deceptive bone in her body,” says Nancy. “Said she passed it with flying colors.”

			The rumors weren’t only about Kaye. Another one? “I took her to West Virginia and hid her so I could get welfare for her kids,” Nancy says.

			Springer never found Jayme. And he’s never responded to questions about what he did—­or didn’t do—­in his investigation. But he was right about one thing.

			“He said, ‘The first thing I’m gonna tell you is do not listen to gossip and rumors,’ ” Nancy says. “He said, ‘You will go crazy.’ Boy that was the truth.”

			In the beginning, they chased any lead that sounded halfway reasonable. Nancy would call Springer and tell him what they were planning to do for their own investigations, but they wouldn’t wait for his okay. “He got real mad at us,” Nancy says.

			“Police caught my sister-­in-­law at twelve thirty at night—­now, mind you, she’s seventy-­some years old—­they caught her on City Park Avenue at twelve thirty at night looking through basement windows. That’s what we get into.”

			Cops caught Nancy’s friend Eddie on Cleveland Avenue, going through abandoned homes under the cover of darkness. They grabbed him and body slammed him before they knew he was harmless, Nancy says, then chastised him for his amateur detective work. “They told him he was crazy—­‘You know how unsafe it is up here?’ ”

			But Jayme inspired that kind of fierce loyalty.

			When a new neighbor moved in on the corner, it was Jayme who marched across East Gates Street to extend her hand. “Welcome to the Gates of Hell!” she announced, laughing.

			Even though the girl was Black and Jayme white, a divide that could have been insurmountable in their part of town, they became fast friends. “They were both pregnant at the same time,” says Nancy. “I’ll tell you what, my kid, she was friends with everybody.”

			And everybody wanted to help. The new mom eventually moved away from East Gates Street, but she came back to load up on fliers with Jayme’s picture and a number to call with tips, promising to distribute them in her own neighborhood.

			“Everybody just looks and looks and looks . . .” Nancy says, trailing off. Nobody finds.

			Nancy and Kaye scaled a fence to snoop around a house they heard was about to be raided by cops. A guy at a furniture shop told somebody, who told Nancy, that a few bad men were holding a bunch of girls there. Mother and daughter arrived too late—­no one was inside. But they’d stumbled onto a modern-­day dungeon.

			On the first level, they saw a mattress lying on the floor. “And there were clasps like for padlocks bolted to the ceiling and had chains and locks hangin’ out of ’em,” Nancy says.

			They read the instructions scrawled on a piece of cardboard torn from the back of a tablet: “Don’t look, don’t talk. I will cut off your hands and feet and put you in a black trash bag. Don’t look or talk,” Nancy recites.

			They climbed the steps to the second floor but balked when they caught an eye-­watering stench. Kaye went home to retrieve her boyfriend and a flashlight. She investigated and reported that people had been using the upstairs as an open sewer.

			Kaye moved to the basement. In the beam of her flashlight, she saw a pair of women’s blue-­green panties . . . and red joggers in a heap at the bottom of the stairs. She flew down the steps so fast, Nancy thought she’d tripped.

			“They weren’t them,” Nancy says, disappointed and relieved all at once.

			Nancy called Springer to tell him what they’d found. “Well, about a week later he comes down here and he wants to go to that house. He takes me and five police officers and another detective with him. They wouldn’t let me back in the house, and he screamed at me: ‘You could have went through the floor, this coulda happened, that coulda happened.’ ”

			Nancy knew the dangers. “But that wasn’t on my mind,” Nancy says.

			Jayme was.

			Years passed. Detective Springer left Jayme’s case and was replaced by another detective, then another, then another. They started to blur after a while, but Nancy thinks she was on detective number four when the woman who manages Jayme’s Facebook page, “Bring Jayme Bowen Home,” received a flurry of 4:00 a.m. messages from a woman calling herself “Faith Bowen.” She claimed to be Jayme’s cousin. “That’s not true,” Nancy told her. “There is no Faith Bowen in the family.”

			Jayme’s pregnant again and she’s very sick and they’re gonna move us. Please help us.

			Faith gave an address where they were being held—­a wrecking company on Joyce Avenue, a fifteen-­minute drive from the Bowens.

			Panicked, Nancy called the police and gave the information to a dispatcher. Then she waited, quietly going out of her mind. Like so many other seemingly promising leads, nothing ever came of the furtive messages from the mysterious Faith.

			Later, she received a call from a missing persons detective, informing her she’d be hearing from a new detective—­Brian Sheline, a homicide detective. He was working cold cases.

			Nancy flipped out. “Whaddya mean, cold case?”

			“Whoa, whoa, whoa, calm down,” they told Nancy. “We still look, but we call it ‘cold case’ when the tips stop comin’ in.”

			She says she spoke to Detective Sheline for the first time in July 2020. Since then, she’s tried to get ahold of him with no luck. “I didn’t get a call back. I don’t never get callbacks.”

			For a month, I repeatedly made requests for interviews and information—­from Springer and Sheline and their bosses—­and got nothing. They aren’t sharing how many missing persons cases Springer had been juggling when Jayme’s file found its way to his desk or how many missing persons cases that move to cold cases are ever solved. The radio silence offers a little taste of the frustration Nancy feels.

			Then this email, dated November 20, shows up in my inbox:

			Thanks for your interest and work in regards to all the missing women in Columbus and Southern Ohio.

			I recently was asked to take over the long term missing persons cases, which are comprised of about thirty different investigations, dating back to about 1978. The Jayme Bowen case involved work and investigative efforts from numerous different officers and detectives, beginning from the time she was first reported missing, and continues to this day. Jayme’s case is active and ongoing. Unfortunately, I cannot comment or provide any information to you about phone pings or other investigative tools that may have been employed. Disclosure of such information might hamper future efforts of what may possibly involve criminal conduct.

			We continue to seek any information that might help us locate Jayme Bowen and help bring her family some closure. I am in regular communication with Nancy Bowen (I had a conversation with her last night). If there are any important developments that may occur involving Jayme’s case, I will update Nancy with the information as necessary.

			At this particular time, I am not able to disclose or discuss any information about Jayme’s investigation with you.

			With kind regards,

			Detective Brian Sheline #1896

			Missing Persons Unit, Second Shift

			Nancy says she hopes Sheline is good at his job.

			If it turns out Jayme is a victim of human trafficking, bad as that is, they can work with that. Just give her back, says Nancy.

			Give her to them.

			“Mommy, if she’s broke, we’ll fix her,” Kaye tells Nancy. She repeats it, like a calming mantra for her mother’s tortured thoughts.

			“We’ll fix her, Mom. We’ll fix her.”

			Nancy has two missions in life—­to stay ahead of the coronavirus so she can raise Jayme’s son Jayden—­Little George lives with his other grandma—­and to make sure no one forgets about her “dingy blonde,” her “baby.”

			“John Travolta even signed her missing poster,” Nancy says.

			In I Am Wrath, filmed in Columbus in the spring of 2015, Travolta plays a man out for justice after corrupt cops can’t catch his wife’s killer. (A wag on Rotten Tomatoes wrote: “This takes everything John Wick does, and does it worse.”)

			Travolta was cornered up on Parsons Avenue by a few of Jayme’s supporters. A photo floating around the internet shows the actor standing next to a MISSING JAYME BOWEN sign. Nancy was thrilled. Now the world would know to look for Jayme.

			“My husband’s like, ‘Nancy, you’re crazy—­just calm down.’ But I grab on to anybody that I think can help.”

			Nancy has enlisted her brother-­in-­law, a courier, to drive around town with life-­size posters of Jayme plastered to the sides of his van. She and others have papered Columbus with Jayme’s image.

			“At first, everybody would let you tape her poster in their windows,” says Nancy. “Then it’s like, ‘My manager says we can’t do it no more.’ ” Nancy doesn’t fault them. “I understand you have to do what your manager says,” she tells them.

			But when someone at Kroger, a major grocery store chain, refused to hang Jayme’s poster, Nancy turned to leave, ready to accept defeat, then spotted a picture of a missing dog hanging in the window.

			“I marched my fat butt in there,” she says. “Oh yeah.”

			They explained that there was a less conspicuous bulletin board for posters like Jayme’s.

			“No,” she said, as politely as she could. “I would prefer you to put her out there beside that dog in your window.”

			Were they shamed into it?

			“No,” Nancy says.

			But she won’t quit—­she’ll be able to do more when COVID-19 restrictions are lifted.

			When adults go missing, families are on their own. And it is up to them to be as loud as possible to keep the case in the public eye. While Nancy sees to it that Jayme Bowen is everywhere, Holly Logan, on the other hand, is nowhere.

			“Thank you for those Liking and Sharing Holly’s page,” reads a post on Facebook’s “Find Holly Logan” page. “Her case gets little media attention and I’m hoping we can get her case in front of many eyes.”

			The post is preceded by another, more heartbreaking message: “STILL MISSING: Holly Logan was 27 years old when she was last seen in Columbus, Ohio on Wednesday, July 31, 2013 (other reports have indicated August 31 so unsure of exact date).”

			Lori Davis created the page, to remind people about Holly—­because it’s easy to forget someone so few people seemed to notice was gone in the first place.

			It’s an offshoot of Davis’s biggest platform—­the “Missing Person from Ohio” Facebook page. Davis, who describes herself as “an average Joe with no law enforcement background whatsoever,” launched it in 2006 after learning about the case of Brian Shaffer. She knew about the kids on milk cartons, but she didn’t realize how many people just vanished, year after year after year.

			With his dark hair and dimples, Shaffer, studying to be a doctor at the Ohio State University, was as handsome as George Clooney in his heyday on ER.

			“He goes out to a bar—­six foot two, 170-pound boy—­and he just disappeared,” says Davis. “Like, literally disappeared. Like, not on any of the cameras. They saw him go in, didn’t see him go out. Did they kill him and stuff him in the walls? What happened to this guy?”

			She contacted his family to help them update their website and became sucked in. Brian’s mom had died months before he went missing; Brian’s father was “a lost soul” desperate to find his son.

			“I thought we’d find him in six months. And fourteen years later, we’re still looking for Brian,” she says.

			But his case made her realize something: “Brian’s a good-­looking OSU medical student. He’s gonna get a heck of a lot more media publicity than a Black girl or a Hispanic girl is. I mean, that’s just the way it is,” Davis says. Or a white girl like Holly.

			Some families make a lot of noise, others don’t. That doesn’t mean the quieter parents or siblings don’t love and miss their lost relatives.

			Holly used to loiter outside Grandma’s Pizza on Parsons Avenue, blocks from the Bowens’ place, bumming cigarettes, saying hi.

			She wasn’t scrappy, didn’t pick fights, and she wasn’t ever mean, says Jayme’s sister Kaye, who worked at Grandma’s for a time. That’s how she knows the strip in front of the pizza joint was where Holly picked up dates. “She was a decent person,” Kaye says. “Laid-­back.”

			Holly went to jail around the summer of 2013. “I guess she was released from jail like July or August,” Nancy says. “Then nobody ever seen her again.”

			And nobody looked for her. “I mean, within a half hour, we knew something was wrong with Jayme,” Nancy says. But Holly just vanished. It was Nancy who finally convinced detectives that Holly was missing.

			She says police shrugged her off at first.

			“I kept pushing the issue because people had said that they had attended Holly’s funeral in Ashville. And the guy that worked at the pizza shop said that he was there when they had found Holly in a dumpster,” remembers Nancy, illustrating the rumors that can swirl when someone vanishes. “Well, I never saw an obituary for her or anything like that, and I just kept asking questions and asking questions, and finally, a detective contacted her family and [they said] they hadn’t heard from her since she’d got out of jail.”

			By the time she was declared officially missing, Holly had been gone almost a year and a half, says Nancy. “And that broke my heart.”

			It’s a tired song, played on repeat. More than a decade earlier, two hours north of Columbus, Cleveland police dismissed the missing persons reports of worried family members living in the city’s historically Black Mount Pleasant neighborhood. Like Holly, the daughters and sisters and mothers who had vanished had struggled with addiction for years; some had turned to sex work to feed their need. Then, the drug they couldn’t live without wasn’t heroin but crack cocaine.

			A small fraction of those missing persons cases was closed when eleven women were found buried in the yard and entombed inside the house of sex-­offender-­turned-­serial-­killer Anthony Sowell on Imperial Avenue in Cleveland.

			Nancy knows Holly has a sister—­she saw her on TV once in 2015, during a report linking Jayme’s and Holly’s disappearances to the cases of three missing women from Chillicothe—­Charlotte Trego, Wanda Lemons, and Tiffany Sayre—­and two “who’ve turned up dead in Ross County: Timberly Claytor and Tameka Lynch.”

			“Investigators say addiction is a common thread running through the lives [of all the women],” said WBNS10 TV reporter Glenn Mc­Entyre.

			In a rare appearance, Amber Logan shared “happy memories of her younger sister Holly.” Amber, her eyes wide and lined in black liner, making her appear perpetually startled, spoke in rapid-­fire sentences: “She was always super smart. She’s always been super smart and intelligent—­from street smarts to book smarts.”

			“But a childhood tragedy would set Holly on a grim course,” McEntyre intoned.

			“She was involved in a car accident that my mom died in when she was nine years old,” Amber said. Their mother was picking up Holly from softball practice when her car collided with a tractor without lights.

			Before the death of her mother, Amber said her life was “normal.” But once her mom died, “I was stuck in a tunnel without a flashlight and trying to find my way.

			“I didn’t get as far off course as Holly did,” Amber continued, “but I think that had a real impact on all of our lives—­but especially hers.”

			“Eventually,” said McEntyre, “Holly would leave the quiet calm of Pickaway County for the excitement of Columbus. That’s where her family says her life spiraled into drugs, addiction, and prostitution.”

			Then, Amber echoed what so many family members of the missing and murdered say: “They’re all still somebody’s daughter or sister or mother, and everybody has their own circumstances that lead them to those lifestyles. But they’re all still human beings.”

			With every report of a female body found, she wondered, was it Holly?

			“You hold your breath, and you hope that it’s not, because as long as it’s not her, then there’s always that possibility that she’s okay.” Amber paused. “But then you gotta wonder, where is she?”

			Holly Renee Logan was first arrested for soliciting in Columbus in 2006. She was twenty. Court records tell us that Holly—­five foot four inches tall, with green eyes and dirty-blond hair—­weighed 130 pounds and lived in Ashville, a rural village twenty-­two miles south of Columbus in Pickaway County, where she’d grown up.

			Home to some three thousand residents and dubbed “the most colorful community in America” by sociologist and native Bob Hines, quirky Ashville gave birth to James Hulse, the only Buckeye to play a Munchkin in The Wizard of Oz; the father of American mycology (aka the study of fungi); and the prolific porn star John Holmes, “the man with the mythological penis,” as journalist Mike Sager once put it, writing about him in his book The Devil and John Holmes.

			In those early days, Holly’s cheeks were round and full, her eyes alive and bright. And she smiled. “This is when she was doing good and healthy,” one commenter said under a picture of a younger Holly on the “Find Holly Logan” page.

			By 2013, the book-­smart, street-­smart small-­town girl was a hard-­living twenty-­seven-­year-­old with twenty-­three soliciting charges and eleven drug busts to her name. In a late mug shot, she is unrecognizable from her earlier self. She looks into the camera with sleepy resignation from her hooded eyes. By the time of her final arrest for “possessing drug abuse instruments,” her weight had dropped to 105 pounds. Her address is listed as “streets of Columbus.”

			“Although she led a transient lifestyle at the time of her disappearance, it’s uncharacteristic of her to be out of touch with her children and other family members,” read her profile on the Charley Project, a citizen-­detective website devoted to missing person cases, specifically “missing people who are often neglected by the press and forgotten all too soon.”

			“She has a tattoo of a butterfly on her right arm and a tattoo of a heart on her right calf.”

			Half a dozen years after she sat in the glare of a TV camera, Amber is on the phone, the one member of Holly’s family still willing to fill in the blanks and talk about Holly. Amber knows the Holly before the drugs and the black eyes and the grifting of relatives and the string of arrests.

			Holly wasn’t simply a quick study, able to learn her ABCs with frightening speed from big sister Amber, sitting on the front porch of their house in Ashville. She was also fiercely independent and sitcom precocious. Amber remembers Holly jumping out of bed on Sunday mornings and readying herself for church. “Where we grew up, it was this little, tiny town of, like, twenty houses, but there was a church at both ends of it.”

			And Holly, she’d walk to one of those churches bookending the town, without her sister or twin brothers or parents. “That was something that she really liked to do on her own as a kid—­I don’t know if it was going to church or if it was the people,” says Amber. The image is irresistible—­a little girl, gossiping and mingling before finding her spot in a pew to take in the week’s service.

			Holly’s addiction drove the sisters apart; Holly’s two boys were taken in by grandparents and an aunt. Amber wishes she could have done more, but the mother of four had to think about her own kids. Still, she kept track of her sister by following her arrests online. That’s how Amber knew Holly was still okay—­not well, not healthy, but alive. Until 2013, when the bookings stopped. Because of the car accident, Holly had a big chunk of money coming to her when she turned thirty. When she didn’t show to claim it, there was no question in Amber’s mind that something bad had happened to Holly. That was going on six years when I talked to her. She remembers hearing from a Detective Springer—­the original detective assigned to Jayme Bowen’s case—­forever ago. She has heard nothing since.

			At one point, during the years she bounced in and out of jail, Holly crashed in a ramshackle apartment building at the corner of East Gates Street and South Seventeenth Street, two houses down from the Bowens.

			Danielle and Lindsey also frequently visited the neighborhood, because the fathers of their babies lived there as well.

			“That right there,” says Nancy. “One, two, three, four girls that had a connection off this street.”

			Danielle and Lindsey. Holly and Jayme.

			Maybe Jayme was right. The cluster of unassuming, tightly packed homes might very well be the gates of hell, swallowing souls.

			But the entire city of Columbus was swallowing a lot of souls.

			In March 2017, the legs of a woman, still wearing size nine and a half JustFab booties, were found at a trash collection site called Local Waste Services, on the southside of Columbus. An anonymous tip led police to the limbs. Two years later, via DNA, the legs were identified as having belonged to Candice Taylor, twenty-­one, of the east side. Candice had worked as a manager at a local CVS. Her mother reported her missing in March 2017, but she continued to get Facebook messages from her daughter through June of that year, with Candice saying she was pregnant and wanted some space for a month or two. Her mother thinks that whoever was messaging her wasn’t Candice. Police ruled her death a homicide. They have yet to find the rest of Candice’s body.

			In January 2018, Ashley Lynn Hamilton’s body was found in a vacant duplex on the west side of Columbus. Her body was covered in blood, surrounded by two knives and syringes. Ashley’s Facebook page is still live. The cover photo is a gun and two clips with a collection of bullets in between them. The bullets are arranged in letters creating two words: Fuck Love.

			“I’m scared, I’m shaking and don’t know what to do” were the words of the man who called 911 after he found the body of thirty-­year-­old Sydney Bryson, stuffed in a trash bag on Licking Trails Road in Newark, Ohio, forty-­five minutes east of Columbus, in December 2018. Sydney, who also went by the nickname Blue, was married. She had three children. Her Facebook cover photo is a line of text with a pink background that she updated in September 2018, three months before her death. It read: “She’s got that sophisticated, street smart, spiritual, soulful, savage thing about her.” That replaced her previous photo, which was a line from the poet Atticus: “She was everything real in a world of make-­believe.”

			Police offered a $1,000 reward for information on Sydney’s death. They said in a news release that the circumstances were suspicious. No shit—­her body was found in a trash bag.

			All these women, missing and murdered within a span of a handful of years and a few highways between them, with the state capital of Columbus at its center. Why was this not a national story? You hear “serial killer,” the public’s ears prick up. You hear “heroin” and “sex work,” they come back down. It was time to get loud.

		

	


		
			Chapter 5

			The Lesser Dead

			We devoted an episode to Danielle’s and Lindsey’s murders on The Murder Squad, the weekly investigative crime podcast I host with Paul Holes, a former Contra Costa County DA investigator—­and the lead investigator who caught the Golden State Killer. We would save Jayme’s, Holly’s, and Jessica’s story for future episodes. At the end of every episode, we gave an assignment to the listeners, in an attempt to move the case along. For example, in the case of serial killer photographer Bill Bradford, we asked listeners to share and attempt to identify the hundreds of photographs that he left behind in his apartment when he was arrested. Some of the women depicted in the photos were murder victims, and there were forty-­seven that were still unidentified. Putting a name to a picture in the photographer’s stash could close a case. For that assignment, we received a ton of tips and were able to identify three of the women in the photos (all three, thankfully, had not been victims of Bradford).

			For Danielle’s and Lindsey’s cases, we asked the obvious: if anyone had any information about their murders—­or Whiteboy—­then please contact us. But we also implored listeners to do some digging to see if there were any murders or missing persons in the area that we may have missed.

			And we got flooded.

			I am from Portsmouth, OH, and I want to tell you about another young lady who went missing from there, as I believe she may be connected to these other cases.

			Megan Lancaster went missing from Portsmouth on April 3, 2013. Her car was found in a fast food restaurant parking lot. Megan was involved in drugs and sex work. Her body has never been found and I believe there is a chance she is still alive, possibly involved in sex trafficking.

			Megan and I are the same age. We went to “rival” schools and saw each other at sporting events often. She and I went to church together as kids. One Wednesday evening, my brother and I came into church crying and upset because our dog had just been hit by a car. Our dog had to be put down. The next week at church, Megan and her brothers showed up with a puppy for us. We named him Puck. That is the kind of person I remember Megan as—­giving and caring. She is a daughter, sister, and mother.

			All the best

			“Megan Lancaster missing.” I clicked on the Facebook page, which was active. One post read, “Megan we miss you so much . . . but there is at least some justice coming . . . I hope whoever took you away from us for this almost 7 years pay severely for what they have done . . . And our whole family long for the day that we find you and you are back where you belong. but like we have said all along we will never give up until we bring you home!”

			Another.

			My mother is someone affected by the opioid crisis. She lives in Penn Hills, PA. A lot of drug stuff goes down there, and I have heard terrible stories. Stories of her and other people I know being held hostage, raped, and beaten.

			Check out Jessica Vecchiola—­she was 29 in Penn Hills and found dead in her home in 2017. There are a ton of cases like this in Penn Hills and surrounding areas, that the police do not pay attention to because they are covered with heroin. The police in this area treat people who are on drugs terribly.

			I was asking for central Ohio, but I’d be damned if I made the same mistakes of not crossing county or state lines. Those lines are nothing to a serial killer.

			Another.

			I’m from Middletown, Ohio, born and raised here my entire life. These are women, who have been on Central Ave, faces I look at and can recognize . . . I have lost so many friends in Middletown to the heroin craze here, many of my friends are still alive and in that circle of self-­destruction . . . At some point in time, we need to raise up as a community, and seek justice on our own here. Not vengeful justice. But answers! —­anonymous

			I was planning on taking a trip to Middletown. The victims had so many connections to each other.

			Another.

			Just a few weeks after an OSU student was found murdered in Grove City, the body of Gabriel Hinojosa found dead and put in a trash can. 2 other women were found in the summer and fall of 2016 dumped in fields right outside of Columbus. All 3 of the victims, Danielle Greene, Lindsey Maccabee, and Gabriel Hinojosa were all heroin addicts, with a history of prostitution [sic], and all from the south end of Columbus cops believe they are all related . . . I do not feel the cops are digging as much as they should. If these are all linked, there is officially a serial killer, in my neighborhood. I do know Gabby and Jamie [sic], not the other two. PLEASE HELP!!! —­anonymous

			The student found murdered in Grove City that the tipster was referring to was Reagan Tokes, a twenty-­one-­year-­old student at Ohio State University who went missing in February 2017. Two days later, her body was discovered. The case received national media attention. Law enforcement learned that Reagan had been abducted after leaving her job at a downtown Columbus restaurant called Bodega. Her captor, Brian Golsby, forced Reagan at gunpoint to withdraw money at ATMs before raping her and shooting her in the head in Scioto Grove Metro Park. Golsby (who in 2010 had kidnapped a woman and raped her in front of her child and served only six years) was arrested three days later. He was charged, convicted, and sentenced to life.

			Gabriel Hinojosa had been missing for five days. The twenty-­two-­year-­old was the mother of two little girls, like Danielle and Lindsey. She struggled with her addiction and had a history of sex work, but she was attempting to get into real estate sales. On February 24, 2017, kayakers on Big Darby Creek in Grove City, a suburb just south of Columbus, spotted a blue plastic recycling container in the water. Wires were keeping it shut, and holes had been drilled into its sides. Inside was Gabriel’s body, along with a car battery, presumably to weigh down the container in the water.

			The coroner’s office could not determine a cause of death.

			Through a confidential informant, authorities zeroed in on one suspect—­Gabriel’s ex-­boyfriend Andrew McGowan, also the father of one of her children. Detectives were directed to an auto repair garage that McGowan co-­owned in the 800 block of West Broad Street in Franklinton. There they found shards of blue plastic indicative of shavings made by a drill. McGowan had also threatened Gabriel’s life in the past over custody of the child they shared.

			He went to trial and was convicted. Before sentencing, they played recordings of phone calls McGowan made to friends. “I loved Gabby, and she was a horrible, horrible woman,” McGowan told one of his friends. “She deserved everything she got, plus more.”

			When he was sentenced to twenty-­five years to life in May 2018, McGowan was still professing his innocence. “I haven’t done anything wrong,” McGowan said. “I don’t deserve this. The person who did this is sitting on the couch at home. They’re watching all this while I get punished for something I didn’t do.”

			McGowan and Golsby were monsters. But their MO didn’t fit these other murders.

			Another.

			I was just listening to the murders in Columbus, Ohio. My cousin Helen Pierce was found dumped June 3rd, 2019, at a construction site in Columbus, Ohio. I don’t know if there is a link but she had OD’d and had been staying at a rehab facility in Columbus. Probably far-­fetched but wanted to share.

			Some shared links to news stories:

			“Police Identify Victim in Springfield Twp. ‘Suspicious Death’ Case,” read one headline from WKYC, which reported “her body was found at a motel early Sunday,” referring to twenty-­three-­year-­old Brittany Lynn Watson of Cleveland, whose body was found in a motel bungalow outside of Akron in February 2019.

			Some shared links to the Charley Project, talking about missing women like Amber Whitmer and Chelsey Coe, two of six women who lived within a thirty-­five-­mile radius of Ohio cities along Interstate 71/75, like Middletown, Miamisburg, and Springfield. All the women had disappeared in 2016 or 2017 and had a history of drug use; some were homeless and had been arrested for sex work.

			One listener was more direct.

			My name is Morganna and I’m actually from North Dayton, Ohio. Let me tell you, Dayton is in denial about there being a serial killer. 5 women from different neighborhoods all end up in the same mile radius disposed of in similar ways? I just don’t know about that, chief . . . —­Much love

			Linkage blindness. Whenever an example of linkage blindness comes up, I think of the Manson Family murders. August 9, 1969. Five people—­including actress Sharon Tate and famous hair stylist Jay Sebring—­butchered in a house in the Bel Air section of Los Angeles. The killers wrote the word “pig” on a door to the house in Tate’s blood. The very next night, supermarket executive Leno LaBianca and his wife, Rosemary, were found butchered in their home in the Los Feliz section of Los Angeles. The words “Rise” and “Death to pigs” on the walls and “Healter [sic] Skelter” on the refrigerator door were written in the LaBiancas’ blood. A week and a half earlier, police had found the body of thirty-­four-­year-­old music teacher Gary Hinman dead in Topanga, the words “POLITICAL PIGGY” written in his blood on a wall in his living room.

			“I don’t see any connection between this murder and the others,” inspector K. J. McCauley told the press, as recounted by Vincent Bugliosi in his book about the case, Helter Skelter. “They’re too widely removed. I just don’t see any connection.”

			Blindness.

			What was happening in Ohio was a lot more subtle—­but it was staring me right in the face. I was not looking for one serial killer stalking the streets of Columbus and Middletown and Dayton. No. But it was three or four or five. Getting the urge every now and then. It was systemic. And with their inaction, police were ringing the dinner bell for these predators.

			I wanted to reach out to Steve Egger, the serial killer expert who coined the term “linkage blindness.” A former cop turned professor, Egger had also once been the project director of Homicide Assessment and Lead Tracking (HALT), New York State’s serial killer analysis program. Unfortunately, he passed away in December 2019. But as I was searching for him, I smiled wide when I found a post on Michelle McNamara’s truecrimediary.com. Michelle wrote about meeting him, having him over to her house in Los Feliz, at the same dining room table we used to sit at and discuss cases.

			“I think what struck me most about my talk with Steve were three words he uttered that you almost never hear from serial murder experts, but probably should more often: ‘I don’t know,’ ” Michelle wrote. But he did have an answer for one question.

			“I’m constantly asked what are the similarities among serial killers?” Egger told Michelle over coffee and chocolate chip cookies. “As far as I can tell there’s only one. They pick vulnerable victims.”

			Egger also coined another term that I often referred back to. “The victims of serial killers,” he wrote, “viewed when alive as a devalued strata of humanity, become ‘less-­dead’—­since for many they were less-­alive before their death and now they become the ‘never-­were’—­and their demise becomes the elimination of sores or blemishes cleansed by those who dare to wash away these undesirable elements.”

			The “less-­dead.” These are how the victims are being viewed in Ohio. But here’s the strange thing: while our culture has diminished the lives of these victims, we’ve romanticized many of their killers.

			As mass media engulfed America in the mid-­twentieth century, we didn’t talk much about serial killers. In terms of true crime, we had the Lindbergh trial, the Rosenbergs, Leopold and Loeb, and the gangsters to satiate some of the appetite for true crime bloodlust that was growing in America. In terms of make-­believe, the killers on the menus in the ’40s, ’50s, and ’60s were cowboys. Cowboys and G-­men and detectives. And while we cheered for the white hat, we secretly rooted for the black hat. And that morphed into the antihero.

			By the time the 1990s rolled around, the fictional serial killer had become a cultural touchstone. Freddy Krueger. Jason. The Joker. Hell, even Darth Vader. Yes, the Sith lord was a serial killer. All leading up to Hannibal Lecter. Steve Egger hated Hannibal Lecter. Because he was portrayed as cool and cunning. In Silence of the Lambs, the most famous movie about serial killers, Lecter was an antihero, someone the audience—­after years of cheering for the black hats—­was “preprogrammed to identify with.”

			We revel in the fictional killer’s ability to elude police. He ducks and weaves. He thumbs his nose at the man. And we forget the one basic thing—­he fucking killed a person. Lecter killed many people. And ate them. (Insert creepy sucking sound here.)

			We used to talk about monsters around the campfire. Science replaced those stories, and they have (mostly) gone away. Now we talk about the hunter of humans. Mythologized. The real life monsters. The alphas of true crime.

			And where did that all start? It started steps away from the pub I was now drinking at and writing down these thoughts.

			I’m in East London at the Ten Bells pub, named for the bells of the Whitechapel church in London, England, that bore witness to five murders in 1888. Mary Nichols’s body was found in the early-­morning hours of August 31, 1888, on Buck’s Row in Whitechapel. Annie Chapman was found eight days later, on Hanbury Street in Spitalfields. Her body was mutilated, her uterus missing. Elizabeth Stride was found at 1:00 a.m. on September 30 on Berner Street. Not mutilated. Catherine Eddowes’s body was found in Mitre Square, City of London, missing her uterus and left kidney. And Mary Jane Kelly, murdered in her room on Dorset Street, found on November 9, gutted and almost skinned to the bone.

			All the murders were attributed to the most famous serial killer of them all. The one who created the genre. Yes, there were those who came before. You can point to Elizabeth Bathory or Vlad the Impaler or the Werewolf of Bedburg, Peter Stumpp. But when you say “serial killer,” one name stands above all: Jack the Ripper.

			His moment occurred at the dawn of global news, as cities exploded and machines started taking over. It took hold in the heart of newspaper wars. Blood and guts sold newspapers. And the murders happened right in the middle of the Victorian era and its obsession with death. It was a perfect storm. True crime doesn’t exist in its current form without him. Jack the Ripper is the prototype.

			And that is why this situation in Ohio—­and across America—­is so screwed up. Jack the Ripper is who we measure every other serial killer against. But his victims were not debutantes or prom queens or college co-­eds. They were working women. They were addicts. They were without homes. They were the “less-­dead.” And yet, we have all these Jack the Rippers killing sex workers in America, and no one gives a damn. But Saucy Jack? He is put on a pedestal.

			Jack the Ripper, about whom LL Cool J and Morrissey sang. Whom Sherlock and Batman hunted. So many TV shows. So many books. Video games. More than one hundred titles on Netflix.

			Why does Jack resonate while the victims do not?

			At the Ten Bells, Jessica O’Neil is walking me through each murder. Jessica runs a feminist-­slanted tour of the Ripper crime scenes. It’s a less-­popular tour, she tells me, because she attempts to put the victims first. The other tours? “They say awful things, like ‘Not a real looker, was she?’ There are lots of comments about the victims’ looks. One tour guide plays slasher movie sound effects at each site.”

			Jessica says that one of the Spanish-­language tours is even worse. “They put on wigs and allow guests of the tour to carry around a fake knife. [The tour guide] will get the guest or children to chase them around with a knife. It’s so unbelievable. There’s nothing you could tell me a Jack the Ripper tour guide could say or do that would shock me because I’ve seen such horrible things.”

			She tells me about Catherine Eddowes’s body. The renowned Scotland Yard detective Frederick Abberline did not investigate Eddowes’s death. Why? Because it was a few steps—­literally—­out of his jurisdiction. When the City of London caught the case, they didn’t share any information. They thought the London Metro police were buffoons.

			“So if they had been communicating, Jack would have been caught?” I ask.

			“Yes, probably,” she answers. “They had more of the evidence. They had information that Abberline didn’t have access to.”

			I pose a question to Jessica: Why does Jack still sit at the apex while modern serial killers preying on similar victims are disregarded?

			“It was complete titillation disguised as news,” she answers. “Jack the Ripper gives average people the opportunity to sit over breakfast and read about sex, drugs, prostitution, murder, mutilation, poverty, immigration, over toast.”

			But here’s the thing about Jack the Ripper—­the man whose legacy every serial killer seems to be hunting—­he may have not been a hunter at all.

			“It’s such a bloody obvious thing that no one has ever thought of,” Hallie Rubenhold tells me over coffee in a café at the opposite end of Whitechapel. “These were homeless women, and they were killed in their sleep. There were no signs of struggle.”

			Hallie had just published The Five: The Untold Lives of the Women Killed by Jack the Ripper. She is a Ripper myth buster, and her sledgehammer is aimed at the serial killer whose tours have become a cottage industry, along with jaunts to the Tower of London and Buckingham Palace.

			Hallie is passionate. She is slight, petite, but mighty. She grew up in Los Angeles’ San Fernando Valley and lives in London and writes about this terror. She is a voice of the victims. And she needs to shout extra loud to be heard over the din of the Ripperologists.

			“No noise,” she exclaims, in her British-­meets-­Santa-­Monica accent. No one heard any screams in the night during the murders. “All of them were killed in supine positions. Ripperologists will go through these great lengths to try to show which sexual positions they must have been in when he killed them. It’s impossible.”

			So, the man we have propped up as the ultimate serial killer—­the man with the big knife and the top hat and the sneering glare who cemented the archetype of the serial killer in our collective conscience—­that man very well might have been walking around these streets stabbing women as they slept on the sidewalk?

			“Yes.

			“But not only that,” she continues, “the way in which dispossessed women on the margins, drug addicts today—­anybody who is an addict—­who come from a home life that is broken down and they’re alone . . . the Victorian mind conflated these women with women who were immoral and therefore sexually flawed or tainted. They were prostitutes. They conflated this sense of being a broken woman with being a flawed woman. So, a woman out on the street alone in the worst part of town who is an alcoholic, has no family, who is living in one of these disreputable lodging houses, is a prostitute.”

			Hallie says there is little evidence that two of the victims ever engaged in sex work. “It was easy for the police to see a dead woman’s body in the worst part of town in an alleyway and say, ‘Of course she’s a prostitute.’ ‘Of course she’s a whore.’ ‘A respectable woman wouldn’t even be here.’ That’s how it happened. It’s a myth that suits society and a myth that suits society today. We say the same things.”

			We say the exact same things today.

			In 1890, William Booth wrote a book called In Darkest England, and the Way Out, which examined the homeless situation in London. After reading it, I realized how many people “slept rough” in London during Jack the Ripper’s time. Hyde Park, Trafalgar Square. Doorsteps. Yards. Alleyways. The yard in front of Whitechapel church was known as Itchy Park because of the fleas and lice that continually attacked its inhabitants. And no one was counting exactly how many were homeless. They slipped through the cracks. Just like they are doing today in America. Just like Danielle and Lindsey and Jessica—­no fixed address, no support system. “The homeless population in this country and in the United States is growing,” says Hallie. “So, if you are a serial killer, you’re like a wolf and this is a herd of sheep. You can just pick one off. Nobody will care. No one will even notice.”

			While the female victims in Ohio abused opioids, all of the Ripper victims abused alcohol. Annie Chapman could barely go an hour without a drink. Catherine Eddowes was the same.

			And to support their habit, some did become sex workers. “If you were a woman, a very, very poor woman, what you wanted was a roof over your head and a bed to sleep in, and drink and food,” Hallie says. “That’s what you’re exchanging. So, the man offers to take you to a lodging house and you spend the night with him there. That’s the exchange that happens.”

			Solving the Jack the Ripper case is quite possibly the ultimate prize in true crime. The white whale of the entire genre. But the whale has eluded the public for 130 years. Because in the beginning, both the police and the media of the day focused on the wrong thing—­they chased the shadow before fleshing out who the victims were.

			“The clue to who the killer is lies in who the victims are and their lives and their idiosyncrasies,” says Hallie. “Where they came from. What their past experiences were. I think it’s through exploring very deeply the lives of the victims that we can get a sense of who the killer is.”

			She tells me the story of Mary Ann “Polly” Nichols, the Ripper’s first known victim. How did she become addicted to alcohol? Polly married a man named William, who began having an affair with a neighbor. Polly got fed up and left. And she started drinking. William claimed her drinking caused him to seek companionship elsewhere, but that was not the case. They were living at the Peabody Flats, which had an incredibly strict policy on alcohol. The whole family would have been tossed prior to any affair. No, the affair had been what drove her to drink.

			Four of the Ripper’s victims were in their forties. The last victim, Mary Jane Kelly, was twenty-­five. She was what was considered a “high-­class” sex worker in Knightsbridge. Hallie suggests she may have been trafficked to Paris at some point. Because of her age and the severity of her wounds, Mary Jane Kelly is perhaps the most well-­known of the five. And she was found murdered in her own home, making her different from the other four.

			One hundred and thirty years later, and the narrative still hasn’t changed. From Jack to Bundy to Gacy to Little. The more murders a killer commits, the less we know about the victims.

			“The murderer always gets the last word,” Hallie says to me. “It is never the woman who has been killed. The murderer gets the last word because he’s the last man standing. It’s always his side that’s going to be stuck in the minds of people in history. So, one sentence about her and how beautiful she was.”

			In the end, Hallie is pragmatic. “We are all fucking culpable. Every time we walk past a homeless person on the street, we are culpable. That is our fault.”

			As for Jack the Ripper, he was never caught. There were rumors and theories that he was royalty. That he was an immigrant. That he traveled to America to kill again. Word on the streets of London also suggested that the killer could have been a cop, a thought not unheard of in American cases.

			Hallie is sure of one thing. “He was an asshole,” she says as she finishes her coffee.

			Back in the States, another asshole was ready to go on trial in Columbus, charged with murdering a sex worker. It was a story that would typically have been buried in the middle of a newspaper or at the end of a newscast. But this time, people were paying attention.

			Because he murdered this sex worker inside his police-­issued undercover patrol car.

			Because the killer was a cop.

		

	


		
			Chapter 6

			“Okay, Okay. 
I’m Sorry.”

			In August 2018, Andrew Mitchell, a Vice cop and thirty-­one-­year veteran of the Columbus Police Department, was cruising down West Sullivant Avenue, the main drag of sex workers in West Columbus. He was wearing his street clothes and driving an unmarked police cruiser.

			He saw twenty-­three-­year-­old Donna Castleberry walking toward his car. She passed by him, and he immediately made a U-­turn and followed her.

			Donna is 116 pounds. She is a mother of two little girls, named Carley and Kyleah, and recently divorced, with tattoos of a heart, a rose, and a butterfly. She was walking to her mother’s house, having just phoned her to say she was on her way.

			Mitchell pulled alongside her, and she got in his car. They talked business, and Mitchell felt satisfied that he had enough to arrest Donna for solicitation.

			He drove her to the back of a small apartment building at 365 South Yale Avenue, right off Sullivant. He pulled his car tightly up against the brick wall, leaving only an inch or two between the passenger door and the structure.

			Donna asked to see his ID and badge, knowing that if Mitchell were a cop, he would be carrying his credentials. It was policy. Written in stone. When he didn’t produce the items, Donna knew something was wrong. According to court documents, she “shouted to a passerby to call the police, stating to Mitchell that she heard about him kidnapping women . . . [Mitchell] then lost his temper and stated, ‘Fuck you,’ and tried to handcuff Ms. Castleberry.”

			Donna looked to her right and realized she couldn’t open her door. Trapped with no way out, she knew she was being kidnapped.

			“Donna experienced severe fear, fright, anxiety, terror, anguish, and concern that Mitchell was going to physically assault, rape or kill her,” read a motion from the civil trial.

			She pulled out a knife she carried for protection and stabbed Mitchell in the hand. Then she jumped into the back seat to escape out the back door. But the back seat was another dead end—­the child safety locks had been employed.

			Mitchell pulled out his .40-caliber pistol.

			Even though Mitchell didn’t have his badge, for some reason he was audio recording the incident on his cell phone. And investigators could hear what happened next.

			“During that time, she can be heard [on the audio tape] repeatedly to say ‘okay-­okay’ and ‘I’m sorry,’ at least verbally indicative of surrender and that the threat to Mitchell is over,” prosecutor Ron O’Brien wrote in one of many motions.

			Then gunshots. Six of them.

			“Despite that, and while he was separated from her by the seatbacks in the car, and while he had partly stepped out of the car, Mitchell continued to fire his .40-caliber handgun at Castleberry. She gasps after the last shot and stops talking.”

			Three bullets struck Donna. One penetrated her heart and right lung. One entered her abdomen, and the other entered her left leg. EMS rushed her to the hospital, where she was pronounced dead.

			Andrew Mitchell underwent emergency surgery on his hand at the same hospital.

			Sullivant was full of stories about Mitchell kidnapping and raping sex workers. He could have denied those stories. But this time, with a dead woman in his car, Mitchell had no choice but to come clean.

			He was indicted on charges of murder and involuntary manslaughter. It had been at least twenty years since a Columbus police officer was indicted for firing their gun in the line of duty.

			In one of the defense motions, Andrew Mitchell was referred to as Andy: “Andy called for back-­up. Andy Mitchell, acting in accordance with his training and police policies, he attempted to place handcuffs on her.”

			Andy.

			So, who was Andy? Andrew Mitchell had been a cop since 1988. He made Homicide. This might say a lot. Ask any cop, and they say that is the top. Homicide. But in March 2017 he asked for a transfer to Vice.

			For the uninitiated, the Vice squad polices “moral crimes”: illegal booze sales, narcotics, gambling, and prostitution. Mitchell transferred from the top, from being a hunter of killers and trying to solve murders, to busting sex workers.

			After the Donna Castleberry murder, the stories began to emerge. Mitchell had done this before. And he wasn’t the only one. Other members of the Vice unit had done the same thing—­picked up a woman in an unmarked car, said they were a cop, raped the woman, then dropped her back off on the street

			In fact, an Internal Affairs investigation had already been started on Mitchell.

			Columbus has two main thoroughfares for sex work. Parsons Avenue caters to the south. But the more populated area is on the west side along Sullivant. There I meet Hannah Estabrook. Hannah doesn’t belong on Sullivant Avenue. Effortlessly cool, confident, and well-­dressed, she would look at home in a law firm or a sleek corporate office. She doesn’t need this. She could turn the other way. But the thirty-­seven-­year-­old has shoehorned her way in. She runs Sanctuary Night, held every Monday at a building on Sullivant where they open the doors to every woman who needs clothes and a free meal—­and legal advice or simply someone to talk to. She’s trying to buy a building to house it full-­time.

			We meet at a coffee shop in Franklinton, across the bridge from downtown Columbus. With a brew pub, a coffee shop, and fresh murals, Franklinton is clearly a neighborhood on the cusp of hipsterdom. But as we walk west, we leave the cool kids behind and enter a realm of hollowed-­out storefronts. Sullivant Avenue doesn’t connect with downtown Columbus. It dead-­ends at Dodge Park while the roads on either side of it connect to bridges heading into the city. “Like we all know you’re headed into your downtown fancy job on Broad Street,” says Hannah.

			But Sullivant? If you wind up on Sullivant, that is often your destination.

			Hannah knew Donna Castleberry. They had met in the basement of a church at Avondale and State, which police had taken over as their basecamp for a sting operation. Donna wore a black dress with a floral print.

			“I thought she was really pretty, she was very fashionable. She was young, so there was sort of a sense where you wondered how long she had been out there.”

			During a sting, cops typically first go out and drive around, picking up girls and arresting them. But that only lasts a few hours.

			“Word travels fast, so the girls basically clear the street,” Hannah says. “And then you put a female cop out on the street as a decoy and start arresting men.”

			Donna hadn’t heard the word fast enough. Vice picked her up.

			“She was scared about going to jail, even though she was only probably going to be there overnight.”

			Hannah had brought two survivors to the bust. The police allowed them to come along. They thought it could help—­women who have been there, who had survived the life of sex work and could give advice and support.

			“The survivor I had there with me was walking [Donna] through what she could expect from going to jail, which was very nice. She was feeling better about just knowing what to expect. But yeah, you could tell she was also scared. High, but scared.

			“She was just a really quiet, really sweet girl, didn’t know her very well. But knew that she loved her kids and was beautiful and had gotten these charges.”

			While in the basement of the church that police were using as their sting headquarters, Donna could not have known that the man who would ultimately decide her fate was in the same room. Andrew Mitchell.

			Donna was sitting there. “I think that she was noticeably more attractive,” says Hannah. “If I could be honest. As you probably know, a lot of the women on the street just look rough.”

			Mitchell has an eye. He is always on the lookout. An attractive woman is pulled into the church basement. It’s absurd to think Mitchell wouldn’t notice her.

			The courts ordered Donna to go through a program called CATCH 101, a three-­day class offered in the court system for women to get their cases dismissed. But Mitchell killed her before that could happen.

			Hannah used to run CATCH court, a program set up to help sex workers caught in the snare of the justice system.

			And CATCH works. There are lots of stories of women who are now employed and have reunited with their children.

			She mentions one of the bright spots.

			“Vanessa Perkins, who is one of the earliest graduates of the program, is now the bailiff to Judge [Paul] Herbert,” she says. “Which is pretty damn cool. She’s amazing. But I’ve been to half a dozen or a dozen funerals, that kind of stuff, too. It’s a mixed bag.”

			Hannah had recently left the position, so this is one of the first times she can speak freely about Mitchell.

			“Right after Donna died,” Hannah says, “I was getting inundated with reporters because I was the one who had filed this complaint about him. But I, at that time, in accordance with my position at the court, there wasn’t anything I could say to reporters.”

			“So you were the one who filed the complaint against Mitchell?” I ask.

			“Yeah, on behalf of the women. I didn’t want their names included at that point, because, you know, for good reason. They were scared, and they were trusting me, right?”

			Here’s what happened.

			The Columbus PD Vice unit ran sting operations in three neighborhoods, including one called Linden, where a friend of Hannah’s worked in social services.

			Her friend told Hannah a story “about how this woman who got arrested that night seemed to have a relationship with this police officer who was there. Like they knew each other from before this moment. And she described what sounded like she had rented one of his places. When they took her into custody, she was angry, of course, so she kind of had this reaction where she started saying, ‘This police officer is like a dirty cop.’ ”

			That started it.

			Right after that, a prosecutor contacted Hannah.

			“ ‘Hey, we think that there might be like a dirty cop, and this is the name.’ And it was the same name. So I had gotten this information from two sources based on this one event at the sting operation. So then I begin going to some of the CATCH women, just kind of discreetly sort of saying, ‘Hey, I’ve heard some stories about a cop.’ ”

			“What did the women say?” I ask.

			“We basically went through and looked at everybody who had been arrested for soliciting by this guy. And we knew a whole lot of them, so we started asking them if they had experiences.

			“There were just stories of like, ‘Yeah, definitely, we would get out of tickets by having sex with him,’ or, you know, one woman had a story similar to Donna’s situation where she was in a car with him, he pulled up next to like a cement wall, she couldn’t get out of the car, she was terrified.”

			Internal Affairs officers came by. They talked with Hannah, then with about a half dozen women who participated in the CATCH program. And they all heard similar stories.

			I wanted to take a look at Mitchell’s arrest record. We order more coffee and sit down with our COVID masks still on as I open up my laptop.

			The search for Mitchell’s arrests gets 250 results. We go through each of them. Names are pulled up. (They have been changed.)

			“Barbara Bryant . . . you know her?” I ask.

			“Oh yeah. Holy shit, I didn’t know she was arrested by him. I mean, you’ll see her tonight at Sanctuary if you come.”

			“Okay, let’s find some more. There’s more where he’s the officer complainant. Brenda McVay?”

			“Oh yeah, she’s dead,” says Hannah. “I got to interact with her and her kids a couple times and she was such a loving mother, but she had a crap ton of grief that she just could not tolerate. So that’s usually what caused her to relapse.”

			Darlene Jones?

			“Darlene,” Hannah says. “She comes to Sanctuary Night probably every two or three weeks. She goes by ‘Dakota’ on the street.”

			“Bonnie Boroughs?”

			“She’s out on the street. She’s, like, AWOL.”

			“Candace Collins?”

			“Yes, I definitely know her. I haven’t seen her in a while. She goes by ‘Boro’ on the street. She might be incarcerated.”

			It’s easy to see how women can go missing and no one reports them. Even someone as plugged in as Hannah will not see some of them for months. I run through ten more names.

			“Bridget Stevens?”

			“She’s dead.”

			“Did she OD?”

			“I think so.”

			I mention another woman.

			“She’s totally Mitchell’s type, if he had a type,” Hannah says. “She’s pretty. She kinda bounces back and forth between the streets and treatment. So when she shows back up on the streets, the other women hate her because she like steals everyone’s dates. She knows it.”

			As we go through the website, it seems like arrests are missing. There just aren’t enough. Would a Vice cop really only have a few handfuls of arrests in a year?

			Then Hannah figures it out.

			“You know what?” she says. “You know what’s part of the problem? The Columbus city attorney dismissed Mitchell’s soliciting cases at some point. If a woman wanted to get those cases dismissed and sealed, he gave them that option because of Mitchell’s bullshit. Which is amazing, but that’s probably why you can’t find some.”

			After Donna’s murder, the city attorney knew that the stories about Mitchell raping sex workers would come out. So the city gave every woman ever arrested by Mitchell the option to get those charges dismissed. Mitchell was so vile and corrupt, anyone he arrested could go in and wipe that arrest from their record, because they knew if the women tried to appeal, they would get off based on Mitchell’s history, which was now coming to light.

			But I ask Hannah straight: “Do you think Mitchell could have killed another woman?”

			“Of course I think that’s possible,” she answers.

			In January 2020, two women, their identities protected under the law, filed a lawsuit against Mitchell and the City of Columbus.

			In the case file, it read that in 2017, Mitchell picked up a woman in an unmarked Jeep. He drove her to a parking lot and told her, “If you don’t want to go to jail, get in the back seat,” and “Give that pretty ass up and you won’t go to jail.” She got into the back seat and so did he. Then he handcuffed her.

			“Defendant Mitchell pulled Plaintiff’s pants down and bit Plaintiff on the back. Defendant Mitchell raped Plaintiff vaginally. Once Defendant Mitchell was done, he smirked at Plaintiff and called her a ‘whore.’ ”

			He then took off the handcuffs and she exited the vehicle.

			In February 2018, Mitchell, in an unmarked Cadillac, picked up another woman. She entered the car and recognized the man behind the wheel—­because he had raped her before. He told her, “You’re going to jail this time,” and “I know that you have warrants out for your arrest.”

			Mitchell drove to a parking lot, where he handcuffed the woman’s hands to the vehicle.

			He then “flipped Plaintiff over so that her backside was facing him from the front passenger seat. Defendant Mitchell removed Plaintiff’s pants. Defendant Mitchell raped Plaintiff.”

			Mitchell then pushed the woman out of the car. She was out on the street without pants and bleeding “on her backside.”

			Hannah and I leave the coffee shop and walk down Sullivant until we reach a one-­story brick building with a Dutch roof, boarded-­up white windows, and the words “Sullivant” spray-­painted in rainbow letters on the front. The future home of Sanctuary Night.

			“This is it,” Hannah says. “Come back in six months and this place will be . . .” She starts to laugh. “Look at it, it’s atrocious. It’s got potential. The previous owner actually said, ‘So this building is being used as a pop-­up brothel at the moment.’ And I was like, ‘Perfect.’ ”

			The place will be open—­at the start—­four to six hours every day. With funding from the city and donations, the plan is to be 24/7, to provide health counseling, case management, showers, bathrooms, and laundry services.

			“As one woman said, ‘You can’t schedule our pain.’ I mean, it’s the same thing with opioid addiction—­you reach these bottoms, and you reach them frequently, or not frequently, but you reach them periodically. And if there’s not an option in that moment, forget it. So we want a space that’s always available.”

			I ask Hannah a question that has been eating at me during the mile-­long walk down Sullivant.

			“Why? Why do you do this?”

			She takes the question in stride. “I want the world to be better. I have a strong justice orientation, and a lot of it comes from trauma I experienced as a child. But I had a tremendous amount of privilege, so I had access to all the resources I needed to heal. And I think that if I didn’t have that access and that privilege, this absolutely would’ve been me, absolutely. So I feel compelled to spread that privilege.”

			Spread that privilege. If there was ever a bumper sticker for this book and for this time, it is “Spread that privilege.”

			“In the last six years,” I ask her, “how many women have ODed or been killed?”

			“I’ve probably been to a dozen funerals,” she says. “There are easily twenty, thirty, forty women who I didn’t know that the community knew in some way.”

			We turn around and head back to the coffee shop. I ask Hannah if she could put me in touch with any of Mitchell’s victims. She sends my information to a woman I’ll call Tiffani. And Tiffani agreed to talk.

			Tiffani is a survivor.

			She’s survived a john who put his hands around her throat and squeezed until she blacked out. She’s survived being roofied, shot up with heroin between her toes, and sex trafficked. She’s walked away from more trips to the ER than she cares to remember, ODing on heroin and cocaine and bath salts.

			And she made it out of Andrew Mitchell’s car.

			Tiffani won a beauty pageant as a teen, and you can still see traces of the London Strawberry Festival Queen in her high cheekbones and almond-­shaped eyes, sometimes a striking green, sometimes a stormy hazel, depending on her mood.

			Tiffani is thirty-­four and a mom three times over. She’s currently sober and “working, working”—­her term for a legit job, one that does not require her to get into a stranger’s car.

			Back in the day, when she was younger and newer to the streets, Tiffani was Mitchell’s type: Young. Pretty. Dark hair. She describes herself as thin with big boobs and a big butt.

			She remembers their first meeting. She was on foot, “half high.” He was in a cop car.

			“Man, he’s cute,” Tiffani thought. And she could tell he was checking her out and thinking the same about her.

			He pulled over and rolled down his window.

			“How you doin’ today?” he asked.

			“Good,” she answered.

			“Get in,” he said.

			Tiffani hopped into the front seat, not the back. Somehow, she knew this was no arrest.

			They drove to a discreet location. The cop got out of the car and shed his gear—­taking off his vest, removing his gun. He piled everything in the back seat.

			He didn’t say a word—­didn’t have to.

			He slid back behind the wheel and pulled down his pants.

			“I give him head,” says Tiffani. “He gives me the money, forty dollars, and proceeds to put his clothes back on. And he was like, ‘Where you goin?’ ”

			“Cool,” Tiffani thought. “He’s gonna drop me off somewhere, too? Sweet!”

			She told him she was headed to a nearby trap house to buy drugs. Mitchell instructed her to push her seat back as far as it could go and lay low, so no one could see her in the passenger seat of his police cruiser.

			When they got close, he slowed down. Tiffani opened the passenger-­side door, got out, then went on her way.

			“This went on for years,” she says. “Years.”

			They moved from oral to vaginal sex. Once, after picking her up and taking her to an overnight parking lot at Mount Carmel Hospital—­“it doesn’t cost anything,” Tiffani says—­he told her he wanted to take their business relationship to another level.

			“Look, my wife wants to hang out with us,” Mitchell told her.

			“Oh really?” Tiffani said, a teasing, cloying tone in her voice. “What’s she look like? Let’s see a picture. What’s her name?”

			He showed her pictures.

			“Oh God, she was beautiful,” remembers Tiffani. “Blond hair. Just beautiful.”

			They made a tentative date—­for drinks, maybe a hotel rendezvous—­but Tiffani never showed. Women weren’t her thing. “I end up getting jealous, they end up getting jealous—­anyway, I don’t really do threesomes.”

			Mitchell didn’t seem to hold it against her. They went on meeting, just the two of them.

			That’s why she was shocked to learn it was Andrew Mitchell who’d shot Donna Castleberry. He was one of the “nice ones,” Tiffani says. He always paid—­not like some of the others.

			When the FBI began their investigation, they showed Tiffani a photo array of individuals she had encountered on the street. She thinks she identified at least ten, maybe twelve, Vice cops. She pointed out the ones who’d “tricked” with her. And when she says “tricked,” this is what she means: “They had me suck their dick; they had me have sex with them,” she says. “And they paid us—­sometimes.”

			She’d never seen any kind of vindictiveness or violence in Mitchell, an anger that would lead him to fire three bullets into Donna’s body. But then again, Tiffani had always done exactly what Mitchell wanted. “With Andrew, he didn’t even have to ask, I knew what it was,” she says. “It was like boom, boom, boom, bam. Bye.”

			Maybe Donna talked too much, Tiffani wonders. Once, when Tiffani had gotten too chatty with a client in a blue car, he’d strangled her. She’d even blacked out for a little bit.

			Tiffani heard that Donna pulled a knife on Mitchell. “The women who I know that would pull a knife out on a cop are very few,” she says gravely.

			What if Donna didn’t know Mitchell was a cop, as prosecutors had argued? What if she thought he was a john trying to hurt her or kidnap her? Then she must not have been out there very long, Tiffani concludes. All the girls who’d been around for a while knew the Vice cops they had to please.

			But sometimes, even when you did what they asked, it wasn’t enough.

			Tiffani then talks about the two white men who pulled up next to her as she headed for the Marathon gas station on Sullivant Avenue. They wanted to party. It was late. It was raining, and Tiffani hadn’t made any money for hours, which meant she hadn’t had any dope for hours. Her stomach hurt. Maybe they had some stuff in their car. She bounced into the back seat, but it was like no back seat she’d ever been in. There were no locks or door handles—­only rigs and needles everywhere.

			“Oh no,” Tiffani thought.

			They made small talk until the older one, the driver, pulled out a ticket book from under his seat.

			The men were police, and she was in a “jailbait” car, a vehicle that sits out in public as bait, awaiting car thieves to try to steal it. Once thieves enter, a cop flips a switch, locking them inside. They can never leave. The cops had been at a bar working a case, they told her. Under­cover.

			The older man explained Tiffani’s choices: She had a warrant for soliciting, he told her. “You’re givin’ me somethin’ and my friend somethin’,” he said. Or they would take her to jail.

			“Man!” Tiffani exclaimed. “You guys aren’t even gonna pay me? I’m used to gettin’ paid from the police.”

			The answer was no. No money. No dope. No debate. Tiffani understood: if she didn’t let the cops do whatever they wanted to her, they’d charge her with all those needles and dope and spoons in the back seat.

			“Wow,” she thought. “This is the trap house—­this is the trap for real.”

			The younger one in the passenger seat told her she didn’t have to worry about him—­she should just make sure his friend was cool.

			“Let’s hurry up,” Tiffani told them, “ ’cause my stomach hurts. I’m sick.”

			They parked at an abandoned house near a police substation. The younger guy stayed in the car while Tiffani and the older one walked behind a fence so no one could see them from the street. Tiffani assumed he wanted a quick blow job.

			“No, honey,” he told her. “We’re doin’ it.”

			The night was going from bad to worse.

			“Alright,” she said. “Let’s get this over with.” She pulled down her pants and turned, thinking he wanted to do it doggy style.

			But that wasn’t what he wanted.

			She’d never had anal sex before and hadn’t agreed to do it then, but that was what the cop wanted. Tiffani’s cries and screams brought the younger guy running from the car. “What’s goin’ on?” he demanded. “You’re killin’ her!”

			“Just hurry up,” Tiffani begged through her tears.

			When he finished, she was shaking and bleeding. But now that the younger cop was there, the older one demanded she service him, too. The younger man whispered to her to fake it, to only act like she was performing oral sex on him.

			Relieved, Tiffani started her pantomime. But the older one caught on. “I told you to give him head!” he demanded.

			Tiffani did as the older cop told her. It was either that or they’d take her to jail—­and there were no drugs in jail.

			When it was over, Tiffani needed a bathroom, somewhere she could clean herself off.

			She hadn’t thought the night could get more awful until they dumped her, wet, miserable, and bleeding, at the Marathon gas station, lights on, right in front of everybody.

			“You just got out of a bait car!” somebody told her.

			“Yeah, no shit,” Tiffani answered. Thanks for the news flash.

			“No, Tiffani, the dope boys know that that’s the cops.” It took a minute for the words to penetrate her brain, which was preoccupied with shock and pain. Then it dawned on her. Maybe the dope boys would think she told the cops something, that Tiffani was working with them on a sting.

			“Wow,” Tiffani said. There she was, no money, no drugs, in bloody clothes with nowhere to clean up. Even the clerks at the gas station wouldn’t let her inside. And now word could reach the dope boys that she was a snitch.

			She later talked to the FBI about that night and now Columbus police, too. They showed her pictures, and she tried to ID the men who’d raped her that night. As far as she knew, nothing ever came of it. But the Columbus Vice squad would soon be dismantled for an entirely different reason.

		

	


		
			Chapter 7

			Vice Squad

			The Columbus Vice unit, which Mitchell transferred from Homicide to, disbanded in March 2019. The catalyst wasn’t any of the stories I have been telling you about. It wasn’t the rapes or the murders of these women. No. It was when the Vice unit arrested Stormy Daniels.

			Stormy Daniels. The porn star. The one President Trump paid $130,000 in hush money to so she wouldn’t talk about how she slept with him in 2006. The one who referred to that encounter as the “worst ninety seconds of my life.”

			Stormy, whose given name is Stephanie Clifford, had filed a lawsuit against Donald Trump in March 2018, trying to get out of a nondisclosure agreement she had signed with him.

			On July 11, 2018, a month before Donna’s murder, Stormy was scheduled to perform at a club called Sirens.

			Four undercover Vice officers walked into Sirens, paid the $75 VIP cover charge, and sat in a booth at the club. They then proceeded to spend $129 on alcohol and $639 on tips, according to court documents.

			Now, these four Vice officers were Republicans. Shana Keckley and Mary Praither were registered Republicans. Steven Rosser was a known supporter of Trump’s and posted pro-­Trump images on Facebook under the alias Stevo Shaboykins. A caption on one image read, “So Trump is mentally ill . . . he built a multi-­billion-­dollar empire that spread across the world, was able to beat 17 of the best and brightest Republican candidates.”

			The officers entered the VIP area. Praither and fellow detective Whitney Lancaster sat by the stage and waved money at dancer Brittany Walters. They also made comments on the servers’ breasts.

			Stormy then approached Praither and “put both hands on the officer’s buttocks, both hands on the officer’s breast, then put her breast in the officer’s face,” according to court documents.

			Praither then arrested Stormy for “illegal sexually oriented activity in a sexually oriented business.”

			Local dancers Miranda Panda (who had started dancing at the club only the night before) and Walters were also arrested under Ohio’s Community Defense Act.

			Sensing a shitstorm, Columbus city attorney Zach Klein dropped the charges against Daniels the very same day.

			The next day, Columbus PD released a statement: “Vice personnel working last night believed they had probable cause that the state law regulating sexually-­oriented businesses was violated.”

			Also the next day, Stormy Daniels tweeted: I’ll be going onstage tonight at Sirens in Columbus to perform for my fans and register voters as planned. Can’t stop the storm. #stormthevote #TEAMSTORMY #BASTA #fearless

			These four right-­leaning detectives saw that Stormy was scheduled to dance at a club a few months after she filed a lawsuit against Trump, and perhaps they thought they would be heroes by barging into the club and arresting her. But it backfired. In June 2019, Stormy sued Keckley, Lancaster, Praither, and Rosser. The city paid $450,000 to Stormy Daniels for the wrongful arrest at Sirens nightclub, trying to make it all go away.

			But wait, there’s more. In 2019, six workers from a club called Kahoots had sued the city for wrongful arrest after police cuffed and brought them downtown, charged, like Daniels, under the Community Defense Act. The cops? Steven Rosser and Whitney Lancaster. The Kahoots employees claimed that Rosser targeted them because his informant, a bouncer at the club, had been fired.

			Rosser demanded the bouncer be hired back, or he would “file a bunch of tickets and implied he would close Kahoots,” read the lawsuit. When the club didn’t rehire him, the tickets came flying in. They finally relented, fired the manager, and rehired the bouncer.

			Rosser, a nineteen-­year veteran who worked Vice from 2013 to 2018, and Lancaster, a thirty-­one-­year vet on Vice from 2016 to 2018, were suspended with pay in late 2018. They were finally fired in the beginning of 2020. In March of that year, they were indicted on federal civil rights violation charges, along with wire fraud.

			Rosser had gotten into a fight with an employee—­referred to as “B.A.” in the indictment—­at the club Nick’s Cabaret. Rosser then logged into the CPD computer network as a fellow officer to submit a false preliminary investigation report that stated that B.A. was a threat to Rosser. With this information, the CPD got an arrest warrant for B.A., arrested him, and he spent four days in jail. The city dismissed the charges.

			The cops were also charged with violating the civil rights of employees at the Dollhouse gentleman’s club, and defrauding the Fort Rapids Indoor Waterpark Resort, where they were accused of double billing the hotel for a special duty detail.

			But the question has to be asked: What other things has the Vice squad done?

			Talking with Assistant U.S. Attorney Kevin W. Kelley, there could be a lot.

			Kelley keeps his cards close to the vest, but he did say, “Our investigation is not over. We charged the three so far that we have our strongest cases on . . . but that doesn’t mean that it’s over.”

			When pressed, he responds, “The part I can say that’s obviously on the record is that the Columbus Vice unit no longer exists. So that suggests obviously that there were problems there. I have been working with the FBI looking into a number of cases coming out of the Vice unit.”

			So far.

			Rousting strip clubs seems to be part of the perks of the Vice squad—­not only in Columbus, but in cities across the country. It is almost routine and would have never gotten any notice if not for Stormy Daniels’s megaphone and the murder charges against Mitchell.

			I meet with Bethany Bruner, a reporter with The Columbus Dispatch. She started at the paper days after the Stormy Daniels incident, “so I came in the middle of that shitstorm basically,” she says.

			She learned right away what was happening with the Vice squad.

			“There were at least Mitchell and a couple more that were arresting these girls, taking them to a location, and saying, ‘You do this, you do that, and you can go.’ They did it, get back out on the street. It was just kind of the unwritten rule—­like you just didn’t tell anybody. But they would essentially rape these women.”

			Bethany’s articles about the crimes are in the court documents, attached to a change-­of-­venue motion, as Mitchell claims her reporting would affect the jury pool in Columbus.

			“Every time the news media covers anything on Mitchell, the community’s disgust is evident,” read the motion. “He receives death threats by social media, and wishes of death by social media.”

			Yeah, no shit.

			A motion by the defense read that on the day he killed Donna, Mitchell “began the day at firearms training with six others from the Division, per department policy and training manuals mandate. After finishing around 10:30 a.m., Andy Mitchell went to the Westside of Columbus to perform his duties as a Vice officer, attempting to combat and curb prostitution. While navigating the west side of Columbus, he was approached by a person he had never known by the name of Donna Castleberry.”

			The defense continued to fight. They stated in a motion that Mitchell “is only entitled to use deadly force when the suspect became his knife-­slashing assailant, causing him serious bodily harm, and forcing him to believe that death was imminent. . . . We are here because while Andy Mitchell was protecting and serving the community, he was brutally attacked by a person, albeit 116 pounds, but with fentanyl and cocaine coursing through her veins, as he was slashed with a 4-inch blade and choked until he almost lost consciousness.”

			Right.

			By the way, Mitchell was two hundred pounds. And had a gun.

			After all these stories came to light, police chief Kim Jacobs suspended the Vice squad on September 6.

			On September 26, Mitchell was arrested at Port Columbus Airport. He was en route to Las Vegas. On September 27, the chief threw up her hands and asked the FBI to come in and investigate the squad.

			The next day, they raided Mitchell’s place. In the ensuing months, Vice cops Rosser and Lancaster were relieved of duty, though they still collected checks for more than a year.

			On March 7, 2019, Mitchell was indicted. The Department of Justice put out a press release four days later. To hear all the charges articulated by the lead law enforcement office in the land was damning, to say the least.

			COLUMBUS, Ohio –­ A Columbus Vice Detective has been arrested and charged with crimes related to kidnapping victims under the guise of an arrest and forcing those victims to engage in sex for their freedom . . .

			According to the indictment, Mitchell, while acting under color of law, deprived victims of their civil rights, namely, the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures.

			Specifically, in July 2017, under the guise of an arrest, Mitchell allegedly kidnapped a victim and transported the victim to a location where the victim performed oral sex for their freedom.

			In September 2017, Mitchell allegedly deprived a second victim of their Constitutional rights and transported the second victim to a location where he forced that victim to have vaginal sex for their freedom.

			Again in summer 2018, it is alleged that Mitchell kidnapped the second victim under the guise of an arrest and transported the victim to a location where he forced the victim to engage in anal sex for their freedom.

			The Columbus PD was reeling.

			Six days after this press release, seven months after killing Donna in cold blood, Andrew Mitchell finally retired from the department. The official classification: he retired “in bad standing.”

			“My analysis in disbanding the Vice Unit was that we had a failure of leadership there, a failure of supervision, so we had to fix that weakness or that vulnerability,” interim police chief Tom Quinlan told the press.

			Vice was replaced by Police and Community Together Team (PACT). The big change? Only uniformed officers could make arrests.

			In January 2020, a federal grand jury indicted Mitchell on three federal counts of depriving individuals of their civil rights while acting under the color of law; two counts of witness tampering; one count of making false statements to federal agreements; two counts of obstruction of justice; and one count of destroying or removing property to prevent seizure.

			When denying him bail, the US Attorney’s Office wrote, “The victims and witnesses who will provide testimony against the defendant are terrified of him. They fear that they will be retaliated against by the defendant and other law enforcement officers because they have come forward to provide evidence against a police officer. These fears are not unfounded. Multiple victims, when asked if they had reported these incidents, consistently responded that they could not ‘report it to the police because it was the police.’ The defendant further instilled these fears by telling them ‘even if you reported me, no one will believe you because you are just a prostitute.’ ”

			Digging more into Mitchell, I learned that since 1994, he operated a side business under Mitchell Properties, LLC. He owned forty properties across Columbus. And he had tenants in those properties. And when certain tenants were short on rent, Mitchell allegedly asked for sex as payment.

			One of the motions of The United States of America vs. Andrew K. Mitchell read:

			The federal investigation has identified multiple women—­some of whom work as prostitutes, most of who are drug addicts, all of whom are vulnerable members of our community—­who were tenants of the defendant’s rental properties and traded sex for free or reduced rent from him.

			You want to pile on this piece of shit? The nonprofit news org The Appeal learned that Mitchell had 381 evictions of tenants dating back to 1996—the highest number in the state. The properties also had thirty-­seven violations filed by the city. Rapist. Murderer. Slumlord. Police officer. And looking at his property records, he actually had one apartment within a few blocks of Jayme Bowen’s house—­Jayme would have walked past it the day she disappeared. There was nothing connecting Mitchell to Jayme, but it makes you wonder.

			Donna Castleberry’s family filed a civil suit against Andrew Mitchell and chief of police Kim Jacobs. In November 2020, the city settled the suit, agreeing to pay Donna’s family $1 million. Mitchell was the first active police officer to face a murder charge in Columbus in more than two decades.

			While in Columbus looking into all these charges and trying unsuccessfully to get the police to talk, I check in with Scott Greene, Danielle’s dad.

			He’s ninety days in recovery.

			“Actually,” he says, pulling out his phone and opening an app. “Three months and 14 days. 103 days, or 8,899,200 seconds. It breaks it down. It’s something just to keep me motivated.”

			Scott used to be in sales. He excelled at sales. Then he tweaked his back. Three back surgeries later, he was taking thirty milligrams of Oxy a day.

			He had his own apartment. Danielle would come by for a few days. “That’s when she was just really smoking pot and I know she was drinking. She might’ve been experimenting with pills, but nothing serious at that point.”

			Scott eventually moved to Tampa, Florida, and found a doctor who would keep him in pills. Even after he had to move back to Ohio, he would fly down to see his doctor, get a prescription, then fly back to Ohio to get it filled. By the end of 2012, his addiction got so bad, his residence consisted of a tent in the woods with his girlfriend. But he would eventually kick. He would make money—­good money, about a hundred bucks a day—­hauling scrap metal around railroad tracks they lived near. One day, as he was lugging stuff in a cart, the wheel got caught on a railroad track and Scott threw out his back. He couldn’t move. He somehow got to the tent.

			“I was laying in a tent for two days in tears, hurting. My girlfriend was like, ‘Snort some of this.’ ” It was heroin. “I was like, ‘No, I’m never going to do that.’ After two days of hurting, I finally broke down and snorted just a little bit of it. It was just like I took one of the pain pills. No different. Needless to say, I got addicted.”

			Scott would kick and relapse. Kick and relapse.

			The first time I met him, during the filming of the Crime Watch Daily segment on his daughter’s murder, he wasn’t using. But he was sweating and struggling from withdrawal symptoms. A few months after that, he relapsed hard. “I was just like, I don’t know. The only way to say it, I went over the deep end. Didn’t have any cares anymore.”

			He ODed again. That would be the seventh time he ODed, revived by Narcan, the nasal spray that can reverse respiratory suppression during an overdose.

			Now we are sitting here at ninety days.

			“I just got sick and tired of being sick and tired,” he says. “Same day, every day, doing nothing. Literally, I laid in bed for a good two years, didn’t do anything. I would shower twice a week maybe, if I was lucky.”

			Scott gets more animated. “Looking at my daughter’s picture every day, talking to her every day. Keep her with me. Just that and honestly, my youngest son, Dylan. He’s due to be a dad any day. He sent me these messages and just calling me a piece of shit, told me I wasn’t a real man. He was right. For the last six to eight years, I hadn’t really been there.”

			Scott is trying to fix all that now. “I feel better now than I have in a long time. Being able to go out and buy some nice clothes and new shoes, a phone, not having to worry about not being sick or when I’m going to get the next high. It’s just an awesome feeling.”

			Scott’s been thinking a lot about Danielle in recovery. A counselor in rehab asked him if he had seen her body after she was murdered.

			“No,” he replied. “It was eighty-­five percent skeletonized.”

			“Well,” the counselor countered, “have you asked to see the crime scene photos?”

			Scott stopped her right there. “I get it. Go to a funeral home, you see a person and that helps you with closure. But with me, I find myself thinking sometimes, maybe she’s just missing and they got the wrong girl.”

			The counselor stayed on him. She told him that seeing the photos could help him heal. It gave him pause. “I’m not saying that I want to do it,” Scott says, through a muffled voice. “But it’s a thought that’s crossed my mind. Does that seem morbid?”

			“Absolutely not,” I answer.

			When we first met, we went out to where Danielle’s remains had been found. But it was private property, so the detectives showing us the area wouldn’t let us walk down the path to the creek behind the field. Instead, we stood on a bridge above the creek, probably six hundred feet from where the killer dumped his daughter’s body, and through tears he said he hoped whoever did this would get the needle.

			Now he’s about to tell me what else he was thinking.

			“Looking down at the creek that day, I was just wondering, like I’m watching a movie in my head. Did she run down the creek? Was she tossed from a vehicle into the creek? They tried to say no, that couldn’t have happened because they checked all the weather and stuff like that and said the creek wouldn’t have been high enough. But as little as she was, it wouldn’t have taken much.” Scott breaks away from his hundred-­yard stare. “Maybe they tossed her and just threw her over the side of the bridge into the creek and she just drifted down. They were trying to say they ruled that out. I knew they took about a hundred pounds of soil from where her body was found. I know there’s something they’re not telling me as far as the autopsy goes.”

			I thought it highly unlikely that was what had happened. Most likely someone drove her body through the field and laid it in the creek. But I’m not going to tell that to him now. Sometimes family members of victims need to work out scenarios in their head as a way to process the horror. I can guide them through the possibilities, but when the emotions are so raw, I can’t tell them they are probably wrong.

			“The guy that owns the property gave me permission to go out there and we finally set a time to do it,” Scott tells me. “And I chickened out.”

			Scott leans back in his chair. A few moments pass. Even in all this, he is clear. This is life out here. An addict in recovery lamenting the murder of his addict daughter. Trying to take any positives he can.

			A friend of his offered him a job, and he took it.

			“My daughter’s death doesn’t have to be in vain; it could be for a good reason. I just realized that. That was one of the things that I opened my eyes to when I went to rehab. Everybody says you can find a positive in everything if you just look. I was thinking, ‘Where the hell am I going to find a positive out of my daughter’s murder?’ But in hindsight, I can say that there is. Because while it was tragic because she was killed, her story can live on and help other people through me.”

			But for damn sure, he also wants to find the man who killed her.

			He’s had a lot of time to think about it.

			“My thought is, maybe one of them escaped, got free. Like my daughter got free and he chased her down and that’s where he found her. Got her and killed her right there. Maybe he was just going to do a body dump with her or something, or vice versa. Maybe he was taking Lindsey and she knew what was going on, she may have ran for it, and the guy picks up the bumper jack out of the back of the van, convenience, and whacks her. Starts stabbing her or whatever.”

			The cops still haven’t tracked down Whiteboy. “I’ve had people look out and find out as much as I can about this Whiteboy. I’ve given everything to him. What kind of car he drives, what model it is, phone numbers. Here it is almost three years. There’s this guy who could very well be the guy who did this and you’re not even doing anything about it. She wasn’t mugged or raped; she was murdered. Do your fucking job.”

			He’s had people contact him randomly on Facebook with information. Names of people. Stories about secret drug stashes, burned-­out houses. That Danielle had stolen from a drug dealer and was killed in retribution. He heard that they were ruling out people with DNA.

			He talked with the coroner, who told him that Danielle had cocaine in her system, but not heroin. “So that ruled out an overdose of heroin, because if she had overdosed, obviously there’d still be some in her system.”

			The case is still classified as a homicide.

			“I just know I want to catch this bastard, and I hope they do it before I find him because it’s hard to say what I’d do. Until you’re actually in that moment.”

			I ask if he had seen CeeCee. I had been trying to get in touch with her, but no luck.

			“Yeah. She came up to me about a week ago. I was just over here at the corner store and I was getting some cigarettes, and I come out and I’m standing here putting the money in my wallet and opening the cigarettes and she walks up to me. ‘Hey, baby, want a date?’ I said, ‘Sierra Phillips?’ She’s looking at me, and I’m like, ‘You don’t even know who I am, do you?’ She’s like, ‘No.’ I said, ‘I’m Danielle’s dad.’ She’s like, ‘Oh, I’m so sorry.’ Couldn’t believe she asked. She was high as fuck, excuse my language.”

			We sit in silence for fifteen seconds.

			“Listen,” Scott breaks it. “The reason why I wanted to talk to you is I just got this message a few weeks ago.”

			He picks up his phone again and opens the Facebook Messenger app.

			“Hi, I don’t know if I have right profile, are you Danielle’s dad?” read a message from a woman I’ll call Lisa.

			“Yes, did you know my daughter?” Scott replied.

			“Yes I did, I was out there on the streets with her. So I was looking up her article and wondering if they had found out anything.”

			“Do you know that cop that was arrested for killing that girl?” Scott wrote back.

			“Yeah,” the woman replied. “I know for a fact Danielle told me a while ago, it just hit me, she used to deal with him. And out of curiosity, I wonder if he had something to do with it. He was a piece of shit cop. I’m sorry you lost her, she was a good person.

			“I think honestly they should ask him just to see if he knows anything. I’m sorry to bring this up, if I’m hurting you, please stop me. I’m just putting things together. I’m always up for talking about it.”

			Lisa told Scott she’d been in recovery since December 3, 2016. Right after Danielle’s body was found.

			“I have a great job. I completely turned my life around. Me and Danielle had a lot in common, I love animals and I know she did too,” she wrote.

			“I’m proud of you for getting clean,” Scott replied. “I, too am in recovery. Just celebrated 90 days clean this past Tuesday.”

			“Aw, that’s great,” she wrote back. “That’s a big step. I’m sure she’s proud of you.”

			Lisa continued: “Yeah, I heard what happened to her a while ago but today I was thinking about her and looked at the article and it hit me. I know it’s weird all this is coming back to me so I had to tell someone. I feel like that’s only right. She used to talk about Andrew Mitchell, which is the cop.”

			Andrew Mitchell.

			“Do you know who that guy is?” Scott asks me.

			“Yeah, I know who he is,” I answer.

			I show him the information on Mitchell. I tell him I will stay on this guy.

			He opens up his computer and shows me a website—­afterdope.org. An animated blue sky with puffy clouds appears. “Welcome! There is hope after dope!” reads the headline. It’s something he started since the last time we met.

			“I created Hope After Dope to help and encourage those suffering from addiction firsthand, as well as those—­family, loved ones, friends, even employers—­indirectly affected by it!” read the enthusiastic words on the website. “At the time, I was just another statistic heading for one of the 3 places addiction was destined to take me: jails, institutions, or death!”

			Scott knows he was destined for death. He’s lost over twenty friends to overdoses in the past decade. And his seven overdoses. At least seven—­he stopped counting. “I should be dead. Narcan was only going to save me so many times,” he says. Danielle’s death sent him back in the spiral. But it also motivated him to pull out of it.

			Scott’s daughter was murdered and her body was dumped in a creek thirty miles from home—­and he still might be one of the lucky ones.

		

	


		
			Chapter 8

			Despair

			Poor white people love . . . heroin . . .

			It’s really bad. Matter of fact, I was coming out of a nightclub in Dayton . . . As soon as I opened my car door, all by myself, suddenly one of these heroin-­addicted whites just pops out of the trash can . . . “I’ll suck your dick for five dollars, man.” . . .

			Obviously I’m joking. This opioid crisis is a crisis. I see it every day. It’s as bad as they say. It’s ruining lives, it’s destroying families. Sadly, you know what it reminds me of, seeing it? It reminds me of us. These white folks look exactly like us during the crack epidemic . . .

			Just say no! What’s so hard about that? . . .

			Now you finally got it right, once it started happening to your kids you realized it’s a health crisis. These people are sick. They are not criminals. They are sick.

			—­Dave Chappelle, Ohio resident, from the 2019 Netflix special Sticks & Stones

			I want you to think about this number: There were 16,425 murders in the US in 2019. That same year, 70,630 people died of drug overdoses, and 49,860 of those overdoses were opioid-­related.

			The homicide rate is dropping. In the early 1990s, ten out of every hundred thousand people were murdered in America. Now we’re at six out of every hundred thousand. But the opioid overdose rate? It is climbing. In the twelve months ending in May 2020, eighty-­one thousand people died of drug overdoses. Those are the latest numbers from the CDC. Two hundred and twenty-­one deaths every day. A 9/11 every two weeks. Twenty-­five out of every hundred thousand people dead of an overdose. No one noticed, because COVID-19 was delivering 9/11 death tolls every day. But before COVID, the opioid epidemic was the biggest health crisis of our day.

			And the pills that got everyone hooked on heroin? They are being dispensed at a slower rate. In 2012, there were more than 255 million prescriptions for opioids written—81.3 prescriptions per 100 people. Now we are at 153 million prescriptions written, or 46.7 prescriptions per 100 people.

			Pill companies and doctors (with lawmakers looking the other way) hooked the country on pills—­then took them away. Now the country is searching for the same high on the street and ingesting unregulated drugs that are killing them at a record pace.

			Some are paying for their crimes.

			In 2016, Dr. Hsiu-­Ying “Lisa” Tseng was convicted of murder for prescribing oxycodone and Vicodin in exorbitant amounts to numerous patients in her care, leading to the deaths of fourteen victims, though she was only charged in the deaths of three. Vu Nguyen, twenty-­nine, of Lake Forest; Steven Ogle, twenty-­five, of Palm Desert; and Joseph Rovero, twenty-­one, of San Ramon, all died under her care. Family members of victims had asked her to stop prescribing opioids. But Tseng persisted. She pulled in $3,000 a day. She got thirty years to life.

			Fifty-­five-­year-­old osteopathic physician Regan Nichols of Oklahoma was arrested and charged with five counts of murder after prescribing 1,800 painkillers to five of her patients over the course of four years. All five died.

			Dr. Thomas Keller of California was charged with murder after allegedly overprescribing opioids to five patients, all of whom died under his care. He was acquitted of two charges, but the jury hung on the other counts in 2020.

			In 2019, Dr. William Husel of the Mount Carmel Health System was charged with twenty-­five counts of murder. His weapon of choice, according to the state: prescribing fatal doses of fentanyl. Husel handed out the pills to people who were often unconscious or gravely ill. Charges are pending.

			In 2019, the Department of Justice indicted thirty-­one Columbus doctors, along with eight nurses and seven pharmacists, for handing out millions of opioids—350,000 prescriptions. “More than thirty-­two million pills,” assistant attorney general Brian Benczkowski said at a news conference. “The equivalent of a dose of opioids for every man, woman, and child across the states of Ohio, Kentucky, Tennessee, West Virginia, and Alabama combined.”

			An hour southwest in Dayton, the DOJ alleged that a man named Morris Brown ran a pill mill out of Dayton Primary & Urgent Care Center on West First Street, doling out more than 1.75 million pills from 2008 to 2017. He pled guilty in 2020. One of the doctors in the roundup was trading pills for sex.

			If you rank your serial killers based on body counts, the collective serial killers of the pill industry blow Gacy, Dahmer, and Bundy away.

			But what about the makers of the pills themselves? We had seen attempts to hold the feet of big companies to the fire before when it came to knowingly murdering civilians.

			In 2017, R.J. Reynolds Tobacco, Philip Morris USA, Altria, and Lorillard were forced to spend millions of dollars in newspaper and TV ads, admitting, “Cigarette companies intentionally designed cigarettes with enough nicotine to create and sustain addiction” and “More people die every year from smoking than from murder, AIDS, suicide, drugs, car crashes, and alcohol, combined.”

			That was a far cry from the ad six major tobacco companies at the time paid to run in 448 newspapers in January 1954. To combat recent studies linking smoking to lung cancer, Big Tobacco’s ad claimed that “eminent doctors and research scientists” said there was no proof that cigarette smoking caused lung cancer and that as an industry “we accept an interest in people’s health as a basic responsibility, paramount to every other consideration in our business.”

			They knew, and they kept going. And they continued to keep going.

			As the tobacco industry got sued, more and more documents came to light, including one from the 1990s, by Ernest Pepples, a lawyer for the United States tobacco manufacturer Brown & Williamson:

			If we admit that smoking is harmful to heavy smokers, do we not admit that BAT [Brown & Williamson’s parent company] has killed a lot of people each year for a very long time? Moreover, if the evidence we have today is not significantly different from the evidence we had five years ago, might it not be argued that we have been “willfully” killing our customers for this long period? Aside from the catastrophic civil damage and governmental regulation which would flow from such an admission, I foresee serious criminal liability problems.

			The tobacco industry defended itself with the notion that every smoker voluntarily assumed risk when they took their first puff. Never mind that 80 percent of smokers started before they turned eighteen and it had been proven that the industry catered to them with their addicting product.

			Those same companies are now targeting children with e-­cigarettes and vapes, hawking flavors like “Gummy Bears,” “Banana Split,” and “Cotton Candy.” According to the 2019 National Youth Tobacco Survey, from 2017 to 2019, high school students’ use of e-­cigs has doubled (from 11.7 percent to 27.5 percent). For middle schoolers, the number has tripled to more than 10 percent.

			More than $8 billion was spent on tobacco advertising in 2019. We didn’t see it on TV or online or in magazines. The majority was retail—­point-­of-­purchase ads. But the companies—­and the sellers—­have never been charged with murder.

			When it comes to the opioid epidemic, the first company on the firing line is Purdue Pharma, the manufacturer of OxyContin, which was approved at the end of 1995 by the FDA for pain relief. A pill that worked in fifteen minutes and lasted up to twelve hours. A wonder drug that was cheap to manufacture.

			Purdue, owned by the Sackler family, sent out hundreds of sales reps to visit family practitioners—­especially those who wrote a lot of scripts for pain. And by 2000, Oxy prescriptions were flying out of the pharmacy to the tune of $1.4 billion in sales, an incredible achievement for a product less than five years old. By 2004, sales hit close to $2 billion. By 2010, they hit $3 billion.

			They had created a market. And they knew what they were doing.

			In 2007, Purdue Pharma paid out $634.5 million in fines after pleading guilty to charges from the federal government that they knew but didn’t disclose the dangers of OxyContin. The company had been pushing the drug’s time-­release formula, saying it was less addictive than the faster-­acting Vicodin. Doctors—­believing the sales pitch—­prescribed more and more Oxy. And more and more people got addicted, and died.

			They knew.

			Three Purdue executives—­the president, Michael Friedman; a lawyer, Howard R. Udell; and the former medical director, Dr. Paul D. Goldenheim—­pled guilty to misdemeanor charges of misbranding, and each paid millions in fines. But no jail time.

			And the drug kingpins the Sackler family themselves? They remained unscathed. They continued to rake in billions of dollars. And people continued to die.

			A 2008 email by Purdue scion Richard Sackler—­written less than a year after the slap-­on-­the-­wrist fine—­revealed that the company pushed higher doses to increase the bottom line: “measure our performance by Rx’s by strength,” Sackler wrote, “giving higher measures to higher strengths.”

			By 2012, doctors were writing 255 million prescriptions a year.

			When sales started slipping in 2013, the Sacklers brought in consultant group McKinsey. A complaint out of Massachusetts revealed that Project Turbocharge was implemented to “drastically increase OxyContin sales calls and change the way Purdue targets prescribers.”

			They began targeting “the highest-­prescribing doctors and sending sales reps to visit each prolific prescriber dozens of times per year. McKinsey pointed to a ‘true physician example’ in Wareham, Massachusetts, who wrote 167 more OxyContin prescriptions after Purdue sales reps visited him.”

			Who were the scripts being written for? Like Dave Chappelle said at the beginning of this chapter: white people. White people make up more than three-­quarters of all opioid deaths.

			Between 2013 and 2015, over forty-­eight thousand doses per million people were being ingested in the United States. The closest country to that number was Canada, with thirty-­four thousand per million.

			The barn door was open, and state and federal authorities attempted to rein in the pill pushers, regulating prescriptions.

			In the first ruling against a drug manufacturer during this epidemic, Johnson & Johnson—­the company that supplied the majority of the ingredients to make Oxy—­was ordered in 2019 to pay the state of Oklahoma $572 million to cover treatment for their addicted population. The state had asked for $17 billion. At the time of this writing, there are two thousand lawsuits against drug manufacturers making their way through the courts.

			As I write this in the fall of 2020, Purdue Pharma admitted that they “knowingly and intentionally conspired and agreed with others to aid and abet” physicians as they prescribed medication “without a legitimate medical purpose.” They agreed to pay $8.3 billion in damages and shutter the company. The Sackler family would pay $225 million. In the nine years following the first case where Purdue admitted they lied about the addictive nature of Oxy, the Sackler family personally made more than $4 billion.

			More than 450,000 Americans dead since 1999.

			They knew.

			David Sackler, Jonathan Sackler, Kathe Sackler, Mortimer Sackler, and Richard Sackler. Are the Sacklers a family of serial killers? People argue that you can’t hold a gunmaker accountable for a mass murder. Or hold the tobacco industry responsible for smoking deaths. But the difference between these three examples is that the gunmakers know their product kills people, but they also know their product is for sport and protection. Tobacco companies know their product can kill people, but they also know it is a lifestyle choice that they fed into with advertising (followed by their addictive additives). But the Sacklers created a product meant to help sick people. For people who suffered with pain. People who didn’t have a choice in the beginning but to try to manage that pain with the drug the doctor told them to use. And the Sacklers exploited that pain, that trust, and used misinformation to hook innocent victims.

			And the government was complicit, standing by with a laissez-­faire attitude as more and more people got hooked and died.

			What could have been done? Many point to Portugal as an escape hatch out of this nightmare. In the 1990s, Lisbon was the heroin capital of Europe. Three hundred and sixty deaths were attributed to heroin each year, in a country of ten million. In 2001, the country decriminalized heroin use, choosing healthcare over punishment when an individual was caught in possession of drugs for personal use. Twenty years later, only twenty-­six people died of overdose. The overdose death rate in Portugal is now one-­fifteenth that of the United States.

			In America, since 2017, overdoses via heroin and the more commonly prescribed pills like Oxy and Vicodin decreased, to fewer than five deaths per hundred thousand people. And there was a big, big reason for that.

			The CDC characterized the opioid epidemic as coming in three waves. The first wave was pills, from 1999 to 2009. The second wave, starting in 2010, added heroin to the mix, with a giant spike in heroin deaths.

			We are currently in the third wave. Overdoses from heroin and traditional pain pills have dropped slightly. Taking up the slack are synthetic opioids like fentanyl and tramadol. The death rate for these synthetics? In 2010, fentanyl was involved in 14.3 percent of the opioid-­related deaths. By 2017, the percentage rose to 59 percent.

			Fentanyl was created in 1959 by Belgian scientist Paul Janssen, the founder of Janssen Pharmaceutica. In 1961, Janssen became a subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson. Unlike heroin, opium, and morphine, which are made from the resin of poppy plants, fentanyl is made in a lab, cheaply. With no farming required, the drug companies saw fentanyl as an inexpensive alternative that could be produced at a larger scale.

			But on the street, it can be cut into heroin and street pain pills without the user knowing—­and it takes only a tiny amount to kill you. I show everyone who asks the photo the New Hampshire State Police forensic lab released in 2016, which shows two vials, one containing the amount of heroin it takes to kill a person, the other the amount of fentanyl. The thirty milligrams of heroin filled the bottom of the vial. You could count each granular speck, as if it was a grain of salt, of the three milligrams of fentanyl it takes to be fatal. It is that powerful.

			Like heroin, fentanyl binds to the mu opioid receptor in the brain. But fentanyl moves much faster, sliding easily through the fat in the brain before clinging tightly to the receptor. Before a user knows it, their life is over.

			When I arrive in Columbus in the winter of 2020, it’s a ghost town. COVID has everything locked down tight. Boards are still up on the government buildings, remnants of the Black Lives Matter rallies.

			I drive through the quaint cobblestone streets of German Village as they give way to the ramshackle houses around Parsons. It is eerie. The cold. The COVID. There are no women working the street. There is no one anywhere.

			Maybe all the business has moved to the west side?

			Before arriving, I had reached out to a crusader named Hollie Daniels, who runs two halfway houses on the west side. Hollie is also a former sex worker who walked the same streets as the women she now is helping save.

			Every week, Hollie passes out what she calls “hygiene bags” to the women walking on the west side. Shampoo, conditioner, soap, toothpaste, toothbrush, condoms, sanitary napkins, tampons, bras, and panties. Coats in the winter, tank tops in the summer. And always a freshly made meal. It is all donated—­no government grants yet. From 5:00 to 7:00 every Sunday night, she is there.

			“Why do you do this?” I ask.

			“Because at one point in time in my life while I was out there, I would have done anything to have a toothbrush and toothpaste.”

			Hollie was out there for seventeen years.

			Her mother was trafficked at eleven. She had gotten addicted to crack cocaine, became pregnant from a trick, and had Hollie when she was sixteen. She promptly gave her new daughter to her grandparents, who lived ninety minutes outside of Columbus. Hollie waited for her mother to come back and visit her—­but she never came. And this devastated her. Meanwhile, her grandparents let her do what she wanted, so at eleven she started drinking and smoking weed. At twelve came crack and sleeping with boys. At fifteen, Hollie was living in a group home. She got in trouble and her grandmother wouldn’t take her back, so she went to live with her mother in Columbus, “probably one of the worst decisions I could have ever made.

			“Within no time—­I don’t think it was even two weeks—­I’m smoking crack cocaine with my mother, and within a month, I am prostituting on the streets of Columbus with my mother.”

			She met one of her mother’s regulars. He had been seeing her mother for a while, and she always talked about Hollie. One day the regular told Hollie, “You’re already doing it for free, so why not get paid for it?” He was her first customer. Her mother made Hollie split the money with her.

			“I longed for that relationship with my mother,” she tells me over coffee in a shop on Main Street in downtown Columbus. “I would have done anything to be close with her.”

			Hollie began sex work full-­time, seeing upwards of ten men per day. She started out charging $225—she wouldn’t take any less. “But the longer you’re out there, the more wear and tear you have, or the older that you get, the less you get paid.”

			The men came in all shapes, sizes, and professions. She rattles them off with ease: “Pastors, sheriffs, police officers, lawyers, doctors, nurses, business professionals, entrepreneurs, real estate agents. I’ve dated a common warehouse worker or a fast-­food worker. I’ve seen ugly men, young men, bodybuilders, old men. There is no category that any of them fall into.”

			Hollie uses the term “dates” for her customers. But she has a distinction for what she went through.

			“There’s supply and demand. But if you ask me, payment isn’t consent. It kind of feels like being raped multiple times a day. I can’t remember one time where I enjoyed the sex that I was getting paid for. Never did I have an orgasm in seventeen years. Never did I want to be with this person or enjoy their company or find them attractive in any way. Even the attractive ones weren’t attractive because of the situation. Payment isn’t consent.”

			She “dated” a sheriff’s deputy, who would take her to a hotel with a jacuzzi and provide her cocaine, when she was under eighteen.

			Cocaine and speed were Hollie’s drugs of choice. At twenty-­eight, she was introduced to heroin. Snorting it. Smoking it. Shooting it. Then eventually selling it with her boyfriend. She lived out of hotels and trick houses. And experienced everything short of being murdered.

			“I’ve been raped. I’ve been beat. I’ve been kidnapped. I’ve been held hostage. I’ve gotten in cars I didn’t think I was going to get back out. I’ve been raped more times than I can count on my fingers and toes. Some of them I can’t even recall. Some of them, they are etched in my memory for the rest of my life. I’ve been shot at. I’ve been stabbed. I’ve been in so many SWAT raids that I can’t even remember. That’s a traumatic experience all in itself. I’ve been deemed just a criminal, but in actuality, I was the victim.”

			One of Hollie’s pimps—­she almost always had a pimp—­punched her in the jaw and let two women beat her when she bought $20 worth of drugs with money she had just made herself. She never received any money from her work. It always went to her pimps. This one pimp also punished her for using needles by giving her a black eye, stripping her of her clothes, and having the other women spit on her.

			She turned thirty-­two years old in 2014 and had been using hard drugs for twenty-­one years of her life. She had been selling her body for seventeen years. She had fifty misdemeanors, ten felonies, and five convictions under her belt. She was arrested again. She was tired.

			“Tired of it always being my life,” Hollie says, the coffee in front of her now cold. “Streets, institutions, jails, prisons. They tell you the next thing is death.”

			A woman approached her when she was sitting in the Franklin County jail—­a social worker—­and asked her if she wanted treatment.

			“I said, ‘Yeah. Please. Save my life.’ ”

			Her case was evaluated by an addiction-­recovery program called Amethyst, and she was accepted. But she says the judge refused to let her go. “The judge didn’t even look at the papers of acceptance. He shoved them off the bench onto the floor and sentenced me back to prison.”

			In prison, Hollie went to therapy. As she talked through her story, her therapist realized that her experiences might really help others. She asked her to join a human-­trafficking support group she was starting. Hollie declined.

			“I was like, ‘I don’t need that. I chose to do this, even though I started at fifteen with my mother.’ ”

			The therapist kept asking her. Try it. Just once. The women might benefit from hearing her story.

			Hollie begrudgingly went. And it changed her life.

			“It was like somebody turned the lights on for me,” she tells me. “All that we were going through in these worksheets and the stories that the other women told were just like mine. And all of these things had been done to me.”

			And this is what Hollie realized, and what she wants everyone to understand.

			“Sex trafficking is a slow and gradual push of expanding your boundaries and gaining your trust,” she says. “That’s how these traffickers get you. They pretend to present themselves as boyfriends, as lovers. As friends. As close family members. As drug dealers. They make you believe they’re going to take care of you, that they’ll love you. Or it’s a family member you already love.”

			The common misconception of sex trafficking—­at least in mainstream media—­involves abductions. But abductions account for less than five percent of all known cases.

			“You don’t hear of people pulling up in white vans and chloroforming and stealing you as a child and handcuffing you in the basement . . . It’s not some stranger, usually. Typically, you know your trafficker,” Hollie says.

			The grooming—­the power, the control, the manipulation. The verbal, mental, physical, sexual abuse. That’s what sex trafficking is. “It’s not just like, here you are, go have sex with that man for money.”

			On Christmas Day 2015—also her birthday—­Hollie was released from prison. She spent three months in intense drug treatment. After that, the people at the treatment center told her to find a cause to pay it forward. She started driving around the west side, handing out hygiene bags on the same streets that had enslaved her for seventeen years. Soon she got some helpers, and it became a regular thing.

			She saw hundreds of girls and women—­a lot of girls she knew. It was hard leaving them on the street. Then one freezing February day, she saw a girl asleep on the concrete in front of an abandoned house on Sullivant.

			She said to the driver, “Let’s stop and give her a bag.”

			They stopped the car and approached the girl.

			“She stood up and started walking toward us, and I was like, ‘Holy shit . . . that’s my sister.’ ”

			She was thin, a hundred pounds, much smaller than before Hollie went into prison. She had a black eye. Chalk marks on her arm. Marks all over her face from picking at her skin, a behavior associated with misusing drugs.

			Hollie started to cry. Then the sisters embraced, and they cried together. Hollie wanted so much to take her to get help, but she knew that wouldn’t work.

			“You can’t help women till they’re ready for help,” she says. “You can’t pull them out; they’ll pull you in before you ever get them clean.” Even if they’re family.

			Hollie kept going out every week to hand out bags. It was to help all the women. But it was also the only way to see her sister.

			“I had to casually, consistently, and carefully plant little seeds in her to hear me,” she says. Sometimes she took her to get a meal or ice cream. But her sister was always afraid of getting into the car. She was worried Hollie would turn her in on her warrants and drag her to treatment.

			“She told me, ‘You would fuck up my high and scare me. I thought you were going to take me to treatment.’ I was like, ‘No, sister, just when you’re ready.’ ”

			After eighteen months, she was ready. Three years later, Hollie’s sister was three years sober.

			When she first saw her sister on the street, Hollie says she asked God in that moment how she could fix the situation. She felt she was part of the problem.

			While handing out bags, Hollie noticed a trend. She helped women get into a treatment program. And they did great. But then they graduated from the treatment facility and Hollie learned they either overdosed and died, or she saw them back on the street in a few weeks.

			“They would go back to toxic environments and family members who created the relationship in the first place,” she says. “Johns, sugar daddies, tricks, boyfriends, dope boys . . .”

			Hollie started Sober Living, a halfway house. “I wanted to have something where I was hands-­on and I would be able to help you make good choices, help you get jobs and get back on your feet, get case management and counseling and continuity of care for treatment.”

			I get in her car, and she drives us from the coffee shops and government buildings lining South High Street over to the west side, to one of her two halfway houses.

			Tonight, I’ll help her hand out bags on Sullivant. But she has work to do before we hit the street. We walk through the small home, and she sets me up on the back patio, where I meet a woman named Teri. Teri tells me her story of how she found Hollie.

			Teri grew up in Cleveland. She was a straight-­A student in middle school. At fourteen, she was beaten and gang raped at school. She dropped out and started working at a strip club. Eventually, she began to use the club for a sex work side business.

			After she had her second son, Teri had a tubal ligation. It was painful. One of her brothers came to her “rescue.”

			“My brother introduced me to that pain pill that day,” she remembers. “It was Lortab 10, a blue Watson. I’ll never forget.” Teri got sick afterward, so her brother advised her to snort the next one. She was twenty-­four years old when she started. “That was my experience with opioids. And I fell in love.”

			Right around that time—2007—Teri’s life began falling apart around her. Her sister-­in-­law died of an overdose on December 12. Then her brother, whom she describes as her best friend, overdosed on December 23. He also died. Her other brother then lost his wife and son. He started using heroin and ended up taking his life with the drug in November 2013.

			Teri suffered a lot of trauma at home, so doctors took pity on her . . . with pills. “There is so much trauma and stuff that I just kept getting high and they were just giving them to me,” Teri tells me. But eventually that pipeline stopped, and she had to go to the streets, buying one to two hundred dollars’ worth of pills each day.

			That wasn’t sustainable either. Then, in 2009, her brother was put in touch with a doctor in Florida who ran a pill mill. Teri started doing Florida pill runs.

			“We were taking people from Ohio to Florida and the doctor we had was great,” she says. “He was giving me 200 Oxys, 90 Dilaudids, 120 Loritab 10s and then 90 Xanax bars. We just ended up staying down there because there was just so much. Sometimes we’d drive it up, twenty hours from Miami if you go straight.”

			“How did that work?” I ask. “How did you get the pills?”

			“The deal was you can go down there to the doctor. You paid $250 for an MRI . . . Then you pay $200, you go through the doctor, and they set you in a room. There’s ten patients, and they kind of forged the MRIs, and they’ll just hand you all your scripts. It’s like a Walmart building. You walk right next door, and you fill them. They were filling them for $2 a pill, and if you had Medicaid and were a resident, they filled them for free. So it cost $475 dollars to make $5,000. Up here they’re $32 apiece. They were at that time. Which we ate most of them. Some of them made it back, but you know.”

			Her brother eventually got caught on one of the runs and received eight years in prison. Another pipeline shut down.

			In 2016, Teri quit the clubs—­and the side sex work they offered—­and worked the streets of the west side, hustling and selling drugs. She had run-­ins with the Vice cops. “Crooked as shit,” she says. “Either they beat you up and take your stuff, or they touch you, do whatever the hell they want. And it’s okay. Nobody is going to believe you. It happens all the time.”

			During all this time, Teri was overdosing. Over and over and over again. At least ten of the women she knew on the west side have died of overdoses. And it shows no sign of stopping. She’s just waiting for the next one to fall.

			I ask about the nasal spray that could save someone from an overdose. “Does everyone you know carry Narcan, then?”

			“No,” she replies.

			“Why not?”

			“Sometimes you’re just at that point where you’re tired. It’s hard. It’s hard being on the street. It’s hard fighting that. A lot of people just . . . there’s no way out. And even if you do go to treatment—­they put you through treatment but then you go right back to the streets. I was tired, I was done. I overdosed twelve times. Every single hospital in Columbus has a record of me overdosing. Had the body bag out.”

			“They had the body bag out?”

			“That was my first overdose at my mom’s house. December 13. When I woke up, they were like, ‘You were gone so long.’ On the front porch, they were like, ‘We had everything ready for you.’ I was like, ‘Holy shit.’ I just didn’t care. I was done. There was no way out.”

			“What made you finally go into recovery and stick to it?”

			“Between the murder”—­in 2019, she witnessed her boyfriend stab and kill a man in a scuffle over a book bag; he pled down to manslaughter—­“and the fact that I just wouldn’t die. I was to the point either I’m going to have to try this and I said I’m going to give it my all one good time.”

			“Did you want to die?”

			“Yeah.”

			“Were you trying to overdose each time?”

			“Yeah.”

			“It wasn’t accidental, like with all of the fentanyl overdoses?”

			“Maybe once or twice. But I was okay with that. It got to the point where last couple times I overdosed, I told my boyfriend, ‘Meet me at the hospital.’ I knew I was going to do that amount. I was ready.”

			As Teri tells me this, she doesn’t sound sad. She doesn’t sound desperate. This is simply the way her world was.

			“When you went to the hospital, what happens?”

			“Nothing. They Narcan you, I walk in, I say, ‘Lick ’em, leave ’em.’ Sign yourself right back out. When you overdose or you’re high, nobody gives a shit. If it’s in your system, they don’t care about you. Like when you go to the hospital and try to get help, they don’t care about you. They don’t care. They treat you like the next. There’s no way out.”

			In her quest to kick the drug, Teri went to four treatment centers, back to back to back to back. The last one is sticking—­because of Hollie’s house. Teri is seventeen months sober.

			“Hollie cares. I’ve never had family or anybody who gave two shits. She’s been there. She’s got our back. She’d do anything for us.”

			And Teri is launching a new career. “Since I’ve been here, I’m about to graduate my dental assistant program. I’m going to have a real job, a real future—­I did my first crown last week!” she says with a giant smile. “That was awesome. We got to make temporary crowns in class.”

			But it’s called a halfway house for a reason. Eventually, her bed will be needed for someone else, and Teri will have to venture back out.

			“I have a fear of going out in the world,” she says. “I fear it.”

			Hollie’s goal is to be running five houses in the next three years. But there are only so many Hollies to go around.

			We leave the halfway house and drive through the gentrifying neighborhood of Franklinton, heading toward the Hilltop, where the women all walk and the men drive to meet them.

			It is the kind of cold that makes your joints crack and your bones feel brittle. But the women are out there. I’m on bag duty in the back seat. We pull up to a woman on the street, I collect a bag, put in a scarf, and pass it up front.

			We pull up to a girl on the street. She can’t be older than eighteen. Her middle finger is bandaged.

			“Hi!” Hollie says to her.

			“Hi,” she says. “I’m not flipping you off, I promise. I don’t see how it’s just my middle finger.”

			“Did you shoot up and you got cellulitis?” Hollie asks, referring to the bacterial skin infection that can come with shooting up.

			“Yep,” the woman answers.

			“Make sure you wash your hands a lot. I know sometimes there’s not soap and water, but there’s some soap in there, so make sure you keep washing your hands to prevent the infection. Do you want a scarf?”

			“Yes.”

			“What’s your name?”

			“Jess.”

			“Jess, I’m Hollie. Be careful, be safe, okay? Try to get in somewhere warm; it’s getting colder tonight.”

			“Yeah, I know. I sleep in a garage, and I have no heat.”

			The scarves should help a fraction. They came from a donation. Once Hollie received one hundred trench coats. No one would take them. “If I were out here, I’d never get picked up in a trench coat,” Hollie says with a smile. “Just making it harder. We are not passing them out, we had to give them to Goodwill.”

			We pulled up to another girl, who is walking with a limp.

			“Do you want a meal and a hygiene bag?” Hollie yells, then recognizes the girl. “Hey, I know you! How are you doing?’

			“Freezing.”

			“Your name’s Kayla, right?”

			“Mhm.”

			“What happened?”

			“I got shot in my knee.”

			“Who did that?”

			“I don’t know. I was just walking out here. They were robbing some other guy, and I was the only one who got shot.”

			“So it was just random bullets?”

			“Yeah, it went through the front of my knee and out the back.”

			“Were you in the hospital for a while? How are you doing now?”

			“Yeah, I was in the hospital for a minute. I’m doing a lot better.”

			“Be safe.”

			We pull away. We see about a dozen women over an hour. In the warmer months, it can get to be up to forty. We start hitting the side streets. Under an overpass, we spy a woman walking toward us. Hollie recognizes her as well.

			“Is that Michelle?” she yells out the window at her. “How you doing?”

			“They making me go back to the hospital to get a COVID test and my phone is dead and I can’t fucking call them.”

			“That’s ridiculous,” Hollie replies. “How are you doing, though?”

			“Doing good, thirty days clean today.”

			“Stay clean. You sure you don’t want one of these bags?”

			“Yeah, I’ll take one. Seven days detox and thirty days inpatient.”

			“That’s good. Are you going to go to Amethyst?”

			“No, they’re helping me get housing. There’s a house on Grubb and Broad that they’re doing an inspection on.”

			“You sure you want to be there?” Hollie asks. That house is a bit rough.

			“That’s what my dad said. I work right there,” she says, pointing to a major company. Her employer is the one making her get a COVID test.

			“You got a job? Oh shit!”

			“I’m making $12 an hour.”

			“Oh girl, you getting it,” says Hollie, smiling. “It’s not the same as what we used to, but you have integrity today.”

			Hope.

			“You look amazing,” the woman says to Hollie.

			“Thank you, you do, too,” Hollie replies. “I’m proud of you.”

			“My daughter’s funeral was yesterday, so I didn’t go back to the shelter,” she says.

			“What happened to your daughter?”

			“She got hit by a car on Mound Street.”

			The way this information was delivered might have been the most shocking thing I saw on Sullivant that day. A woman had just lost her daughter. A little girl. And she mentioned it at the end of the conversation, after greetings and niceties and updates on work and shelters. This by no means shows this woman was heartless in any way. On Sullivant, death is just a way of life. It’s everywhere.

			We pull away.

			“I got her into treatment, and she said she’s still clean,” Hollie says of Michelle.

			Three or four of the women we saw were on the streets at the same time as Hollie.

			“I always feel bad when they say I look good,” Hollie says to me. “Like, I feel conflicted inside ’cause I made it out.”

			People have asked Hollie what the normal time span is for a woman to be out here before they move on. Her response is “Some of ’em don’t, ya know? Some of them spend their entire lives out here, from teenage years to death. Where they die of an overdose. They die by the hand of a trick or a cop.” My mind immediately goes back to the women of Whitechapel and Jack the Ripper. Little has changed.

			It’s a systemic failing for these victims. And it starts at the very beginning. First, it starts with the drug companies like the one owned by the Sacklers that sparked the opioid crisis. From there, it’s the doctors who prescribed the meds with little oversight. Then it’s the lack of—­and cost of—­treatment after someone gets addicted. Once the women need to turn to the streets, it is the legal system treating their plight as a crime rather than as a symptom of something larger. And then if a woman is raped, the system is set up that their rape kit will sit in a closet, untested, for years. Some of their rapists continue to rape other women. And some of these rapists turn into killers.

			When a woman is raped, her body becomes part of the crime scene. She is asked to allow a nurse to collect DNA and other forensic evidence left behind by her attacker. If she agrees to be photographed and swabbed and submits to an invasive examination, the process can take four to six hours. This hard-­won evidence is stored in what is known as a rape kit. But instead of the police and prosecutors using those kits to catch rapists, it’s estimated that there are hundreds of thousands of untested rape kits sitting on shelves in police and crime labs throughout the country.

			Mariska Hargitay, best known as Captain Olivia Benson in Law & Order: Special Victims Unit, made ending the rape kit backlog the number one priority of her advocacy group the Joyful Heart Foundation. “To me, the backlog is one of the clearest and most shocking demonstrations of how we regard these crimes in our society,” Hargitay said. “Testing rape kits sends a fundamental and crucial message to victims of sexual violence: You matter. What happened to you matters. Your case matters.”

			When women and their cases don’t matter, rapists go free to rape again—­and possibly kill. In 2013, police, prosecutors, researchers, and victims’ advocates in Cuyahoga County, Ohio, rocked by the gruesome Anthony Sowell murders and inspired by the extraordinary reporting of former Cleveland Plain Dealer investigative journalist Rachel Dissell, ran an experiment: What if they tested all those backlogged rape kits from 1993 to 2011 and followed the investigative leads the evidence provided?

			As of the fall of 2020, the Cuyahoga County prosecutor’s office Sexual Assault Kit Task Force had conducted over seven thousand investigations, which resulted in the indictment of more than eight hundred defendants. The cases included 906 victims, meaning some of the accused were serial offenders. The conviction rate was north of 90 percent. The average prison sentence was more than ten years.

			How does the backlog lead to serial killings? The lack of processing means attackers are not being entered into the system. We know from history—­such as with the East Area Rapist/Golden State Killer, Cleveland’s Sowell, and Samuel Little, the most prolific serial killer in US history, who copped to having committed more than ninety murders between 1970 and 2005—that many killers evolve from rapists to murderers. And since their DNA is still not in the system, they aren’t caught. On top of that, once the DNA is entered into CODIS, the national DNA database maintained by the FBI, that is only half a step now. The full step is entering the DNA into a public DNA database and doing a familial search to identify the perpetrators. That is how the Golden State Killer was caught—­and how we will catch many sexual homicide killers. But the work has to be done. And as of now, most police departments are not doing the work.

			It’s now dark. Hollie and I are waiting outside of a women’s shelter, hoping to hand out the rest of the bags.

			“The women in this—­I call it ‘industry’ very loosely—­are just treated like trash, like their lives don’t matter,” Hollie says to me as we both shiver from the cold. “The fact that they can’t manage to provide their basic needs because their money is being taken or drug addiction has taken over and they feel like they’re trapped in this endless cycle—­drug abuse, sexual abuse, physical abuse, and there’s no way out.”

			The words are dark, but Hollie is still amazingly upbeat.

			“Everyone is part of the problem. The police they were part of my problem. So we don’t trust law enforcement. We don’t trust judicial officials. We probably don’t trust any social workers because they were in your life as a child—­you probably had foster care systems in your life.

			“You know this doesn’t start with one day waking up saying, ‘I’m gonna be a prostitute.’ Something is so severely broken inside of us to get us to this point. Like, what made us so vulnerable that somebody could see us in our shattered self to take advantage of us, you know?”

			Hollie drops me back off at my hotel and heads back to her houses to apply for grants and set up beds for new women to sleep in. Still so much work to do.

		

	


		
			Chapter 9

			Why?

			Before we keep going, I just want to stop here and ask the question: Why do we need to get high?

			Hard-­core murder readers are going to say something like “He’s telling a story about murders, then goes off on this tangent about why people need to get high?!” But I need to do that right now. You want to skip this chapter and get back to the investigation, go for it. But I need to write this down. And I need to start with the guy closest to me.

			In 1987, I was riding in my dad’s paint truck. He let me use the tape player, surrendering his beloved doo-­wop oldies of CBS 101 for my post-­punk and new wave. I slipped in side two of Joshua Tree by U2. “Red Hill Mining Town.”

			“We scorch the earth, set fire to the sky. We stoop so low to reach so high.”

			My dad turned to me and said, “That’s about drugs.”

			Okay, Dad.

			Three years later, in the summer of 1990, I was riding in the same truck with my dad. I had come back from freshman college orientation, and in one of those late-­night conversations with a new group of friends in a strange new world, I had been introduced to the Velvet Underground. When I got back from Boston, I bought a Best of the Velvet Underground cassette tape at a Kmart. As we drove down Old Country Road on Long Island, I popped in the tape.

			The song “Heroin” came on.

			“That’s my song,” Dad said.

			I had known my dad had done drugs. But I hadn’t known until then that he had done heroin.

			With every person I encounter in this story, I attempt to trace back how it was they came to start using opioids. The deep psychological issues behind the abuse are varied. But I wanted to find out why my dad, the most influential person in my life, started doing heroin. He kicked in his early twenties. He built a life for himself. He started his own business. He raised a family and took me to tons of ball games and playgrounds and everything a kid could have wanted.

			And there is a reason why I never did hard drugs. When I was thirteen, he made me promise five things. The first four:

			Always wear a seat belt.

			Never drive drunk or be in a car with someone driving drunk.

			Never smoke cigarettes.

			Wear a condom.

			Motor vehicle deaths account for one-­third of all teen deaths each year. Cigarette smoking accounts for a half million deaths in the US each year. And the AIDS pandemic was rampant when I was a teenager, with death rates climbing.

			The fifth promise?

			Don’t do hard drugs.

			Learn from his mistakes. But how did he get there? I couldn’t ask him, because while he may have stopped doing heroin in his early twenties, it killed him when he turned fifty. Hepatitis C from the needles obliterated his liver. To get my answers as to why he started, I had to ask those who were around at the beginning.

			Dad grew up a baby boomer. In a house with three brothers and two sisters.

			Two years older than him was Ruthie. Then a year later was Marty. Then Walter. Then my dad. Ricky and Mary came a bit later.

			Six kids crammed into a small Cape Cod house in East Meadow, New York.

			I contact my uncle Walter. I was never close with my father’s side of the family. The only stories of my dad’s youth came from Dad himself.

			Walter tells me that in the beginning, they had a typical childhood. Boy Scouts. Ball games. Leave It to Beaver. They would ride their bikes down the Wantagh Parkway and go fishing at the Twin Lakes. The brothers had their own secret call, like in Lassie. “Woop-­de-­woo.” “Woop-­de-­woo.” They went camping in the Catskills. Their father was a Cub Scout master.

			“Yeah, before the tuberculosis incident, my father was a different person and the family was different.”

			Their father, Howard, contracted tuberculosis and had to go to a sanitarium for a year. And apparently, that’s when the family started to break down.

			“The family took a real crapper at that time,” Walter tells me. “I think that’s when stuff really went bad.”

			My dad started hanging around with “junior hoodlums.”

			“I think he just had no place to go,” says Walter. “You gravitate to what’s there and who accepts you.”

			The family—­six kids with no source of income from their father—­relied on the church a lot to survive. But the kids were still going to school.

			When my dad was in ninth grade, he was in the school cafeteria, wetting the end of paper straw wrappers and blow-­darting them up to the ceiling. He quickly got in trouble and was made to sit at a table with older boys and girls.

			“He was very unhappy to be there,” says my mom, who was a junior. “And I think the first thing he said to me was, ‘You gonna finish that?’ ”

			And that’s how my parents met.

			They went out, then broke up. Meanwhile, my father continued to be a hoodlum. He joined a “youth group” called the Asphalt Angels. And more of a gang called the Jesters.

			“They acted tough and roughed around,” says Walter. “There really wasn’t that much, it was more of a lot of posturing . . .” He pauses.

			“When was the whole tackle box thing?” I ask.

			The tackle box thing. I remembered my dad telling me about the tackle box. His older brother wanted to steal a tackle box from Mo­dell’s department store in East Meadow. But he convinced my father to do it instead. Dad was around thirteen. They got caught. The cops told my grandmother. Without a man in the house, she called her brother, who was fresh out of the navy.

			“He was in Brooklyn, but he drove to the house, and he took care of him,” Walter says. “He went up to the bedroom, and he knocked your dad around a lot. Course, he comes down and says, ‘Oh, it wasn’t so bad.’ But they were screaming, yelling, and crying up there.”

			Dad’s father came back home after a year away and returned to a house with boys who had turned into hell-­raisers. “I think it was ‘I don’t know what to do with this kid. He’s trouble.’ Then boom, kind of blew up. The afterward was very much threatening and a lot of hitting. Somewhere something went wrong,” Walter says.

			He remembers an episode when his father said to my dad, who had been acting up, “ ‘You know what we do with kids who do that? We burn their fingers.’ He grabs him by the arm and he’s gonna drag him over to the stove and I’m young and I’m petrified. I think he’s really gonna burn him. I say, ‘Don’t burn my brother.’ ”

			My dad decided to split.

			His father had a hobby of coin collecting. He would get rolls of coins from the banks and search through them. When he spotted valuable ones, he placed them in books that he stashed around the house in different places he thought nobody knew about.

			One afternoon, my dad was gone. His father came home and started going through his coins. The next thing the house heard was “He cleaned me out! He cleaned me out! Ah, Bill is gone and he cleaned me out!”

			Dad didn’t leave a note. He told his friends false information. But at fifteen, the skinny kid was headed for Los Angeles. He rode a bus nonstop to Los Angeles. When he arrived, he felt bad and mailed the coins back.

			My dad told me stories about California. About getting an apartment at the corner of Hollywood and Vine. About selling encyclopedias door to door—­he said he sold only one set, but the rejection set him up for success later in life by teaching him how to talk to people. About losing his virginity to a sex worker in Tijuana.

			Dad died before I had a chance to fill in the blanks about what else happened there.

			“I don’t know what he says he was doing, but it couldn’t have been too good,” says Walter. “You get off the bus and they’re looking for you. I got a feeling he was picked up and put to work. Something we talked about years later. We both had some problems with guys doing stuff to us. I would not doubt it. That’s the general way things happen out there.”

			“You think he was sex trafficked?” I ask.

			“Yes,” Walter answered. “One of the things he did was cut lawns to make some money. My father had a power lawn mower, so we’d find somebody to cut a lawn for a couple bucks. My father said, ‘There’s this guy over here across the turnpike, go cut his grass.’ And I went and cut the grass, it was a foot high or something. I know when I went to collect—­I was young enough that he was molesting me. I was very much petrified of anything back then.”

			Decades later, Walter told that story to my dad, and according to him, Dad responded, “Oh, don’t worry about it, we’ve all had to do that kind of stuff.” Walter says, “At least that’s kind of the impression. C’mon, you gotta be selling yourself for something.”

			“The look in his eyes when he came back from California,” remembers Dad’s younger brother Ricky. “His eyes told me it wasn’t good.”

			Dad would have never told anyone about that. He was, in the parlance of the day, a man’s man. He wasn’t going to open up in therapy about that. And writing this now, I have no idea if I would have had the courage to ask him if he was trafficked, if he was alive.

			Dad returned back to New York in 1964 and slept on friends’ couches. Then he was arrested for punching a Suffolk County detective in the face while stealing a sweater in a department store. He wouldn’t tell the cops his real name. They ran his picture in the paper.

			The family was vacationing in Florida at the time, seemingly okay with the fact that one of their members was missing. Whenever we self-­righteously question why families didn’t fill out missing reports back in the day—­“wouldn’t someone be looking for them?!”—­I think of this. Someone saw the article and told them: “There’s a picture of Billy in the newspaper. He was in jail. They don’t know who he is.” So the family came back to Long Island.

			Dad was sent to Coxsackie, where New York City and Long Island sent their bad kids. He was there for more than a year.

			When he was released, the government drafted him to serve in Vietnam. He went to his physical, with no intention in hell of joining the army. During his interview, he told the man in charge, “I’ll go over there, but don’t put me in the first wave. Put me in the second wave so I can shoot at the guys in front of me.” At the end, the interviewer asked him, “Okay, I’ve got just one more thing. Can you stand up and turn around?”

			Walter remembers what Dad said: “I told him, ‘Fuck you.’ Because I figured that was just to see if I would obey orders.”

			Dad didn’t go to Canada to escape the draft, like many did at the time. He moved in with his brother Marty in a Cape Cod house in Hempstead, fifteen minutes from where he grew up. And he started spending a lot of time in Manhattan.

			“I don’t know with who or what or when,” my mother tells me. “But that’s where he got into the hard drugs. He didn’t really specify anything, except he did do heroin. I can remember him talking about the Port Authority. Port Authority is a haven for drugs, men looking to pick up girls, young girls coming into the city for the first time—­that kind of thing.”

			And here is the part of the story I don’t know. Because everyone he hung around with at the time . . . is dead. Including his older brother Marty, who was also an addict. Marty had started with painkillers back in the squeaky-clean ’50s. Doctors prescribed his mother an opiate mixed with the acetaminophen in capsules for her arthritis. Marty would open the capsules, take out the opioid pellet, and put back the acetaminophen. Marty and Dad later shot up together.

			But things turned around for Dad. And it was because of a girl. When he was twenty-­one, he showed up at Fortunoff’s, a department store where he had heard my mother was working. He had shoulder-­length hair and a bushy beard. “He was certainly nothing you want to bring home to your mother, that’s for sure,” says Mom. “It was like, ‘Oh my God.’ ”

			Dad soon cut his hair, shaved the beard (but kept the mustache), and somehow kicked heroin.

			“He didn’t really talk about it all that much,” says Mom. “I only cared about how safe he was when I met him again. Because I had two little girls. I was certainly not going to hook up with some guy that was doing that kind of shit.”

			He didn’t know it, but the hepatitis C virus was coursing around in his veins. He had twenty-­nine more years to live.

			But that wasn’t the end of opioids. He had hurt his neck in gym class when he was a teen, which resulted in terrible migraine headaches as an adult. He went to a doctor down the street, who prescribed him Tylenol with codeine and then Darvon.

			“That doctor was a pill pusher,” says Mom. “That’s what he was. Your father would sit there, he would read the whole Newsday. That’s how long he would wait in that office to get those pills. I would say he probably had an addiction to those pills.”

			He took the pills for close to two decades, washing them down with Budweisers. But Mom doesn’t think he was an alcoholic. “I’ve seen a lot of alcoholics and I’ve heard stories and stories and stories and most people cannot stop drinking. Absolutely cannot.”

			Mom knows because she is an alcoholic. She’s been in the program for five years.

			Ironically, when the doctors found the hep C in Dad, they put him on interferon. He kicked all the drugs he was taking and the booze he was drinking.

			Marty died of colon cancer a few years after my father. Walter was able to escape his teenage years without getting hooked on drugs. But sure enough, he’s on opioids now. “Damn if they don’t give me what I need now. They come up with this, ‘The CDC has decided the maximum dose is ninety milligrams of morphine equivalent per day, total dose.’ I was on three times that. So they started cutting me. I said, ‘I don’t have enough.’ Well, CDC says, ‘You got enough.’ ”

			In 1998, my dad died of liver failure due to complications from hepatitis C. He was fifty years old. Heroin took him in the end, in such a strange way. When I watch commercials for expensive drugs that say they can effectively cure hep C, I get physically sick. But he knew he was lucky to have escaped death when he was using.

			My dad was my hero.

			So many of our heroes died from opiates. Accidental deaths. Jim Morrison. Philip Seymour Hoffman. Jimi Hendrix. Janis Joplin. My friend Michelle McNamara died from a combination of fentanyl, Xanax, Adderall, and an undiagnosed heart condition.

			Xanax was for anxiety. Adderall for ADHD. But fentanyl. Fifty times more potent than heroin.

			I had no idea Michelle was taking fentanyl. And I’m not sure what I would have done if I had known. And I’m not sure she even knew she was taking fentanyl, as it’s being added to so many pills you may get secondhand. She was burning the candle at both ends hunting the Golden State Killer.

			The night before she died, her husband, Patton Oswalt, told her, “Sleep until you wake up.” She took a Xanax and drifted off to sleep.

			Fentanyl and Xanax can slow things down—­your head, your breathing, and your heart. Everything slows down to . . . a . . . crawl.

			“There must have been days where she was like, ‘I’ll take Adderall to get up in the morning and, you know, Xanax and Vicodin to get to sleep at night,’ ” Patton said in the I’ll Be Gone in the Dark miniseries we worked on for HBO.

			He told NPR: “She didn’t have chronic pain issues, but she definitely had anxiety and sleep issues, because she would interview the survivors of [the Golden State Killer’s] victims; she would interview family members who had lost loved ones to this guy.

			“So I think over time she really carried it directly on herself, [she wanted] to give these people something like an answer. Even though she didn’t believe in closure, she did understand that the physical act of knowing that a cell door was slamming on this guy would be really, really helpful to these people . . .”

			That was likely what led her down this road of using Xanax, and she was taking Adderall in the mornings to get up. The three days before she died she really didn’t sleep.

			I do a search for Michelle McNamara + Opioid. On two websites, the story is used as a warning.

			“The Death of Michelle McNamara” is the headline of an article from the Boca Recovery Center.

			“Taking Fentanyl Can Kill You” reads the headline on Physician-­Patient Alliance for Health & Safety. “Abstract: The lesson learned from the death of Michelle McNamara—­taking opioids can kill you.”

			Two very important people in my life died from opioids in very different ways.

			“But I have to, because I’m a drug addict.”

			“Take your best orgasm, multiply the feeling by twenty, and you’re still fuckin’ miles off the pace,” wrote Irvine Welsh in Trainspotting about what it feels like to take heroin.

			Sure. But the underlying causes? There are entire careers based on why people do opioids. Did my dad, as a skinny, fresh-­faced fifteen-­year-­old, get taken advantage of when he got off the bus in Los Angeles?

			“These are deaths of despair,” Johann Hari tells me during a phone call. Johann is an addiction whisperer. Fifteen million people have watched his TED Talk: “Everything You Think You Know About Addiction Is Wrong.” In 2015, he wrote Chasing the Scream: The First and Last Days of the War on Drugs. He followed that up in 2018 with Lost Connections: Uncovering the Real Causes of Depression—­and the Unexpected Solutions. He reached out to me at a book fair in Tucson to learn about citizen detective work, and we met for coffee. He is on another level. He produces Russell Brand’s podcast. I resist the impulse to ask him to analyze me all the time. I don’t agree with all his theories, but he makes a lot of sense.

			Johann says the world is experiencing a great period of despair.

			“Have we ever seen anything like this before?” I ask him.

			“In human history? Yeah, there are periods of mass despair followed by huge addiction-­related deaths.”

			He points to two examples.

			The first is the Gin Craze of the first half of the eighteenth century in England. As more and more people were driven from the countryside and crowded into the cities of Manchester and London, slums began to develop. Identities were shaken. The future looked lost. And the population turned to booze.

			Thomas Fielding, a social historian of the time, wrote:

			A new kind of drunkenness, unknown to our ancestors, is lately sprung up among us, and which if not put a stop to, will infallibly destroy a great part of the inferior people. The drunkenness I here intend is . . . by this poison called Gin . . . the principal sustenance (if it may be so called) of more than a hundred thousand people in this Metropolis.

			The true crime case that embodied the problem was that of Judith Dufour, who, needing money to buy gin, killed her two-­year-­old son and sold his clothes. The government declared war on drinking, passing five acts between 1729 and 1751.

			Politicians and historians painted gin, standing as proxy for all grain-­based alcohols, as the devil. “Look at this evil drug gin, look at how it destroys people and takes them over. Now we know it’s not gin that did it,” Johann continues. “It played a role. But what happened was the people were despairing.”

			Despair.

			Johann then points to the massive methamphetamine epidemic that hit Japan in the late 1940s and ’50s. The country had just been defeated and broken in two. “They lost all their meaning in life.” There was a supply of meth from the war efforts, and “the people anesthetized themselves.

			“If you want to understand why people are taking so many painkillers, you’ve got to understand why they’re in so much pain.”

			Despair and pain. It is no accident that the places with high opioid deaths also have the same rise in suicide rates from non-­opioid suicides.

			“It’s much more about meaning,” Johann continues. “Community. Living in a world that makes sense to you. Then suddenly they’re living in this hellscape. And that tracks very closely with the opioid epidemic. People have lost the things that gave life meaning.”

			At the end of 2019, the Journal of the American Medical Association published a study analyzing 112 American car manufacturing counties. They searched from 1999 to 2017 and charted the communities that lost at least one car manufacturing plant. Then they analyzed the rates of opioid deaths in those communities versus the areas where plants didn’t close. In the five years following a plant closure, the death rate from opioids in adults in those counties rose a staggering 85 percent.

			People had lost their sense of where they belonged. People disconnected from each other, from meaningful work, from financial security.

			This has happened in America before. The original sin of America is how this country bulldozed hundreds of civilizations across the continent. Native Americans were kicked off their land. Manifest Destiny stripped Native Americans of the places and things that gave their life meaning. “And what happens,” says Johann, “is a huge outbreak of addiction.”

			It happened in Russia in the 1990s, with the fall of the Soviet Union. Some lost their sense of who they were. And that made looking into the future extremely difficult.

			But marking America’s opioid epidemic as starting in 1999 is telling. The rise of the internet. There were 3.1 million websites in 1999, up from just 2,000 in 1994. Today there are close to two billion. People are disconnected more than ever. Multiple studies link social media to depression. The disconnect between living wage and actual earning is immense. The power is with the rich. Half of all Americans have only $500 in savings.

			The reasons for despair are not hard to see.

			Johann agrees, but he points to the root cause. “The pharmaceutical companies are indeed evil and despicable and beyond wicked people. They are. But it’s too simplistic. It’s a bit like Nancy Reagan blaming the crack epidemic solely on drug dealers. The drug dealer has a role. But why does the person want the drug?”

			Johann keeps going. “If there is a well of despair, people will find anesthetics to remedy that despair. And the real solution is to deal with the despair. The real truth is, all the people that are overdosing, it’s not like if opioids were never invented, their lives would be so great. They would actually be suicidal.”

			And a lack of affordable—­and accessible—­options for mental health might be at the top of the reasons for why we can’t get fixed. But when you think about it, we really never had that. And there are a lot of people who are just not comfortable opening up to a therapist. Are we supposed to toss them aside as casualties of this war of despair?

			Johann brings up Marianne Faithfull, the British rock star who wrote in her memoir: “Heroin saved my life. Because if it wasn’t for heroin I would have killed myself.”

			“And the truth is: Heroin is not a good solution for people’s problems, of course,” he says. “But it is an attempted solution to people’s problems. It’s the only solution a lot of people have been offered to very, very deep pain. Obviously, it’s not a good solution and brings lots of risks and dangers with it. But we have to understand the context in which it happens. It’s not ‘oh the evil drug, the evil drug that took people over. If only we got rid of the evil drug’ . . . It leads to the wrong solutions.”

			Jesus. Are we just screwed?

			My dad made me promise those five things. He didn’t say anything about alcohol. Not blaming him for that. It is what it is. I have a complicated relationship with alcohol. I hate it, and I love it. And I’m an alcoholic. I have rules. Nothing before 5:00 p.m. I can stop for a week, but I am not happy about it.

			When my therapist asks me why I drink, I don’t have an answer.

			And that’s where we are. We don’t have an answer. We are just all trying to survive. Without Dad making me promise to not do hard drugs, I could have been dead by now. Because we all hit despair at various points in our lives. It seems like it’s happening more and more these days.

			I was diagnosed with depression and obsessive-­compulsive disorder when I was twenty-­two. I’ve been on Prozac off and on ever since. It levels me off. I don’t go into the dark places as often as I do when I am not on it. But it’s still not enough.

			I could say I drink because I stay up all night trying to catch these killers. That I can’t open my email messages without getting a letter from a mother searching for justice for her baby or open Facebook without being hit with missing persons fliers.

			I could say I drink because I am escaping the reality that death is huddled right around the corner, waiting for all of us.

			But I won’t say that. I drink to be numb from living. To turn off obsessive thoughts—­some benign, some really dark. When you have suicide ideations, when you are swimming in that darkness—­you can have it one minute, and the next minute, you think to yourself, “What the hell was I thinking?!” I’ve been there as a teen, and I’ve been there as a middle-­aged man. And the best thing a therapist ever told me, which I always try to keep sight of, was to remember—­you are not your thoughts. Your thoughts come and go—­but they are not you. But that’s easier said than done when you are swimming in that darkness. So some people use pills. I drink.

			And I hate it. But that’s what I do. Because the selfish decisions we make leave us having a hard time sitting with ourselves. I drink because I am human and trying to get through the day. My kids and the families of the victims are two things that save me. And I get help, get better, then relapse. Over and over again.

			Yes. But I’m a drug addict.

			The victims are taking drugs to survive. The killers are hunting them as part of their own addictions.

			I needed to find CeeCee. All the numbers I had for her were dead ends, and she hadn’t popped up on Facebook in months. The longer I searched for her and couldn’t find her, the more I thought she could be gone.

			I have no idea what we learned in this chapter. Other than—­don’t judge people for taking drugs. Because you have no fucking idea what is going on in their lives. Don’t judge people for selling sex to get what they need to survive. You know what? Forget the drugs. Don’t judge people period for the same reason.

			Except these assholes we are hunting. We can judge them. And in June 2020, another asshole showed up in Ohio. This time, ninety-­five miles southeast of Columbus, in a town much smaller than the capital city, but with the same problem—­sex workers being murdered and going missing and seemingly no one doing anything about it.

		

	


		
			Chapter 10

			A Hillbilly Elegy

			Around 1:00 p.m. on Tuesday, June 30, 2020, officers pulled up to a one-­story light blue house on Yankee Road in Middletown, Ohio. They were following up on a tip, called in to a 911 operator: “There is supposed to be a person who died of an overdose three days ago at the 3200 block of Yankee Road. As far as I know the body is still there, that’s what I was told. Somebody overdosed a few days ago and somebody put it in a fifty-­five-­gallon drum in the backyard.”

			The tip had come from out of state. A woman who lived in the house told a relative about the death. And the relative, who lived in Tennessee, called it in.

			The officers knocked. A youngish man with long brown hair and a scruffy beard answered the door. They told the man why they were there and asked if they could come in. The man said no. He couldn’t give permission to let them in because it was his mom’s house and she wasn’t home. Then he shut the door and quickly bolted through the house, running out the back door and into his backyard, where he picked up a fifty-­five-­gallon drum and threw it over a fence into a neighbor’s yard.

			The officers detained him as he tried to climb over the fence. Once he was in cuffs, they opened the lid of the drum to find the nude body of a woman. Upon further inspection, they saw that her fingers had been cut off. And she had pieces of skin missing.

			The man was thirty-­five-­year-­old William Slaton. He told detectives that the woman in the barrel had been in his house, using drugs. He said he woke up four or five days earlier to find her hanging in the basement.

			He added that he “used a sharp object to cut off all the victim’s fingers. He then used a razor knife to cut off all of the victim’s tattoos on her body,” according to the complaint written by detective Ken Mynhier. Slaton left her body in the house for a handful of days before moving it to the backyard.

			When detectives searched the house, they discovered a sealed plastic bowl in the basement, containing fingers and the pieces of skin. Police also logged into evidence a book titled Sex Crimes, a brown leather belt, a video camera, video tapes, and a hatchet.

			Slaton was charged with gross abuse of a corpse, failure to report a crime or death, and tampering with evidence, and bail was set for $210,000.

			The headline that came in my Google news alerts for “Ohio,” “Body,” and “Found” was pretty straightforward: “Police: Man accused of hiding body in barrel said he found woman hanging in basement.” The Butler County Journal-­News didn’t want to speculate that this guy was a killer, so they underplayed the scene. But this happened in Middletown. The same place where Brandy English was last seen in May 2016. The same place where Lindsay Bogan went missing and was later found dead in a field in Madison Township in July 2016. The same place where Amber Flack was last seen in September 2016. Where Melinda Miller was last seen six months after that. Where Michelle Burgan was last seen three months after that.

			Middletown was the next hotspot outside of Columbus. Ninety-­five miles away. No one cared about these missing and murdered women in Middletown. But now people might pay attention due to the gruesome nature of the crime. And sure enough, they did.

			“Ohio man arrested after woman’s body found in a barrel on property—­her fingers and tattoos sliced off,” shouted the New York Daily News.

			“The 21-year-­old victim’s naked body was found inside a barrel that was allegedly discovered on Slaton’s Middletown, Ohio, property,” barked People magazine.

			None of the stories mentioned the other missing and murdered women from the Middletown area of the last five years.

			Days after the discovery on Yankee Road, the woman in the barrel was identified as twenty-­one-­year-­old Cecily Cornett of Preble County. The photo the news ran with was of an attractive young white woman with light brown hair, smiling in the sun.

			Christan Sharp was a friend of Cecily’s. They met three years earlier and had been close from the beginning. “She was always very intelligent,” Christan says of Cecily. “She was funny. She was very happy even in her worst moments. She just had a very hard time with things and life.”

			Cecily’s mother passed away when she was very young, and she was raised by her grandparents. A year before her death, Christan says her grandfather caught her smoking outside the house and kicked her out. She then moved into a friend’s barn. “From that point, she was kind of going from trap house to trap house, trying to survive. And there were many of us that tried to help her, but she was so far lost in her addiction, she didn’t know how to get out of that.”

			Christan says Cecily was initially “an upper kind of girl. She liked cocaine, methamphetamines. But she was then forced to take heroin by an ex-­boyfriend.”

			She last talked to Cecily about a week before she died. She says she sounded depressed, “but she had always been very depressed because she lost her mom at such a young age and she never really had a great support system or people who loved her just for who she was.”

			They discussed Cecily going into rehab and sober living. Christan, a recovering addict herself, told her that when she was ready, she would help her. “Because I’m not going to force you to do stuff that you don’t want to do, and then you’re going to end up right back in the same boat. But in her mind, the only thing that was making her depression go away was using.”

			The talk ended on a bright note. Christan was hopeful. Cecily sounded like she was ready to stop using. “It was just a matter of when. Then unfortunately that didn’t happen.”

			Cecily’s friends have tried to piece together what happened—­how Cecily ended up in a house that was known in the community as a meth house.

			“Nobody knows how she knew this guy,” says Christan. “I kind of put pieces together that when you are looking for drugs, you find them. I think that it was ‘I need drugs,’ and he had them.”

			She thinks Cecily went to Slaton’s house that night to score, “and this guy had obviously had plans of sexual intentions with her and then Cecily was never that kind of girl. She had actually been approached numerous times to be a sugar baby for people. She was like, ‘I can’t even do that to myself.’ ”

			Slaton had said Cecily came over to the house to have a threesome with him and his girlfriend. “I think it’s complete bullshit,” Christan says. “I think she went over there to get high. She was given drugs for free, and she didn’t put out. So I think that he strangled her. He raped her, and then he cut her tattoos off of her and her fingers so that she was unidentifiable.”

			And then he put her body in a fifty-­five-­gallon drum.

			Fifty-­five-­gallon drums. They have followed my career as a reporter since day one. Literally. Since the day I knocked on the door of a house in Jericho, New York, where the mummified remains of a pregnant woman were discovered in a drum under the living room. That evening, I called the previous owner of the house, informing him about the find. He blew his brains out a week later, after the cops learned that he had gotten his secretary pregnant decades earlier. He murdered her and left her in the drum. Fifteen years later, authorities came across the bodies of a woman and three children in barrels in Bear Brook State Park. We would learn serial killer Terry Rasmussen had put them there. Now in Ohio, another town with a woman in a drum and a twisted man who buried her in there.

			In October 2020, a grand jury didn’t buy Slaton’s “she hanged herself” story and indicted him for murder and felonious assault, four counts of tampering with evidence, involuntary manslaughter, and three counts of gross abuse of a corpse.

			Cause of death was still not determined by the coroner. But Butler County prosecutor Michael Gmoser refused to wait. “I can string evidence together to prove beyond a reasonable doubt to how she died or I wouldn’t be taking a case to a jury,” Gmoser told the Journal-­News. “Obviously cutting fingers off, surgically removing tattoos, stuffing somebody in a barrel, throwing it over the fence when police arrive at the door and other statements to police all can yield circumstantial and direct evidence beyond what a coroner may say.”

			It’s nice to have a prosecutor with passion.

			Slaton’s background shows he served years in prison for child pornography charges, after being charged with eight counts of illegal use of a minor in nudity-­oriented material or performance and four counts of pandering sexually oriented matter involving a minor. He was released in May 2018. He also has a federal conviction for “conspiracy to murder [a] federal officer.”

			In November 2020, I drive the ninety minutes from Columbus to stand in front of the house on Yankee Road. From across the road, the light blue A-­frame doesn’t seem so sinister. But as I walk closer, I notice the latticework falling off the porch and debris and broken furniture in the yard. I walk past a broken rake and spy underneath a naked trellis a stone with words carved into its front. I bend down to get a better look, thinking it is probably some inspirational words about God or gardening that someone had bought at Hobby Lobby years earlier. “A heart of gold stopped beating, Two Shining eyes at rest. God broke out hearts to prove, He only takes the best,” it reads. The rock appears to be a marker for a buried pet. The creaky steps up to the porch lead to a crooked, dilapidated swing, a weathered garden gnome, wood pallets, gardening tools, a scarecrow on its side, and flowerpots filled with empty prescription bottles. I’ve knocked on a lot of doors in my life. I once knocked on the Amityville Horror house on Long Island. And I watched Silence of the Lambs and experienced Buffalo Bill’s “put the lotion in the basket” house. But I can say with the utmost confidence that the Middletown house was the creepiest house I have ever encountered in my life.

			No one answers the door. Slaton was in lockup. And his girlfriend must have been long gone. This was my first stop in Middletown.

			Historians theorized the town was called Middletown since it is situated roughly halfway between Dayton and Cincinnati. Driving down Central Avenue, the town’s main street, Middletown looks like a prizefighter who is staggering to get to his feet. It reminds me of the main streets of the model train layouts I used to pore over as a kid. Quirky storefronts, weathered signs. For the discerning young entrepreneur who follows the Cheap Old Houses Instagram feed, Main Street is full of potential. It is too historic to fail. There are fresh murals. A quaint coffee shop. A quirky candy shop called Grandpa Joe’s Candy. A bicycle shop called Spoken.

			I arrived in Middletown a week after Hillbilly Elegy was released on Netflix. The movie is based on the 2016 memoir Hillbilly Elegy: A Memoir of a Family and Culture in Crisis by J. D. Vance. The story aims to show how white communities in the Rust Belt were dealing with poverty and addiction. Amy Adams plays Vance’s mother, living in Middletown, struggling to raise a family while addicted first to painkillers then to heroin.

			“I saw a statistic a few weeks ago that in the Ohio county where I grew up, Butler County, deaths from drug overdoses actually outnumber deaths from natural causes,” Vance told NPR in 2016. “And that’s just an extraordinary statistic . . . And it goes to show how really rooted this opioid epidemic is.”

			Vance doesn’t talk about sex work or murders or missing persons in his book. He wrote it before everything went down in Middletown.

			Lindsay Bogan was the first. She was reported missing in September 2015, by her boyfriend—­and the father of her nine-­month-­old baby—­Eric Sexton.

			When he filed the report, he described Bogan as five-­foot-­six, 118 pounds with brown eyes and black hair, and a tattoo of a rainbow on her hip and a star on her shoulder. Sexton, a skinny five-­foot-­five man with glasses and straggly hair, said he last saw Lindsay at 7:30 p.m. on September 13, as she climbed into a silver Dodge Durango at the corner of Central Avenue and Baltimore Street in downtown Middletown.

			Sexton went on the news, playing the role of the worried partner searching for his mate.

			The detective on the case was Middletown police lieutenant Jim Cunningham. He’s no longer on the job—­he retired in 2017 after twenty-­eight years. But he was willing to talk to me. And he laid it all out.

			“She was a heroin addict,” Cunningham tells me. “And she was being pimped out by her boyfriend, Sexton. So, Lindsay went missing, and there was something about it that just didn’t feel right.”

			First, getting the missing persons report was a chore. Cunningham says Sexton was either so intoxicated or so delusional that it took a number of days to get the whole story. And the story didn’t add up.

			Cunningham then pulled the video cameras from businesses near where Lindsay was supposedly last seen. None of them showed Lindsay or a silver Dodge Durango.

			“Where he said she was at. He was watching her as her pimp. And she’s not there.”

			Sexton floated the notion that the person responsible for taking the women in Chillicothe was the one who took Lindsay. Cunningham bought none of it.

			“So, I put together a task force. We were in multiple towns. Multiple counties. To the point where a sheriff deputy from Greene County, which is pretty far away, called me and said, ‘Hey, I got some bones out here—­you want to check it out?’ . . . It wasn’t her, that turned out to be a prostitute from Florida that was dumped there off a trucking line. But everyone knew we were looking for her.”

			Cunningham estimates they talked to close to three hundred people while looking for Lindsay, which is extraordinary for a missing persons case. They executed dozens of search warrants. They tossed close to eighty people in jail for various offenses, all with the hope that one of them might know where she was.

			“We would go into these houses, and somebody would let us in and not knowing that the people that we wanted to talk to were shooting up on the kitchen table.”

			They would pull them in and try to get them to talk. “The goal in this case was to find Lindsay.”

			Police would learn a name, then have to track down that person. They learned that Lindsay and Sexton had last been staying in what were known as sleeping rooms, or shelters, in Middletown. They also received a tip that someone deposited her body in a dumpster across the street from one of those sleeping-­room establishments. But they found nothing. It was just a matter of talking to as many people as they could. “These were street people. They live hour to hour. No one has an address; they go from house to house.” If they found the person attached to one name, they might get another name. Or they might hit a dead end. It went on like that for months.

			They talked to people like Brandy English. She was friends with Lindsay and wanted to help find her. Brandy was a fellow sex worker. They spoke with Amber Flack, another sex worker.

			Eventually, police started hearing the same stories about the same house: 1504 Woodlawn Avenue. And the stories they heard were that someone killed Lindsay in the basement of that house.

			Armed with a lead from multiple sources, police knocked on the door of the house. A man ran out of the basement and escaped. They gave chase but couldn’t find him. The next day, they came back with a search warrant.

			They entered the house and went down to the basement to process a potential crime scene. What they found was a disconnected sewer that had flooded the basement with raw sewage.

			After the possible sabotage of the sewer, they could no longer get any usable evidence. For good measure, a few months later, the house was set on fire. After that, the city put the building out of its misery and demolished it.

			Cunningham continued to search for Lindsay, spending a tremendous amount of effort for a missing sex worker, a rare achievement compared to other law enforcement I encountered on this project. He combed abandoned buildings. Parks. Cemeteries. But then, within one month in 2016, the mystery doubled. Brandy English disappeared. Her daughter reported her missing in May. There were reports that she had been scared and was hiding out in nearby Lemon Township, but no one could find her.

			Then, in September 2016, Amber Flack went missing.

			This project began because in Columbus, two women who were friends, Danielle and Lindsey, went missing within a month of each other and were found dead in the countryside in 2016.

			In the same year in Middletown, we had three women who were friends, Amber, Brandy, and Lindsay, go missing within nine months of each other.

			People wondered if Amber’s and Brandy’s willingness to help the police find Lindsay led to their demise. But no one had any answers, only rumors.

			That was true until July 2016, when a farmer and his wife were cutting hay on their Madison Township farm. They came upon something on the ground and called 911: “We are out here,” said the wife, “and we were cutting hay and we found a pelvic bone and, like, a thigh bone.” She paused then continued. “He just found some other stuff that was buried here, too. It looks like it might be part of a spinal column.”

			It was Lindsay’s skeleton. The bones had been strewn about by wild animals. There was no way of knowing the cause of death. The toxicology report from fluid found in the bones noted meth but not heroin.

			Cunningham’s gut—­and the toxicology report—­was telling him that Lindsay was murdered. For a while, he even looked at Chillicothe for a possible answer, but he ultimately didn’t think there was a connection. Then he started hearing stories on the street of a more personal motive behind the murder, with multiple people having a hand in Lindsay’s demise.

			“They had her for a couple of days. I think they were shooting her up to control her.”

			“Control her why?” I ask.

			“We had information from a number of people that she wanted to leave the scene. She was done prostituting with this guy. She wanted to sever her relationship with this guy.”

			Cunningham describes Sexton to me. “You have to picture this guy. He’s five five, he’s got glasses, you couldn’t wash him enough to get him to not smell from body odor. He’s cracked out, methed out. He hasn’t slept in days and days and days. His world is Lindsay working the street to get money for drugs.”

			Sexton was not a master criminal. He hadn’t thought things through. “Everything is immediate. Everything is right now in his world.”

			Cunningham never procured proof to charge anyone with murder.

			“I know he did it,” he said. “He directly had something to do with it. But I don’t have enough.”

			Could Sexton be a serial killer? Cunningham doubts it. “He is limited from who he could get a ride from and where he can get Wi-­Fi access from. His mom did a lot of his transportation for him.”

			These guys and their mothers. I remember what Slaton said when the cops came to his door after the 911 call about a body in a barrel: “You can’t come in, because it’s my mom’s house and she’s not home.”

			Cunningham was able to arrest Sexton for having “supervised, managed and/or controlled the prostitution activities of Lindsay Bogan by offering her sexual services in exchange for money to others.” Sexton was sentenced to nine months in prison.

			At the time, Julie O’Neill and Greg Noble interviewed Cunningham for the local ABC affiliate WCPO. He sounded frustrated. Frustrated that he went all over town following lead after lead when it was a missing persons case. Frustrated that so many people—­he estimates fifty—­lied to him while he was investigating. “We’ve charged multiple people with obstructing official business in this case that deliberately deceived us in order to make a personal gain. It’s absolutely unbelievable to me that so many people would lie in a case like this,” he said. “People came out of the woodwork trying to give us information on this case that was just absolutely false.”

			Why those people would give false information is anyone’s guess. They could have been looking for favors or trying to get rid of a rival or they knew the truth and were trying to send the police on the wrong path.

			Last Cunningham heard, Sexton was living under a bridge in Franklin, Ohio. And he had another woman staying with him under that bridge.

			The amount of people who attempted to derail the investigation into Lindsay’s death was staggering. But there were two women trying to help—­Brandy and Amber. And they disappeared as well.

			I ask Cunningham flat-­out: “Do you think these women simply split town, or do you think something bad happened to them?”

			He lets out a long sigh. “I think something bad happened to them.”

			They might have been on the street, but every week or two, they checked in with their family and friends. Now they were . . . gone.

			Adding to the names of Amber, Brandy, Lindsay, and Cecily was forty-­nine-­year-­old Melinda Miller, who went missing on February 19, 2017. Michelle Burgan was forty-­seven when she was last seen in May 2017. A year later, her remains were discovered under a tent on the Moraine, Ohio, property of a man named Gilbert Revere. When questioned, Revere said he covered her body with the tent and hid her belongings in his basement. Police found bottles of Michelle’s prescription medicine. Revere, fifty-­nine, was indicted on multiple charges: tampering with evidence, gross abuse of a corpse, and failure to report knowledge of a death. He pled no contest in the summer of 2020. While awaiting sentencing, he died unexpectedly in his home in December 2020.

			Six women, a thirty-­five-­mile radius, eighteen months.

			Was this a cluster of women being murdered? Or had things gotten so bad that a dozen women could die and people just dumped them like trash? We all envisioned the cunning predator, knife in hand, lurking in the shadows. In my head, I prayed that there were people murdering these people so someone would care—­but I stopped myself and thought how awful of a thought that was.

			Joan is someone who cares.

			She doesn’t want to use her real name for fear of retribution, but Joan knows all the players along Central. She knew Lindsay and Brandy and Amber. She taught classes at the shelter where Brandy was staying. In class, she remembers that Brandy was incredibly sassy. “She would just be like, ‘I’m going to show everybody. I’m going to turn my life around. I’m going to help people.’ ”

			When Brandy stopped using, Joan helped her get into Miami University. Brandy had kids, from seven up to twenty-­three years old. Things were going well, and then she relapsed.

			Joan takes me on a tour of Middletown. We are driving down Central Avenue when she points to a gray clapboard building by the AutoZone. “That’s where I saw Brandy last. She was sitting in the doorframe over here.”

			That was a week before she went missing. It was the first time Joan had seen her high. She asked her what happened? What had been the trigger?

			Brandy answered: “There’s so much stuff I don’t want to ever remember again.”

			Joan tried to counter, saying that she wanted to get to the root of Brandy’s troubles and heal it.

			“No. This can’t be healed,” she replied.

			“Brandy started rambling about Lindsay, and I didn’t really understand all that.”

			Brandy was hungry—­she hadn’t eaten in days. Joan brought her to Arby’s and showed her a safe house she could stay in. But Brandy declined.

			Joan learned that Brandy went missing via social media. Brandy’s daughter made a post. Then everyone at the shelter was talking: “Brandy’s missing, Brandy’s missing.”

			A few months later, Amber went missing. Joan knew Amber from the women and children’s shelter on Girard. Her drug was heroin, and she was just as sassy as Brandy.

			Joan and I drove the back streets shooting off from Central. She points to a small house to our right. “So what’s known as a trick house, a good indicator if you ever actually go in one, the doorknob locks are on the outside. They turn them around so they can lock the girls in the houses, lock them in the rooms.”

			We pass rows of dilapidated houses, many dark inside. Joan points out two houses she says are being used to trick out women. Who visited these women? It ran the gambit: businessmen, politicians, blue-­collar guys, and, yes, cops.

			Joan says that she has figured out a good portion of the houses where girls are being kept.

			“What’s odd is many of them are allowed to keep their phones on them and still interact with people for some normalcy. But then that’s how they get punished. They get it taken away if they do stuff they’re not supposed to do.”

			If the women can escape, they can seek refuge at the women’s shelters on Girard or Hope House. Joan helps these women, because when she was at her lowest, she felt no one was there for her. She promised God that if she could get out of that situation, she would help others.

			Joan estimates there are about one hundred women in the life in Middletown—­and she knows maybe half of them.

			“That means six percent of the population has gone missing or been murdered in the last four years,” I say.

			“Well, seven, if you count Brooke.”

			Brooke Short was last seen by her mother’s husband in October 2019 on Tytus Avenue in Middletown. Her mother still puts up fliers for her all over town: “My daughter suffers from the opioid addiction that’s killing our nation,” she told FOX19 NOW. “She wanted to stay with me, and I wouldn’t let her. I tried tough love and I told her she couldn’t stay.”

			Joan talks about the rumors she hears on the street. Stories about women getting taken out to a red barn in West Middletown. She received a call from a friend. “Joan, they have girls in this basement,” he said to her. “I’m like, ‘Well, let’s just go look.’ ”

			Joan and another friend drove out to West Middletown to a brick house at the end of a private driveway. There were a lot of men in the yard. The two women acted “dumb,” saying they were trying to find Joan’s son. Some of the men ran to the back of the house. One started taking pictures of their license plate. The women asked if they could drive toward the house to turn around, so as to not mess up the grass. The men told them no.

			The women backed up their car and drove off the property and drove away. Five minutes later, Joan got a phone call. “It was a detective at Middletown, asking me why I was at that property.” Somehow, the news about the two women being on the property reached the police. “He said that that was his ex-­brother-­in-­law. He was like, ‘You do a lot of great things in this community. I know you’re just trying to help.’ ”

			“They were saying that we scared that person,” her friend Beth tells me. “Well, if we scared him, why didn’t he call 911?” The property was not in Middletown. It was Butler County jurisdiction. And they were driving her friend’s car. How did they make the connection from that car to Joan’s cell phone?

			One more mystery in a town of secrets.

			Meanwhile, Brandy’s family is still looking for her. The last time her daughter Heidi, now twenty-­five, spoke with Brandy, she told her happy Mother’s Day. “Everything seemed normal,” says Heidi. “It was a normal conversation.”

			Brandy would often go a couple of weeks without checking in with her family. She lived couch to couch, and the Wi-­Fi at the public library was her lifeline back to her kids, who were living with their father. But after a month of hearing nothing, Heidi filed a missing persons report.

			The detectives told her that her mom had been in jail for about a week and that they spoke with her about Lindsay. She was key to Lindsay’s investigation, because they were friends who spent a lot of time together.

			“Eric Sexton was in a relationship with Lindsay,” Heidi tells me. “And his brother, Steve, had a relationship with my mom. So they all kind of ran together.”

			Heidi says that her mom “was helping them with Lindsay’s case.” She said she knew that they had taken Lindsay’s body to a farm and dumped her.

			The police had Brandy show them the location of the farm. They searched, came up with nothing, and chalked it up to a dead end. Lindsay’s remains were later found near the area.

			“I think maybe whoever did whatever they did to Lindsay caught wind that my mom was helping and did something to her,” Heidi tells me.

			Heidi says she hasn’t heard from the Middletown police detectives in two years. She went to the FBI in Cincinnati to try to get help accessing her mom’s Facebook account, thinking there might be a clue to what happened to her there. The FBI said they would help, but only if they were asked by the Middletown PD. And Middletown PD won’t even call Heidi back.

			Since her mom went missing in 2016, life has moved on. Brandy became a grandmother when Heidi had a daughter. She named her Brandy.

			In between Columbus and Middletown lies Dayton, and since I had to drive through it to get back to the capital city, I remembered when one of the Murder Squad listeners wrote in saying there was a killer stalking Dayton. I went back and searched through the murder numbers for Dayton I had pulled from the Murder Accountability Project. There I found another cluster. This time, the women had all been killed with a gun.

		

	


		
			Chapter 11

			Which Monster Is It?

			Dayton is attempting to stop prostitution by removing the demand. And while we all know the demand can never be totally removed, they are attempting the next best thing—­shame.

			The website Buyer’s Remorse seems like it might be akin to the Better Business Bureau or Angie’s List. But instead it lists all the names of all the men who have been convicted of soliciting or driving around an area where sex work occurs. The tagline for the site reads: “Do You Know the Real Cost of Buying Sex?”

			It’s one thing to set up a website like this. But in 2020, Dayton mayor Nan Whaley took it a step further. If a man is convicted of soliciting prostitution, the city will buy a geotargeted advertisement on Facebook, circling a radius around the man’s address, and hitting his neighbors with a link to buyersremorsecampaign.com. There, all his neighbors can see the man’s name, address, and what he was convicted of, all laid out in a map of Dayton.

			If this geotargeting technique sounds familiar, it’s one of the main techniques I discussed earlier from Chase Darkness with Me—­how I helped solve homicides by running geotargeted posts on Facebook and Instagram of unidentified suspects caught on video before, during, or after a murder.

			Buyer’s Remorse contains a video featuring the mayor explaining the program. “Prostitution follows the law of supply and demand, just like any other industry. That is why we are making sure that the men who come to Dayton to buy sex can no longer hide their crimes. This press conference is meant to serve as a warning,” Mayor Whaley said when the program was announced, pulling no punches and stating that she was taking this action “so people’s friends, family members, spouses, colleagues will know that you bought sex in the city of Dayton.”

			More than ten thousand people clicked on the Facebook ads. Dayton police major Brian Johns, the commander of investigations and administrative services, says there has been a 41 percent decrease in prostitution-­related crimes.

			This followed on the heels of other “Dear John” initiatives in the city, including writing down license plate numbers of cars in high-­prostitution areas and sending letters to their owners, telling them, “While the reason for your vehicle being in this particular location has yet to be determined, it is our earnest hope that it was not for an illegal purpose.” The letters go on to describe the penalties for solicitation, including jail time, fines, and mandatory attendance at “John School.”

			Major Johns worked ten years undercover in the Vice unit. Back in the early 2000s, they focused on the women. “One year we arrested five hundred women for prostitution in Dayton, Ohio,” he tells me. “We arrested a lady one time. There was a bag in her hand. It was a prison bag. She had been let out that day. We knew it wasn’t working.”

			In the late 2000s, they started focusing on the men. They started working with nonprofit groups. They seized a house from a drug dealer that is now used as a safe house for the women. And they began guiding women toward rehabilitation from addiction. That was the most important. Because, Johns remarks, the key difference in Dayton between sex work during the crack epidemic and during the opioid epidemic is that “with crack cocaine, it would kill you slowly. But the heroin? You get too much fentanyl, and you were dead.”

			When the fentanyl began hitting the town, more and more bodies were found.

			“We would find them dead,” says Johns. “A lot of times they would be naked. There was folklore about if you put them in an ice bath, you can reverse the effects of an opioid overdose. And we would find ice cubes in their rectums. There was folklore about that.”

			Ohio attempted to follow Dayton’s lead. House Bill 431, drafted to combat human trafficking, proposed the creation of a Sexual Exploitation Database. Every convicted pimp and every john would have their name, address, and photo up on the site, all accessible via a Google search. Ohio attorney general Dave Yost was the man behind the idea. Legislators passed the bill, but only after they removed the database provision.

			Dayton has curbed its prostitution arrests. But it also has a vacant-­home problem. And it has a murder problem.

			We’re at a point in this book where I know it will become overwhelming, if it hasn’t already. Another dead woman. And another. And another. There are just so many names. So many victims. It’s at this point an editor would say to stop. And I know you might well put the book down. Or you might skip ahead. I’ve been working on these cases for four years, though, and I have to keep telling their stories. Because these are lives. Living, breathing lives that matter. So, I will write about more victims. Then we will get to the men who took those lives, I promise. Monsters are coming. They are inevitable.

			“She’s not breathing. She has blood coming out of her mouth,” the caller told the 911 dispatcher. “I just talked to her yesterday. She was outside the store before it closed. Now she’s dead. I tried to shake her, and she’s not waking up.”

			On June 21, 2017, Jasmine Wadsworth’s body was found in an alley behind an abandoned house at 24 West Norman Avenue in Dayton. She had been shot six times. The mother of three had been seen smoking crack a half hour before.

			A month later, on July 27, 2017, Amanda Fella, thirty-­four, of Miamisburg was found with a bullet in her head in an alley next to an apartment building at 316 Superior Avenue, a mile and a half from where Jasmine took her last breath. Amanda had two sons.

			The nude, badly decomposed body of Deanna Prendergast, thirty-­nine, of Kettering, was found on September 15, 2017, behind an abandoned garage at a vacant duplex located at 15-17 East Hudson Avenue. Someone had attempted to hide the body underneath a discarded wooden door. Near the body were two steak knives, a black cell phone, and shoes. The coroner determined that Deanna had fentanyl in her system. The cause of death was undetermined, but the body showed signs of strangulation—­the hyoid bone showed a little bit of separation. The doctors think this might have occurred during decomposition, but no one is sure.

			Ten days later, Krystal Garcia, thirty, was found shot in the head in the backyard of an abandoned home at 22 West Hudson Avenue, a few steps away from where Deanna was found. They estimated that she had been killed thirteen days prior. That meant two female bodies were lying across the street from each other for days on a road right off Main Street, as people shopped at the People’s Market grocery store a stone’s throw away.

			Montgomery County sheriff Phil Plummer told the Dayton Daily News that the crimes were connected. “So, it’s all part of this one group of people on Main Street, and as soon as we get that group taken out, things will get better on Main Street.”

			Johns believes that only Amanda’s and Krystal’s murders are related, based on the manner of death and the location of the bodies. And based on the location of the bodies, he thinks the killer is a local.

			The police raided a few of the abandoned houses along Main Street. The city has spent millions tearing down a lot of the vacant buildings across town.

			But bodies kept appearing. The body of Kathleen Driscoll, thirty-­one, of Dayton was found dumped along a fence line at a vacant lot at 35 Ernst Avenue on January 12, 2018. Her body was wrapped in a blue sheet that was sealed with duct tape. Cause of death? Accidental drug overdose.

			In November 2020, a bus driver saw the body of eighteen-­year-­old Korena Burney at the intersection of Lakeview Avenue and Lakeside Drive in Dayton. She had been shot in the chest.

			I ask Johns if there are any other women I am missing.

			“Trying to think,” he says. “We had one that we found in the dumpster. But we actually had video of her voluntarily getting in there, shooting up, and she passed away.”

			Johns reached out to Middletown when the Slaton story broke and sent detectives there to see if there could be a connection to any of their cases. They also talked to Chillicothe.

			The last time the American public’s attention was roused by the prospect of an active serial killer was in 2015.

			“As women keep washing up dead, Ohio town fears a serial killer is on the loose,” read the June 24 headline of the Washington Post.

			That same day in USA Today: “Series of missing Ohio women stirs fears of serial killer.”

			Then came the TV shows.

			Gone: The Forgotten Women of Chillicothe. An eight-­part docu­series by Joe Berlinger.

			The Vanishing Women on Investigation Discovery.

			One year, six women. Four found dead, two still missing in a town of twenty-­one thousand people located one hour south of Columbus.

			Charlotte Trego was last seen on May 3, 2014. The mother of two had graduated from pills to heroin. She wanted to stop using. Her friend Tameka Lynch, thirty, went missing less than two weeks later. Her body was found in Paint Creek, cause of death undetermined.

			“The day I reported her missing was very upsetting to me,” Charlotte’s mother, Yvonne Boggs, told the Huffington Post. “The cop said, ‘Women like your daughter take off because they don’t want to be bothered.’ It was like they looked into it up to a certain point and then quit looking.”

			Tameka’s mother, Angela Robinson, echoed the same. “The police didn’t take it serious and just blew me off.”

			Six months later, thirty-­eight-­year-­old Wanda Lemons went missing. The mother of two had been dependent on drugs.

			Twenty-­year-­old Shasta Himelrick went missing on December 26, 2014. The bubbly blonde was pregnant. The next day, her abandoned car was found near a bridge. A twenty-­year-­old pregnant white girl going missing ticks all the boxes for a national news story. Add Christmas to the mix, and it becomes a lead story. But Shasta had a history of drug dependency, so the media refused to bite.

			About a week later, her body was found. Police called it a suicide.

			But when Tiffany Sayre’s naked body was found wrapped in a bedsheet inside a drainage pipe in a nature preserve, people started paying attention. The twenty-­six-­year-­old mother of a three-­ and six-­year-­old was last seen on May 11, 2015. Police could not determine the cause of death. A toxicology report stated Tiffany had cocaine, amphetamine, morphine, Dilaudid, and alcohol running through her veins when she died. The police threw up their hands and called in the FBI.

			A task force was created. Chief Keith Washburn reached out to the police in Dayton, who helped train his Chillicothe officers in how to conduct prostitution stings, trying to eliminate demand while at the same time hoping to get any information on a possible killer. But nothing materialized.

			Then, in July 2015, a man set up a date online with Heather Saul, a sex worker in Charleston, West Virginia, two hours southeast of Chillicothe. She gave him her address. It took him seven hours to get to her house. He kept calling, saying he was lost.

			He finally showed up. Heather waved to him, but he drove past her, drove a ways down the road, then turned around and parked in her driveway. He exited the vehicle and speed walked to the door.

			“As soon as he walked in the door, I was like, ‘How are you doing?’ ” Heather told me and Paul Holes in 2019. “He said, ‘I’m fine,’ and as soon as I turned my head, he was right up against me with a gun in my side. He said, ‘Live or die?’ ”

			And he smiled.

			Heather took off running to her back door in her kitchen, and the man followed. She unlocked the deadbolt to the door, but he locked it right back.

			She began screaming for help. The man grabbed hold of her throat and squeezed.

			Heather couldn’t breathe. He told her to calm down and listen.

			“I’m going to prison for a long time,” the man told her. “There’s no doubt about that. It’s your decision whether it’s for murder or for rape and murder.”

			“I was like, ‘What?’ I guess that’s what he had let other females before make the choice whether he would rape them after he killed them or just killed them.”

			Heather started to cry, saying to herself over and over, “This can’t happen. This can’t happen.”

			Then she started to fight.

			“He was fighting me so hard. He had dressed the part; you could tell he had done this before. He was maneuvering me perfect. He took me down.”

			Heather couldn’t breathe and was about to pass out. They struggled on the floor, next to the kitchen table.

			She spotted a rake she had brought into the house the day before. She reached out to grab it. He tried to stop her and grabbed it as well. He put the gun on the kitchen table and wrestled the rake away from her.

			He then told her, “When I get up, you get up,” and picked her up by her throat. By that point it had seemed like minutes since Heather had taken a breath. He pulled her to her feet. It was then she saw the gun on the table.

			“I didn’t even think about anything. I grabbed it and reached behind me and went pow! And shot it.”

			The concussive energy of the blast hit her eardrum, and all Heather could hear was “beeeeeeeep.”

			But she could finally breathe.

			The man slumped against the door, his belt caught on the back doorknob, his arm supporting his weight against the kitchen counter.

			The police came, read Heather her rights, and took her to the police station. She told them, “He has done this before. He was dying to kill me.”

			She had a broken vertebra and a dislocated shoulder from the fight. They told her to calm down. That she wasn’t in any trouble. That she was safe.

			Then they told her about what they found in his car.

			A shovel, bleach, a machete, axes, knives, a sledgehammer, plastic trash bags, bulletproof vests, zip ties, clean white socks, and underwear. They called it a kill kit. In his pockets, they found four sets of handcuffs and a trash bag.

			“He was planning on killing me. This was how he was going to dispose of my body.”

			The man’s name was Neal Falls, a forty-­five-­year-­old security guard originally from Eugene, Oregon. Inside Falls’s pocket was a list of names and contact information for six sex workers. The media was buzzing.

			Immediately, people began speculating that Falls might have been responsible for the missing women in Chillicothe. Falls moved around a lot—­from Oregon to Nevada to Indiana, Kentucky, and Texas. He had been pulled over in twenty states.

			Police tracked the six women from Falls’s list and found them all safe. So far, authorities have not been able to connect him to any other murders, including the ones in Chillicothe.

			In September 2015, two months after Heather shot and killed her attacker, the Chillicothe task force put out a warrant for thirty-­nine-­year-­old Ernest “Dollar Bill” Moore. Moore was accused of torturing a man over a drug deal in July of that year. The victim, according to the police report, was “punched, kicked, assaulted with a broom, possibly raped with the broom, burned with lighter fluid, silverware heated from the stove and boiling water.” The task force believed Moore knew some of the missing and murdered women. But if they could pin anything on him, they didn’t let it be known. The court gave Moore ten years for the assault, and his name faded into the background.

			There was no evidence to prove either Falls or Moore murdered other people. Citizen sleuths keep trying to make a connection to the men and unsolved murders across the country with no luck. But Ohio had its share of serial killers. Unfortunately, they are either still unidentified or caught with luck. The Cleveland Torso Murderer killed upwards of a dozen people in Cleveland in the 1930s. The victims were typically drifters, and many remain unidentified. Cause of death was often decapitation, meaning they were alive when the killer cut off their heads. Eliot Ness couldn’t even crack that case, and it remains unsolved.

			In May 2018, Sam Little, an inmate in California, began confessing to a series of murders across the country. The total count was ninety-­three killings. This had happened before, in the 1980s, when Henry Lee Lucas claimed hundreds of victims. Turned out he didn’t kill all these people. He liked the attention and the milkshakes detectives brought him as he told his tales.

			But this man’s stories added up, and before long they pinned more than sixty murders on Samuel Little, including four in Ohio—­two in Cleveland, and two in Cincinnati. He met one woman in Columbus and killed and disposed of her in Kentucky. The Ohio police didn’t even know they had a serial killer on their hands and so failed to catch him.

			Little couldn’t remember a lot of his victims’ names, so he drew colored sketches of the victims to help police—­and the public—­identify them. It was clear as Little sketched the victims that he was getting off.

			Little was locked up for good in 2012, making him an unviable suspect in most of the murders we have covered in this book. But I still wanted to talk to him. Just to see how he got away with it for so long. His targets were the addicted. The sex workers. The homeless. The ones no one would be looking for.

			“They was broke and homeless and they walked right into my spiderweb,” Little told 60 Minutes in 2019. “I don’t think there was another person that did what I liked to do. I think I’m the only one in the world. That’s not an honor. That’s a curse.”

			Little died at the ripe old age of eighty, as I wrote this book, in December 2020. He may have had the highest numbers of any serial killer in America. But he was far from the only one who “did what I liked to do.”

			Anthony Sowell, the Cleveland Ripper, was also a serial killer operating in Ohio, and the police only caught him because a survivor delivered him to them on a silver platter.

			Of his eleven known victims, from Crystal Dozier in May 2007 to Diane Turner in September 2009, police determined he killed at least eight women by strangulation. While authorities believed this was how all the women were murdered, two of the bodies were so badly decomposed that then Cuyahoga County coroner Frank Miller said he could not determine a cause of death. Working out of his run-­down home in the Mount Pleasant neighborhood, Sowell buried two in his basement and five in his backyard and placed four on his third floor. One, the body of Tishana Culver, was stashed inside a crawlspace. Like so many of the women Sowell lured to his modern-­day charnel house on Cleveland’s Imperial Avenue, Tishana—­just shy of her thirtieth birthday when she disappeared in the summer of 2008—had been swept up in the crack epidemic that burned through inner-­city communities.

			She’d worked as a beautician and had taken GED prep classes at Cuyahoga Community College, but despite her best efforts to stop using and reunite with her children, in the days before she vanished, “she walked the streets selling her body to pay for her next high,” wrote Stan Donaldson in the Plain Dealer series “The Women of Imperial Avenue.”

			She was also unfailingly generous, the reporter wrote. Like the night she piled the leftover salmon patties, rice, and string beans she’d made for dinner onto plates and delivered them to a pair of homeless men who slept in a van across the street from the apartment she shared with her boyfriend, one they’d only recently moved into after crashing in a park for months themselves.

			“I asked her why, and I was kind of upset because we were struggling,” Tishana’s boyfriend recalled to Donaldson. “She just told me that the Lord had blessed us for the day, and it was time for us to be a blessing to someone else.”

			Some of these women could have been saved, because on December 8, 2008, Anthony Sowell met Gladys Wade.

			Gladys was walking on the sidewalk when Sowell asked if she would share a beer with him. She declined. But he wouldn’t take no for an answer. The next thing Gladys knew, she was in his house, fighting for her life as Sowell demanded, “Bitch, take off your clothes.”

			Sowell threw her down his staircase. Incredibly, she escaped the house—­wearing only a thermal shirt and jeans—­and flagged down a police car, telling the officers that the man in the house had “punched and choked her, tried to rip her clothes off, and tried to kill her.”

			The officers saw droplets of Gladys’s blood in the snow outside Sowell’s house. They saw the scratch marks on her neck. They knew that Sowell was a registered sex offender who had served fifteen years for raping a woman. They arrested Sowell, and yet Cleveland PD decided to only prepare an affidavit for robbery. Then they decided to not charge him at all. They let him out two days later, on December 10, 2008.

			Once free, Sowell went on to murder Nancy Cobbs, Telacia Fortson, Amelda Hunter, Le’Shanda Long, Diane Turner, and Janice Webb. It wasn’t until a naked woman literally fell out of a window of his house that Sowell got the attention of Cleveland PD again. A search of his house a week later revealed the remains of eleven women. Then he was finally arrested.

			These women would very well be alive right now if the police listened to, believed, and investigated what Gladys Wade told them about what happened at Sowell’s house.

			The detective she spoke with, Georgia Hussein and her supervisors, Antoinette McMahon and Michael Baumiller, failed Wade and Sowell’s future victims. The families of the six victims sued the city—­they were awarded a measly $1 million to split between them. One million for six lives.

			If the Ohio police couldn’t catch a serial killer when he was seemingly caught red-­handed, how the hell were they going to catch a killer who was more careful, like the killer or killers who murdered Danielle and Lindsey and dumped them in fields?

			Some three years later, the bodies of eighteen-­year-­old Shirellda Terry, twenty-­eight-­year-­old Shetisha Sheeley, and thirty-­eight-­year-­old Angela Deskins were found in trash bags behind the apartment of Cleveland native Michael Madison in 2013. All three were strangled to death. Madison apparently was inspired by Sowell.

			All these serial killers were apprehended before the women we are focusing on went missing or murdered. Sowell wouldn’t talk to me—­and then he died in February 2021. Falls and Little were also dead. But there was one Ohio serial killer behind bars who was willing to chat. He was convicted of killing five women, and he was apprehended on September 13, 2016—after Danielle and Lindsey went missing but before their bodies were discovered.

			One day in December 2020, after a series of emails and half-­hearted attempts at shaking me down for money, I got a call from Chillicothe prison. On the other end was that killer—­Shawn Grate.

		

	


		
			Chapter 12

			“How Much Longer?”

			If you are wondering what the last moments of the victim of a serial killer might sound like, read on.

			September 13, 2016

			6:48 a.m.

			Ashland, Ohio

			Dispatcher: 911, what is the address to your emergency?

			Woman: (whispering) Fourth Street laundry mat.

			Dispatcher: What’s the problem?

			Woman: (whispering) I’ve been abducted.

			Dispatcher: What’s your name? How do you spell your last name? Who abducted you?

			Woman: Shawn Grate.

			Dispatcher: You said John Green?

			Woman: Shawn Grate.

			Dispatcher: Where’s he at now?

			Woman: Asleep.

			Dispatcher: Where’s he sleeping at?

			Woman: In the bedroom.

			Dispatcher: In what bedroom?

			Woman: There’s two houses right by the laundromat and it’s in one of those houses.

			Dispatcher: But you’re at the laundry mat?

			Woman: No, I’m in the bedroom with him.

			Dispatcher: What color is the house? If I’m looking at the laundromat, which way is it?

			Woman: If you’re looking at the laundromat it’s the one of the left of the two.

			Dispatcher: You don’t know what color the house is?

			Woman: No. Please hurry.

			Dispatcher: Does he have a car?

			Woman: No. Well, he said down the street.

			Dispatcher: What’s the number you’re calling me from?

			Woman: I don’t know.

			Dispatcher: And you think it’s a yellow house?

			Woman: I think so. It’s on the left.

			Dispatcher: It’s an apartment?

			Woman: No, it’s a house.

			Dispatcher: Okay, does he own the house?

			Woman: No, he broke in.

			Dispatcher: Does anybody actually live there?

			Woman: I think it’s been abandoned.

			Dispatcher: Does he have a weapon?

			Woman: He’s got a Taser.

			Dispatcher: Where do you live? What does he look like? Is he a white male or black male?

			Woman: He’s white.

			Dispatcher: Is he like six foot, or is he shorter than that?

			Woman: He’s like six-­one, six-­two.

			Dispatcher: Do you know how much he weighs?

			Woman: Probably 175.

			Dispatcher: Are you injured?

			Woman: A little.

			Dispatcher: What color is his hair?

			Woman: Brown.

			Dispatcher: Do you know what color his eyes are?

			Woman: No.

			Dispatcher: What’s he wearing?

			Woman: Nothing right now.

			Dispatcher: Okay, stay on the phone with me. Stay on the line with me, okay? Is he still sleeping?

			Woman: Yes.

			Dispatcher: Where did he take you from?

			Woman: My apartment, I mean I was walking with him.

			Dispatcher: You were walking with him?

			Woman: Mm-­hmm.

			Dispatcher: Where were you walking to?

			Woman: His place . . . I’ve known him for like a month and a half.

			Dispatcher: Is there any way you can get out of the building?

			Woman: I don’t know without waking him and I’m scared.

			Dispatcher: Is there a bathroom in the house?

			Woman: His bedroom is closed and he made it so it would make noise.

			Dispatcher: If you told him you had to go to the bathroom, he would do something to you?

			Woman: Yeah. Because he had me tied up.

			Dispatcher: Are you tied up now?

			Woman: Well, I—­ Yeah, but I kind of freed myself.

			Dispatcher: Is he in the same room with you?

			Woman: Yes.

			Dispatcher: Is it his phone you have?

			Woman: Yes. Are they on the way?

			Dispatcher: We have officers we’re sending.

			Woman: Please send them now.

			Dispatcher: If you’re worried you don’t have to talk you can set the phone down, okay? I just need to hear if the officers find you or not. Are you upstairs or are you downstairs?

			Woman: We’re downstairs. There’s a side door on the right of the left house, and that’s where we enter. Because immediately there’s a kitchen right there and then the bedroom is right off from the kitchen.

			Dispatcher: Do you need an ambulance?

			Woman: (Crying).

			Dispatcher: Are you bleeding from anywhere?

			Woman: Not anymore.

			Dispatcher: What were you bleeding from? You don’t have to talk if you don’t need to, okay? Do you know where he lives?

			Woman: No. Oh shit! Oh shit! I woke him up.

			Dispatcher: Okay, set the phone down.

			(What sounds like a third voice mumbles something. Then there is a long silence.)

			Dispatcher: Are you still there?

			Woman: How much longer?

			Dispatcher: What?

			Woman: How much longer?

			Dispatcher: Do you hear any officers outside?

			Woman: No.

			Dispatcher: Okay, they’re in the area.

			Woman: Do you think they could come in the side door?

			Dispatcher: Is there a padlock on the bedroom door, or is it just a regular lock?

			Woman: No. I don’t even know if it locks it—­it doesn’t have a knob.

			Dispatcher: Can you get up and see if you can get out?

			Woman: I’m afraid of waking him. The bathroom is right there. I don’t even know if it’s open.

			Dispatcher: Is there a window around there that you can look out?

			Woman: Yeah, but the floor squeaks and it’s right by his head.

			Dispatcher: Are you laying down?

			Woman: No, I’m standing right by the bedroom door.

			Dispatcher: And you can’t open it?

			Woman: What?

			Dispatcher: Can you open it?

			Woman: I’m afraid—­not without making noise.

			Dispatcher: Is the door to the house open?

			Woman: I don’t know, probably. I don’t think he has a key, I’m not sure. I think he broke in here.

			Dispatcher: Can you see any windows where you’re at?

			Woman: They’re all locked. All curtains are shut.

			Dispatcher: What’s that? What’s that noise?

			Woman: I don’t hear anything.

			Dispatcher: If you think you can get out, you need to get out.

			Woman: Not unless they are right here. He would hear me, catch me, and he’s strong.

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) She’s on the first floor.

			Dispatcher: Are you the one closest to the laundromat or the other one?

			Woman: If you’re standing in the laundromat looking at the two houses it would be on the left.

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) Out of the laundromat, it’s the one on the right. Looking at the laundromat, it’s the one on the left.

			Woman: Side door . . . side door.

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) Side door to the right.

			Woman: Okay, I can hear ’em.

			Dispatcher: Can you hear them?

			Woman: Yes.

			Dispatcher: Okay, do you think you can get out?

			Woman: Yes.

			Dispatcher: Are you out of the bedroom?

			Woman: Not yet . . . they need to push.

			Dispatcher: The door doesn’t have a doorknob? Can you see them?

			Woman: They need to push the door.

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) She said push the door. There’s no doorknob there.

			Woman: Just push it.

			Dispatcher: Can you get out of the bedroom?

			Woman: I can’t—­the door doesn’t have a knob.

			Dispatcher: Can you hear anybody right now?

			Woman: I heard the side door open.

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) She heard the side door open.

			Woman: I’m out of the bedroom.

			Dispatcher: You’re out? Alright, can you get to the door where you can see out?

			Woman: Yeah.

			Dispatcher: Can you get out of the house?

			Woman: It’s locked.

			Dispatcher: Are you at the door?

			Woman: Yeah, I am.

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) She’s at the door.

			Dispatcher: Is there a window there?

			Woman: Yeah, I’m looking out of it. Tell them to come back! Hurry! Hurry!

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) She said to hurry up and come back.

			Woman: Yeah, they can see me.

			Dispatcher: (talking to officers on the scene) The door is locked. She can’t get out.

			Woman: (Heavy breathing.)

			Dispatcher: Can you unlock the door at all?

			Officers on the scene: Come out! Come on out! Hurry up! Hurry up! Get out here! Where is he?

			Woman: In the bedroom sleeping.

			Dispatcher: Okay, they have her.

			Officers on the scene: (Yelling at the man in bed) In there . . . Show me your hands! Show me your fucking hands!

			Woman: (Crying.)

			Officers on the scene: (to woman) Where are you?

			Woman: In the bathroom.

			Officers on the scene: Okay, come out. Here. Here’s a blanket. Cover yourself up. Tell me what happened. What happened?

			The woman had met Shawn Grate six weeks earlier, at the Ray and Joan Kroc Center, a forty-­three-­thousand-­square-­foot Salvation Army center in Ashland where she grabbed lunch every now and then. They ate together. She liked him. She saw him again the next week. They went for walks around Ashland. All day walks. They talked about life and the Bible. She read the Bible every day. She was working on learning Hebrew so she could read it in the original text.

			They continued to see each other. They went on more walks. They played tennis together. She saw Grate as an older-­brother type. He was kind of goofy, but he was kind. He let her know that he wanted more of a relationship. She told him she just wanted to be friends. Plus, she didn’t believe in premarital sex. She called it a “no-­no.” She also never let alcohol touch her lips. She never let any men into her apartment, including him. She never even exchanged phone numbers with a man. She had boundaries in place. And it seemed like this man respected those boundaries.

			He showed her a fort that he had built in the woods, where he had watched the fireworks on the Fourth of July. Near the fort he dug up a box that contained geodes. He gave her one. She had been to his house a few times. In the kitchen. It was dirty. It smelled a bit. There were little gnats flying around. She chided him about the mess. She thought it was “atypical of him,” because she always saw him as someone who was clean.

			On September 11, 2016, they went for another walk. They went to the Dollar Tree. He asked her if she had an extra Bible, and she gave him one. There were passages she wanted to show him. She made them peanut butter sandwiches at her house. He ate his outside. She ate hers inside. Boundaries.

			After they finished with their sandwiches, he told her that his mother and sister had given him a bag of clothes and he wanted to give them to her. So they walked to the house he was staying in at 363 Covert Court, one of a pair of two-­story clapboard houses, attached to each other. It was charming, with an inviting covered porch in the front, and green grass on the side.

			They walked inside. She saw that the house was still a mess. Overturned chairs, laundry baskets, convenience store cups, clothes strewn everywhere. Above the bed was a tapestry, with the words “Creatures great and small” written at the bottom. Grate walked into the kitchen and put down a bag of groceries she had collected for him—­cereal, oatmeal, raisins. He then showed her the bag of clothes.

			She sat down on the bed and opened the Bible to start showing him passages. Grate walked into the kitchen as she continued to read. He returned a moment later and stood above her. Then he reached out and grabbed the Bible and attempted to rip it out of her hands. She looked up at him. “And that’s when he said, ‘You’re not going anywhere.’ ”

			“I tried to push him away,” she said. “I tried to kick, punch, but everything I did, he just did it so much harder.”

			He punched her in the face. Again and again. Then he began choking her, both hands around her throat as he faced her. The woman knew she was trapped. She knew she couldn’t get away. So she went limp.

			The man asked her if she’d had enough. She didn’t answer.

			He let go of her neck and started ripping off her clothes.

			Then he raped her. He raped her “in every way imaginable.” He tied her up in different positions. He shoved pills in her mouth—­muscle relaxers, he told her. He used his fingers to pry open her mouth so he could rape her orally.

			He put makeup on her. He took a razor and shaved the shape of a heart in her pubic hair. At one point, he fashioned the ropes so if she moved, she would strangle herself.

			The woman would pass out from exhaustion. He tied her up against the wall and lay next to her. She would wake up only to be raped again. Over and over again. Often, he choked her while raping her. She would go limp, and he let go. He took out his cell phone and videotaped many of his attacks. He told her he would let her go home soon. But he never did.

			This went on for two days. He let her use the bathroom, but he didn’t let her eat. At one point he tied her up and left the house for a few hours. He came back, and it was later learned he had taken her keys and robbed her house. He slept for an hour but would pounce awake when he heard the slightest of noises.

			On the morning of the third day, the woman woke up and Grate was still asleep. Able to wriggle out of her restraints, she crept down toward the foot of the bed. But she got scared and laid back down again. Then she prayed. She reached over his sleeping body to grab his cell phone. She pulled it over to her side of the bed, only to realize it wasn’t a phone. It was a Taser. She slowly slid out of the bed and finally found his phone. She dialed 911 and spoke in a whisper, trying to get help. She lay right next to her captor as she spoke to the dispatcher.

			At one point, she set off his Taser accidentally, causing it to crackle. The man sat up. She froze. The man put his feet on the floor and stared at the ground for thirty seconds. He seemed groggy. Then he lay back down and fell asleep again.

			She was able to continue the call.

			When the police finally arrived at the house, she went to the door, naked, and unlocked it for them. They rushed in and handcuffed the man. The woman was taken in the back of a police car to the police station. She was then taken to the hospital.

			Inside the home on the first floor, they saw clothing tied to a chair and a mattress, meant to bind the woman, and handmade sexual devices.

			Two days before all this happened, on September 11, the police in the town of Ashland had posted a photo of another woman to their Facebook page, reposted from another account:

			Could u just help us by putting this out there for us we need all the help we can get please her name is Stacey Stanley but also goes by Stacey hicks lives in Greenwich Ohio but last seen in Ashland Ohio she has hazel eyes purplish black hair about 5' 5" around 175 pounds we located her car but not her.

			On September 8, 2016, forty-­three-­year-­old Stacey Stanley pulled to the side of the road near the BP station on East Main Street in Ashland. Her 2003 Mitsubishi Eclipse had gotten a flat tire. She told her adult son to ask a family friend to come by for help. He did. And so did a good Samaritan. She told her son she was going to get a cup of coffee and then head home. They had a close relationship and spoke every day. But the following day, he couldn’t get a hold of his mom. Stacey was a year from using heroin. Could she have been using again? Her family began a frantic search. They went to her home in Greenwich, about twenty-­five minutes northwest of Ashland, and found it empty except for her dogs and cats. They were in their crates, hungry and sitting in waste. It was obvious Stacey hadn’t been back there.

			On September 11, Stacey’s car was found on Ninth Street in Ashland. Her family searched all over town for her, posting fliers and talking to neighbors.

			The day after she went missing—­on September 9, 2016—the Ashland police had made a post on their Facebook page, searching for another woman.

			Missing Person—­Elizabeth Griffith

			Elizabeth is missing from the City of Ashland. She was last seen August 16th in the area of Aldis and Walmart. She may have been in Ontario in the last few days. She has no car and does not drive. Anyone with information should contact the Ashland Police Division at 419-289-3639.

			Like the woman at the start of this chapter, Elizabeth spent a lot of time at the Kroc Center in Ashland. And also like the woman at the start of this chapter, Elizabeth was an avid reader of the Bible.

			Keep these three women in mind as you listen to a serial killer speak.

		

	


		
			Chapter 13

			Interview with a Vampire

			Back at the house in Ashland on September 13, a naked Shawn Grate is arrested. Detective Curt Dorsey begins talking with him and runs a background check. He learns that Grate had a warrant out for him—­for unpaid child support out of Mansfield, which is what drove him out of that town and into Ashland, known for its welcome sign off Interstate 71 that proclaims the city to be “The World Headquarters of Nice People.”

			The two engage in small talk. Grate tells him he had a job at Save A Lot. We learn later he quit after three weeks.

			“I got an interview at Circle K,” Grate continues. “Haven’t started yet.”

			“Is that looking promising?” Dorsey asks.

			“I got an interview at National Latex, so things are startin’ to turn around.”

			At the time of this interview, Dorsey has no idea there are two dead bodies in the house. The bodies of two women Grate had just murdered.

			Dorsey steers the conversation to the woman who called 911. He asks if they were in a relationship.

			Grate: Talking about marriage.

			Dorsey: Talking about marriage? How long has that talk been going on?

			Grate: Couple weeks.

			Dorsey: So you guys like engaged or anything or you’re just kinda in the stages of talking about it?

			Grate: Pretty serious about it. And then she’s like, I do one little thing wrong and there goes that.

			One little thing.

			Grate tells the detective that the woman is too critical of him. That she wants him to be perfect. For instance, last week, he was telling “mama jokes” with another guy, and she didn’t like that.

			Dorsey asks if they’ve been intimate. Grate answers no. He asks if they ever held hands. No. Ever kissed? No.

			“So how are you avoiding the temptation?” Dorsey wonders. “I mean, if you’re not even kissing her or holding hands or anything like that, why is there so much temptation there?”

			Grate: She can’t trust herself.

			Dorsey: She doesn’t trust herself?

			Grate: Yeah. To be alone.

			Dorsey: To be alone with you?

			Grate: Yeah. She had that problem before in the past with other men. She barely escapes it . . . She’s normal. She’s trying to do it the right way. Proper. Do what the Bible says.

			Dorsey: Okay. So is this the first time she stayed then? . . . Last night was the first night she stayed? So what happened last night between you guys?

			(Long silence)

			Dorsey: You guys just hanging out, watchin’ movies? I mean, what, what was your night?

			Grate: Nightmare.

			Dorsey: Why’s that? What happened?

			“Both her and I just kinda lost control for a minute,” Grate tells him. “Lost control of the whole situation and had sex.” Further on in the conversation, he says, “Later, it did get outta hand, probably.”

			When pressed, Grate said it got out of hand because he “wasn’t done.”

			Dorsey: What do you mean by that?

			Grate: Wanted more.

			Dorsey: But she was done, probably.

			Grate: Probably wore out. Sore.

			Dorsey: Okay. You guys had a rough night, it sounds like. So what happened? What do you mean, she was worn out?

			Grate: She wanted me to stop . . . I was trying to hurry up and finish, and she took it the wrong way.

			Dorsey: Okay. So how long did it take you to finish?

			Grate: Ten minutes after, like she wanted me to stop. I was like, “Relax, I’ll just slow down.”

			Grate just admitted to rape, though he continues to deflect blame. At this point, Dorsey takes him to the station. There he will talk to Captain David Lay, who has a more direct line of questioning.

			Lay: Okay. So how did you end up with [this woman] today?

			Grate: Well, we’ve been talking about marriage and stuff like that. Getting really close.

			Lay: Okay.

			Grate: We both maybe gettin’ cold feet. I’m not too sure, but yeah . . . like the cold feet from her, you know what I mean? It was like, she had pushed me away, then [we’d get] things back all right. And then it was like cold feet in the air type complications again. So many complications. And then she talked about this guy named Daniel and I just lost it.

			Lay: When was she talking about the guy named Daniel?

			Grate: Um, that’s about five years old or, uh, like a five-­year past relationship.

			Lay: That she had.

			Grate: Yeah. She was like, “Oh, I’m gonna wait for Daniel now.” Like, she’s just gonna like, like, say all that she’s been sayin’ and then out of the blue, just bring up another guy just to try to make me back away or something. I’m not too sure what she was thinkin’. She was in doubt about marrying me pretty much.

			Grate then says they had sex, and the woman became ashamed and was “beating herself up” because they had sex before marriage.

			Lay: It looks like you might’ve hit her a couple times.

			Grate: I did because I lost control and I . . .

			Lay: Okay. Why did you lose control?

			Grate: A lot of it’s that she’s, “Marry me, marry me.” She won’t marry me. You know, it’s like this is it. A lot of leading me on. Yeah. And I didn’t just out and hit her, maybe snapped or took me out of my character.

			Lay: Okay. And you were in the middle of sex when you punched her?

			Grate: Mmm, mmm, no, yeah—­sex with her, fightin’ and everything. And we made up, we had sex.

			Lay: After you punched her?

			Grate: Yeah.

			Lay then finally confronts him.

			Lay: Okay. I mean, she’s saying that she didn’t want to have sex and that you punched her.

			Grate: She may not have wanted to have sex. Like afterwards.

			Lay: After what?

			Grate: After I hit her.

			Lay: Okay. Go straight to the apartment. Um, she’s sayin’ you tied her down to a bed. I mean, what’s the deal with all the straps on the mattresses?

			Grate: I did tie her down. I abducted her.

			At this point, Grate has now admitted to not only raping the woman but kidnapping her.

			Lay: You abducted her?

			Grate: Yes.

			Lay: Explain that.

			Grate: Tired of games. Trying to get down to if she’s going to marry me or not.

			Lay: So you just held her there because you wanted to find out if she was going to marry you.

			Grate: Still had a lotta questions and stuff and yeah, it’s very nightmare. Couldn’t imagine her.

			Lay: You just wanted to make sure she didn’t get away. ’Cause you wanted her?

			Grate: No.

			Lay: What? Explain.

			Grate: Just wanted her to relax and spend some time with me.

			Lay: Well, it’s kind of hard for somebody to relax if you’re tying them down. Don’t you think?

			Grate: Yeah.

			Grate then is adamant that he didn’t have sex with her when she was tied up.

			Lay: I’m glad you’re telling me, but you still did. I mean, you told me you abducted her. What does that mean to you?

			Grate: It means I care about her.

			Can you believe this shit?

			Grate later again admits he did rape her—­this time actually using the word. But he says the woman enjoyed it. He says it was an accident that he punched her in the face. Lay then challenges him, and Grate takes it back. He explains how he forced her to give him oral sex but says he was “forcin’ her . . . but I wasn’t rough grabbin’ her.” He says after he ejaculated in her mouth, he got scared and thought of turning himself in. Instead, he tied her up, put duct tape over her mouth, and went to buy cigarettes. He says she asked him to perform oral sex on her. He says he only used the Taser as a flashlight and it didn’t work.

			It’s all bullshit. But they have him for rape and kidnapping.

			But there are more pressing matters at hand. When Grate was brought into the police station, some of the officers told Lay that they knew him. And knew he hung around with one of the women they were asking people on Facebook to look out for—­Elizabeth Griffith, who had last been seen in Ashland on August 16

			Lay: Now, the patrol guys are saying you know an Elizabeth.

			Grate: Elizabeth . . . Um, met her at one time outside. I guess I did. I talked to a few people out there, but that was just like a moment. Um, played some badminton.

			Lay: Did you ever hook up with her?

			Grate: No.

			Lay: Did you ever try to?

			Grate: No, not like that.

			Lay: “Not like that.” How?

			Grate: Oh, I don’t see her like that, hookin’ up with her.

			Lay: How do you see her?

			Grate: Just trying to find her way.

			Lay: What do you mean?

			Grate: I mean just trying to, I don’t know what, she talks constantly just for like the five minutes while I was playing badminton.

			Lay: What’d she talk about?

			Grate: Uh, the, uh, the mental hospital and stuff that she is dealing with.

			Lay: Yeah. She had some issues. She’s missing.

			Grate: That’s what I heard.

			The conversation jumps around a bit, back to the woman who had just been raped and kidnapped and called 911. But Lay gets back to Elizabeth.

			Lay: About Elizabeth. So what do you know about her disappearing?

			[A pause of fifty-­five seconds]

			Lay: Shawn. What do you know about her? You know where she’s at. Where’s she at?

			Grate: She’s set free, no more problems. She don’t have to cry no more.

			Lay: How’d you set her free?

			Grate: She jumped on my back. [Slurps coffee.]

			Lay: What happened?

			Grate: She kept cryin’ to me. Sayin’ how much she hated this world and everything, and she wishes she’d just die.

			Grate then begins to backtrack. He says he doesn’t know where she is. He says he helped Elizabeth find peace and set her free by “encouraging her.” He says he told her, “You need to quit worrying about what other people think. Just focus on you. Everything else will just work out.” And she told him, “Oh thanks, that gives me peace.”

			Lay stops him right there.

			Lay: You’re minimizing again.

			Grate: I wish I knew where she was. I mean, you asked me where she was a while ago. I don’t have no clue what’s going on with her.

			Lay: We’re going to go through all those places, man [talking about all the places Grate has stayed in Ashland, including a fort in the woods and an abandoned factory].

			Grate: That’s fine. Yeah. I thought you already would.

			Lay: We going to find Elizabeth in there?

			Grate: No.

			Lay: Any of those places? Where we gonna find her?

			Grate: I’m sure you guys already been through her apartment. She’s not in there, hibernating.

			Grate continues to say he simply gave Elizabeth good advice to set her free. He speculates that she is with family in Florida. Lay realizes he’s not going to get any more out of him.

			At 10:53 a.m., Detective Kim Mager comes in. She takes the cuffs off him and brings him more coffee.

			“So, here’s the deal, Shawn. And I’m Kim. You just call me Kim, okay? I don’t think we can really be defined by a little block of time in our life. Alright. We can make mistakes and we’re not gonna be defined by that. Sometimes things just happen, sometimes good people do stupid things. And I know that. So we try to be pretty delicate with situations definitely like this, try to be kind of careful.”

			Mager’s voice is soothing.

			By the sixth minute, Grate confesses that the clothes he said his mom and sister took to him to give to the woman were stolen from a thrift store donation.

			Then he tries to explain that the woman he just admitted to raping was “horny” and “needed it.” She needed to “get through her lustful desires . . . She’s just battling all the time, she’s battling lustful desires. It’s a roadblock.”

			Mager knows she doesn’t need much more for that crime. He’s already copped to the rape. She switches gears.

			Mager: I want to talk a little bit about some other stuff, okay? When I told you that we always figure it out, we do . . . I think this can be a one-­conversation deal where we sort out where your heart is and what’s happening and how you want to make a couple of things right, okay? We can’t find Elizabeth. We’ll find her, but we can’t right now . . . I’m not here to judge you. I’m not gonna leave your side. I’m going to ask you for your help here. Okay? Are you hearing me okay? Are you understanding me when I talk? Can you help me?

			Grate: I don’t know if I can help you.

			Mager: So, I know she was tormented. I know that. And maybe she’s in a better place right now. So, I think you already know that. I think we both do.

			Grate: I don’t want to call it she’s in a better place. I don’t know for sure.

			Mager: Well, we know she believed in God, right? I know that. So I believe she’s gone. And if she is, I know where she is. Meaning I know she’s there walking with God. Yeah. That’s what I believe.

			Grate: Yeah. She was probably more like a child of God, automatically goes to heaven.

			Mager: Well said.

			Grate continues to dance around the truth. Mager is patient.

			Mager: It’s the right thing. Shawn. Look at me. It’s the right thing. I know it is. Can you do it by taking my little detective truck? Can you take me out? And we can go find her? We can go get her where she is?

			Grate: I don’t know what you’re talking about.

			Mager: I’m looking for Elizabeth’s body. Can you take me to it?

			Grate: She’s dead?

			Mager: I believe she is.

			Grate: It must be some other guy. Just because I did this doesn’t mean I did the other stuff.

			Mager: Here’s the deal. You can show me where she is. It doesn’t make you have to tell me anything. It’s just trying to make something right. Says a lot about you.

			Grate: Yeah. Everybody acts like there’s somethin’ already wrong with her . . . Everybody acts like we should be sad for her. I don’t know. Should be sad, I guess. Be sad for her. That’s what she wants everybody to do, is feel sorry for her. She should just grow up. A lot of people these days get that retard check . . . She should have been taken back or put in some institution a long time ago. Somethin’ special . . . They almost need a special city for all retards out there collectin’ the retard check. They’re unable to go out and get a work job, they collect their seven-­hundred-­and-­some-­dollar check. Somebody need to get them outta there. Good thing I’m going to jail ’cause probably about ready to take . . . people . . . waste of lives. I hate to say it.

			Grate is opening up. You can sense that Mager feels she’s getting close. She plays along.

			Mager: You know what? I respect how real you are when you’re talking. It is frustrating. It is frustrating.

			Grate: It is. Aw, life’s just all hunky-­dory to get their free monthly. Everything taken care of and the state’s just damaging ’em more and more and they’re just accepting it.

			Mager steers it back to the question at hand.

			Mager: It’s true (pause) . . . I’m asking you to take me to where she is . . . If you’re willing to do it, we’ll go load up and go there.

			Grate asks for a cigarette. Mager doesn’t smoke.

			Mager: Will you take me there?

			Grate: I can take you to a place in Mansfield.

			Mager: Where she is? Where you gonna take me in Mansfield? Where there’s another girl?

			Grate: Where there is a girl. A nut.

			Another girl. In the middle of Mager trying to find Elizabeth, Grate starts talking about another girl in Mansfield, twenty-­five minutes southwest of Ashland.

			Mager: She’s a what?

			Grate: [Motions to his head.] Left these right here on my forehead.

			Mager: Alright. What happened to her?

			Grate doesn’t answer.

			Mager: Hey, are you okay? What happened? She gone?

			Grate: [Sounds like he’s crying.] She’s been gone. No hope.

			Mager: Has she been buried, or did you just leave her somewhere? Shawn. Is she missing?

			Grate: [Crying.] I don’t know.

			Mager: You don’t know?

			Grate: I know I loved her.

			Mager: Okay.

			Grate: [Crying.] I just couldn’t stand her ’cause she’d lie all the time.

			Mager: Okay.

			Grate: And she’s so lost in this world . . . Always threatening to kill herself all the time.

			Mager: Is she in a house? What is she in? Shawn, what is she in?

			Grate: [Crying, sniffling.] Woods.

			Mager: She’s in the woods? Okay. How long has she been there? How long?

			Grate: June.

			Mager: Okay. And she’s the one that scratched you like that?

			Grate: Yeah, she’s the one who scratched me.

			Mager: Alright. What’s her name?

			Grate: [Long pause.] Candice.

			Mager: Candice?

			Grate: Cunningham.

			Mager: Cunningham? I’m sorry. You said Cunningham?

			Grate: [I don’t know if anyone] reported her missin’ or not.

			Mager: Okay. Did she hurt your head there when that was happening in the woods, or did it happen somewhere else and you took her to the woods?

			Grate: Happened somewhere else and I took her to the woods.

			Mager: Okay. Why’d you put her in the woods? ’Cause you were afraid? Were you afraid? Is that why you put her in the woods?

			Grate: I told her I was gonna lay her ass down in the woods if you lied to me again. And about twenty-­four hours after that [unintelligible] . . . She didn’t get down the street. Took her ass out. Accident.

			Grate gives the detective a description and directions of where he’d disposed of her body. A gas station, a landscaping business. A burned house.

			Mager knows there are more. She knows in her bones. She has just discovered he’s a serial killer. She needs to know who else is out there.

			Mager: So we’re going to find Candice . . . Who else we gonna go find?

			[Long pause.]

			Mager: Hey, remember I told you I’m not going to judge you. I meant it. You’re open and honest and I way appreciate it. Who else can we go to look for?

			Grate: [Matter-­of-­factly] I guess I’m ready to go ahead and get my lethal injection. But I’ll tell you everything first.

			Mager: Okay.

			Grate: How many before injections?

			Mager: How many what?

			Grate: How many people before I get lethally injected?

			In his head, Grate thinks he needs to have a minimum number of victims in order to be eligible to be put to death.

			Mager: Let’s not worry about any of that.

			Grate: Okay.

			Mager: Who else? Well, already mentioned Elizabeth. Who you thinkin’ of?

			Grate: The house.

			Mager: The house what?

			Grate: The house where I came from.

			Mager: Yeah? There’s somebody in there?

			Grate: Yeah.

			Mager: Who is it? Is it Elizabeth?

			Grate: Yeah.

			Mager: Where is she in there?

			Grate: [In a small, almost childish voice] In the closet.

			Mager: In the closet? Which closet?

			Grate: Upstairs.

			Mager: What happened?

			Grate: [Unintelligible and crying.] There was nothing sexual.

			Mager: Okay. Alright, Shawn . . . Okay. How did you do it Shawn?

			Grate: She came over and I said I was gonna eat some chicken. She’s like, “Oh that sounds good.” I said, “Oh you want some?” She came over, she went back home. She calls me later, asks me what I was doin’. This is like eleven o’clock at night. Maybe it’s ten o’clock. She asked if I wanted to play some Yahtzee and talk some. “Alright, that’s fine, you wanna play.” She came over. She started bad mouthin’ [the woman who called 911 on him], too, in a way . . . they have their moments—­it’s like a girl thing. So I try and listen. Blah, blah, blah. I just wish she wasn’t around no more. I’m not going to marry her. I don’t see no one else marryin’ her. She’s just gonna be miserable all her life.

			Mager: Okay. So with Elizabeth, you wanted to free her. How did you do that? Same way with Candice or another way?

			Grate: [Blows nose.] Same way.

			Mager: Same way. Okay. Is she in anything or just in the closet?

			Grate: Closet.

			Mager: I mean, did you put her in anything?

			Grate: Just a bunch of clothes . . . Are in there. Flies.

			Mager: Flies?

			Grate: The flies are crazy.

			Mager inserts a break to relay the new information to other detectives.

			At the house, the police search for the closet but can’t find it. Then an officer sees a pile of clothes and stuffed animals underneath a patchwork of clothes that had been tacked up against the wall. He moves the clothes and discovers a door, taped shut with black duct tape. He opens the door and realizes it’s a closet. The smell hits him first. Then he sees the maggots. And the bottles of air fresheners. Under a pile of shirts and pants and blankets, he discovers the naked body of a woman, lying facedown, bound with black ligatures around her ankles.

			Back at the station, Grate is drawing a map of where he left Candice Cunningham’s body. No one ever reported Candice Cunningham missing. In the spring of 2016, she told her family she was moving to North Carolina. No one ever saw her again. He tells Mager that after he killed Candice, he wrapped her naked body in a blanket and walked her into the woods in Mansfield.

			He says they had been dating for seven months. He killed her at 3:00 a.m. “I get hit in the face with a bag of tobacco. I just snapped . . . ‘Roll me a cigarette.’ That’s what she says. I’m like, ‘You woke me up to roll you a cigarette?’ ”

			So he killed her.

			Then he explained what he did to Elizabeth. He took her to his house. They went to the second floor. “And she is kinda like, trying to put the moves on me, which was weird because I wasn’t talkin’ to her. I didn’t really feel that.”

			So he choked her.

			“I just reached out and just choked her, right? I asked her, ‘You sure this is what you want?’ And I mean, because she talked about like, killing herself, so I’m going to do that as jokes a lot of times, like even with friends, like guy friends, whatever, you know what I mean? . . . She fought it. I was like, ‘It’s not what you want?’ And then she started like blowing up. Like she took it out of proportion. Like I was just joking. She got all serious. There wasn’t no calming her down. She just lost it. And I panicked.”

			Mager: You panicked? And then you just did it again?

			Grate: Didn’t have another choice to like, calm her down. She was just movin’ around and stuff. Threw her on the bed and like . . . ah, man.

			Mager: So did you strangle her again? Is that how she died, or is there another way?

			Grate: No, that’s the way she died.

			So to be clear, Grate is saying he pretended to choke Elizabeth because she talked about wanting to die. Then she became upset with him. Then he choked her for real and murdered her.

			“I put her in the closet,” Grate continues. “Threw a bunch of clothes in the closet and shut it. And I just been killin’ a lot of flies. Openin’ the window, lettin’ the flies out. It’s crazy. Surprised it don’t stink worse than it does.”

			Mager now has him for Elizabeth’s murder. But she knows there are more.

			Mager: Are there any other girls in the house right now?

			Grate: Mm-­hmm.

			Mager: Yeah?

			Grate: One. Down in the basement.

			Mager: Tell me about it.

			Grate: She just led me on to the point where it was no stopping. It really irritated me. Ex-­druggie, supposedly, I guess . . . I just snapped on her.

			Mager: What’s her name?

			Grate: Stacey.

			It was Stacey Stanley, the other missing woman the police turned to Facebook to find that week.

			“She at first, kinda liked playin’ around,” Grate says. “And then she wanted to play the innocent thing, so I just kinda just snapped on her. She wanted to play all innocent, but she come home with me at eleven o’clock, don’t even know me. I mean, kinda like almost sent from God; coulda been sent from the devil, I don’t know. Someone gave up on her.”

			He admits to having “sex” with her—­he forced her to perform oral sex on him. Then describes how he choked her and the aftermath. “Tongue out of her mouth. When you choke women out . . . they die with their tongue out of their mouth.”

			The news is relayed to the officers back at the house. Under a pile of trash, they find Stacey’s body, partially nude, a ligature around her neck.

			The question on Mager’s mind is “why did the woman he kidnapped and raped—­the woman who called 911—survive for so long? Why was she able to escape? When Mager asked if he had been going to kill her, too, Grate answers “No, never.”

			“What’s the difference?” asks Mager.

			“ ’Cause she’ll help people.”

			Can you follow the logic? No. Neither can I. Because it’s all bullshit. He killed on a whim. Because it was convenient.

			Grate then goes on to say he has a four-­year-­old girl named Violet. And he had a wife named Amber. Then Mager asked about his mom.

			Grate: Yeah. Whatever I get, she should get, too.

			Mager: Why?

			Grate: . . . She’s a nut. Nut. My mom’s been in her own prison all her life . . . She’ll be goin’, “Oh I forgot to live my life.” She’s probably sayin’ that now.

			So we have a deadbeat dad who is blaming the state and now he’s blaming his mom.

			Mager keeps going. She asks him if there are any more victims. Maybe from something that happened six months or a year ago.

			Grate: This is all recent stuff. Dark secrets.

			Mager: Nothing, nothing beyond that?

			Grate: No.

			Mager keeps Grate talking about the cases he has admitted to. He goes on, saying things like “My violence starts when the lies start . . . I just think I’ve been lied a lot to by women. I can smell a bullshitter.” That he “didn’t have a choice.”

			He says when Stacey was at his house, she “just gave me these flashbacks to all these other women that’s probably broken my heart . . . Flashbacks, like my mom, really.”

			He talks about choking Candice and having blood come out of her nose and how the blood got on the drywall of the house they were staying in—­so he tried to burn down the house. He dumped her body and spent weeks walking through the woods to get to Ashland, spending the nights in trailers he broke into. When he killed Elizabeth, she let off a “big scream” and then she died. He tied her up just in case she wasn’t really dead.

			“Why strangulation?” Mager asks him. “Why not another way? What makes your mind go there?”

			“Messy,” Grate answers.

			“Messy?”

			“I thought any other way would be messy.”

			Mager files this away as well. She keeps him talking.

			Mager: You ever pay for prostitutes?

			Grate: I have.

			Mager: Any bad situations there?

			Grate: No.

			Mager: Okay.

			Grate: They always wanted me to keep driving them around and around. That didn’t work out.

			What did that mean? And you know where my head is going. Lindsey and Danielle? The timeline puts Grate in Ashland, located eighty miles from Columbus, on August 16, 2016, the day Elizabeth disappeared. In early interviews, he tells cops he’s been in town since a little after July 4. There are reports that Danielle was last seen August 17, 2016, in downtown Columbus, though others said they saw her around Labor Day. Lindsey was both choked and stabbed. MO might be different for his recent murders, but he has stabbed before. In one of his interrogations, he denied he had other victims in surrounding areas. But as you will learn, nothing out of Shawn Grate’s mouth can be trusted.

			I had to talk to him. I pulled his record. 2007: Falsification, identity, obstruction theft in Crawford County. 2009: Possession of marijuana. 2010: Domestic violence. 2013: Arrested for receiving stolen property. 2014: Arrested for drug paraphernalia. 2016: Arrested in Mansfield for a warrant out of Crawford County. He was convicted of multiple murders and sentenced to life in prison in 2018. He was sitting in a cell in Chillicothe, of all places.

			With COVID an issue, I had to hire boots on the ground. I asked around and was blessed to find Andrea Simakis, a hard-­charging reporter and casualty of the Cleveland Plain Dealer layoffs. Andrea emailed Grate through JPay, a service that provides email and money transfers to inmates, in an attempt to set up an interview for me. Grate wrote her back—­and asked for her picture. We wrote back, saying I wanted to talk to him. He asked for money. We said no. We waited him out. He asked for money for the call. We put some money in his media account.

			I waited about two weeks. Then one Sunday afternoon, my cell buzzes. The caller ID reads: Chillicothe, Ohio.

			“Hello,” says the smooth, feminine robotic voice. “This is a prepaid debit card from . . .”

			A man’s voice inserts itself. “Shawn Grate.”

			“An inmate at Chillicothe Correctional Institution. To accept this call, press zero.”

			I introduce myself to Grate and explain how this book came to be. I tell him Danielle’s and Lindsey’s stories. How they were friends from Columbus. How they both went missing around the same time and their bodies were found in a neighboring county.

			“Have you ever heard about any women going missing from places like Columbus?”

			Grate immediately goes on the defensive, thinking I’m trying to pin more murders on him.

			“My conscience is clear, to be honest. Many people don’t want to believe me. I can sleep now at night.”

			“People don’t want to believe that you haven’t killed more people?” I ask.

			“Yes,” he replies.

			I want him to keep talking. He is a narcissist. Maybe he will slip up and give information about the unsolved murders. So I feigned Mindhunter-­like curiosity.

			“The reason I want to talk to you is if you can help me figure out what these other guys are thinking. These other killers.

			“There are a lot of women’s bodies being found in Ohio,” I continue. “The police are often writing off these women being found as overdoses.”

			“Yeah, that’s what they did with Rebekah Leicy, because, I mean, we fought for hours.”

			Rebekah Leicy was the one murder he didn’t discuss when he was first confessing his sins to Detective Mager. When he said there were no other murders. Leicy was raised in Mansfield. She was described by her father, Bob Leicy, in a 2019 interview with the Mansfield News Journal as “a spunky little brat . . . She acted like a little girl who didn’t get her way.” He said a boy opened her world to hard drugs. She had a baby at sixteen and then spent most of her life on the streets of Mans­field.

			Her body was found in Mansfield in March 2015.

			Grate begins to walk me through what happened.

			“I tried to calm her down for a good four hours and she ended up dying in my arms and I wasn’t choking her or anything. I was trying to calm her down, I didn’t know what to do, so I did choke her out a couple of times. Only enough to regain, like, wow—­what do I do in this situation?”

			In less than ten seconds, he goes from saying “I wasn’t choking her or anything” to “I did choke her out a couple of times.” Having read his interactions with detectives, I know he is an absolute liar and this is total bullshit. But I play along.

			“So . . . you tried to choke her out to calm her down?” I ask.

			Grate attempts to flesh out the story. He says they were hanging out at a store called Eclectic Tempo. The owners had given Grate the keys to the store so he could work on the handcrafted signs he likes to build and paint. Grate is something of a woodworking artist. He and Rebekah were talking, and then he went to the back of the store to go to the bathroom. While he was walking, he heard his money clip open. Grate went back and confronted her. He says Rebekah tried to leave.

			“I stood in front of the door and she tried to go around me and I called her out on it. I said, ‘I heard my money clip, just give me my money and you can leave. Now I don’t know what you took, but let’s go back and let me see for myself.’ I tried to calm her down; she kept fighting to leave. Come to find out I had $65 in my money clip and she took $40.

			“I got a life sentence over her. But my intention wasn’t to kill her,” he said.

			“At what point did you realize she was dead?” I asked.

			“She yelled, ‘Shawn, you killed me,’ and died. Just like that—­was out. So I’m like—­man, I wasn’t cutting her air off or anything. I just had my arm around her shoulder trying to hold her laying down gently. Calm down, you know. Take deep breaths, relax. That was it. That was the last thing that she said, which freaked me out.”

			Grate stored her body temporarily in a hard plastic golf bag, then waited for a friend to show up with a car. He then borrowed the car from the unknowing accomplice and transported Rebekah’s body to a dump site.

			“Investigators have ruled that a Mansfield woman whose body was found in Ashland County in March died of a drug overdose and did not suffer a traumatic death,” went the lede in a June 25, 2015, story in the Ashland Times-­Gazette. “On Wednesday, the Ashland County Coroner’s Office confirmed its original autopsy finding that the death of Rebekah L. Leicy, 31, contained ‘no evidence of traumatic foul play.’ ”

			If Grate hadn’t named her as his fifth victim, Rebekah would still be considered one of the 3,050 Ohioans dead by “unintentional drug overdoses” in 2015. How many other Rebekahs are out there?

			“With everything else that happened, she was my second,” Grate says. “About ten years later after Dana, she happened to be my second victim. Then a few years later, 2016 happened.”

			Click.

			The call ends. Fifteen minutes, the maximum time for a call from the prison, were up.

			It should be noted that Becky’s father, Bob, doesn’t believe Grate killed his daughter, saying in the same interview, “Becky was a drug addict, and she wasn’t afraid to tell you . . . Becky was a prostitute, too.” He went on to call his daughter a thief and said her death might have been the result of her stealing from a dealer. But clearly, Grate did it.

			A minute later, Grate calls me back.

			“What happened with Dana Lowrey?” I ask, referring to his first kill, from 2006.

			At the time, Grate was living in his grandparents’ house in Marion, Ohio.

			“I just seen her walking around and I had stopped in the car to see what she was doing. She was selling magazines, and I said, ‘Hey, you want to take a break? Want to go grab some lunch?’ She said, ‘No, I’m not hungry, but I’ll sit down and talk to you.’ She started talking to me about selling the magazines and stuff. I said, ‘Well, I only have 20 bucks.’ She said, ‘Oh, I’ll give you a real good deal. I’ll give you a Sports Illustrated.’ I said, ‘I don’t know, I really can’t.’ She just kept going on. So we left it at that and just driving around and she decided to hang out and stuff. We went to where I was living. Then she brought it up again about the Sports Illustrated. She just wouldn’t leave me alone about it—­she was determined until I made some type of deal. So I was like, ‘Let’s go, I’ll take you back. I don’t want to buy no magazines and that’s all we’re talking about.’ We started arguing a little bit.”

			Grate says that Dana then started acting aggressive. He reached for the door, and she “flinched,” then “she came down on me with the pen, hit me in the shoulder. The pen broke. I just flipped out after that. Thinking about everything that led up to that—­arguing with my mom, arguing with my baby’s mom, my sister. Now this. All of a suddenly I just kind of flipped out and I overreacted. I got scared. So that came a panic. So I took her to the basement after I already messed up, I knew I messed up.”

			“Messed up” are his words for killing Dana.

			Grate had a roommate, a woman named Christina, who was due to return in ninety minutes. So he took Dana’s body down to the basement, down the steps he used to sit on as a child while he watched TV with his grandma and grandpa. That night, he hosted a bonfire party for his friends in his yard. He blocked the basement door with a couch in case someone accidentally ventured into the house. Around 6:00 a.m. the next morning, he took Dana’s body into the woods. Three months later, he went back and set it on fire. Her remains were stumbled upon by hunters two years later.

			Grate had admitted this murder to Mager, two days after he was arrested. In that story, he said that Dana had sold a magazine subscription to his mother, but the magazines never came. So he saw her walking down the street and asked her if she wanted to come to his house. The way he was able to get her to follow him changed three times. First, he said he was going to buy magazines and had money at his house. Second, he invited her to hang out. In the third and final version, he said he wanted to show her his sports card collection. She came in and said, “Oh neat!” and then he confronted her: “So you’re going to rip me off like you did my mom?”

			Many serial killers like to change their stories. Because most start with a lie. Then they try to bend the truth, try to see how they might be able to squeeze out of the situation. When that doesn’t work, they attempt to make themselves look a tiny bit better in the situation.

			“I strangled her,” he says. “Oh wait. No, I didn’t. I strangled her at first, then I dragged her down in the basement after she passed out. I panicked, I ran upstairs. I grabbed a knife, I stabbed her in the neck.”

			This must have been when he determined stabbing was “messy.”

			Once he finally admitted to the murder—­remember, two days earlier, he said the bodies in the house were his only victims—­he was eager to have the credit. “How can I prove that the one in Marion [is mine]?” he asked Mager.

			When she pressed, “Is there another one I don’t know about?” Grate responded, “No, there’s four. I mean, I’m not in denial. I believe the denial-­ness is out of my system. I am focusing on this straight.”

			This was bullshit.

			Because there was another “one.” Grate said he didn’t kill anyone else until 2015. Then 2016 happened. Stacey. Elizabeth. Candice. So he was a liar. Because he was still not revealing he had killed Rebekah Leicy. So it was proven he held on to facts. He played games. He was adamant there were only four murders—­when there were five. At least five. Five was all we were up to. He had been sticking to the number five for the past few years.

			I want to ask him about Candice, because that “one” seemed the most personal.

			“Well, Candice, she was kind of my girlfriend,” Grate begins. “We hung out, but she’d still go do her own thing. She was getting a little carried away. After several arguments with Candice, she just kept coming over and stuff, and then I told Candice. I said, ‘If you keep coming over, I’m going to end up killing you because you come over, threaten to kill yourself all the time’ . . . There’s numerous times she’d have a handful of pills or razor blade, she’d grab one of my razor blades or knives and I’d turn and there she was. She was just looking at her wrist and I see she has a razor blade.”

			Grate’s voice is not necessarily matter-­of-­fact. It is closer to asking a question rather than stating what happened. He meanders a bit around the facts. The story is soft, full of holes, but he speaks with confidence.

			“You seriously going to kill me?” she asked him. “I’m like, ‘Yeah.’ She’s like, ‘What are you going to do with my body?’ and I’m like, ‘I’ll take you to the woods.’ She said, ‘No, don’t kill me, like, are you seriously going to let dogs eat me up, animals?’ ‘Whatever. You’d be dead. It wouldn’t matter.’ ”

			“What was the final moment with Candice?” I ask.

			“She jumped on my head while [I was] sleeping. I said, ‘What are you doing?’ She’s like, ‘What are you talking about?’ ‘You’re on my head.’ I told her to move. Just move. I cracked her and threw her out the door and then she just kept fighting back.”

			He had told Mager that Candice threw a pouch of tobacco at him, starting the fight.

			There is a pattern here. Grate says he kills women who said they wanted to kill themselves. Or he kills women he believes are relying on the state to survive.

			“You had said the government had taken these women’s minds,” I say. “How so?”

			“Checks that the government gives to a lot of people. They’re capable of working, just put them on some meds and get them in check. Candice was one of them. Every month she’d get seven-­hundred-­something dollars just to do whatever. She’d always spend it on drugs. She was on drugs real bad.”

			“You said they were already dead,” I say to him. “What did you mean?”

			“Mentally, they took their strive. The government would take their strive out of people. Like here’s some money, now you don’t got to do nothing. Just do whatever you want. That’s what I mean. No everyday job or nothing.”

			“So in your mind you think you put them out of their misery?”

			“Yeah, for sure,” Grate answers. “My sacrifice is my life, you know. Not necessarily dead now.”

			Click. The call cuts off.

			Grate was painting himself as a mission-­oriented killer. He was saving people from themselves. People who relied on the government. People who said they wanted to die. He blamed everyone but himself.

			In the interview with Mager right after he was arrested, Grate blamed everyone for the murders but himself.

			He blamed the government: “Talk to Stacey [one of his victims] about if they had any assisted-­living places around here. The homeless shelters shut down. So, really it’s all Ashland’s fault for everything that I done.”

			He blamed his victims. He said Stacey sealed her fate when her friend changed her tire. Grate said he knew he was her sugar daddy. Stacey said he was just a friend. But Grate “knew” better.

			And lastly—­he blamed his mom. Grate’s father left when he was fourteen—­he moved across the street. Mom had moved out earlier, so it was Grate and his sixteen-­year-­old brother in a house alone. It became the party house of the neighborhood. His mom came back two years later, and Grate moved in with her and her boyfriend, Mike. They fought all the time. He said his mom pushed him and he grabbed his mom to break his fall, and Mike popped him in the mouth. That was the beginning of the end.

			He said his mom used to talk about serial killers a lot when he was a kid. And it planted a seed.

			He said things like, “Because she’s my mom I can’t hurt her. And I didn’t want to be one of them kids that killed their parents. I mean, I figured I’d just grow out of it and move on.”

			In the course of his interrogation, he lied over and over.

			He even said at one point, “I think I got my master’s in a liar. I can be a great deceiver, really. I can lie and keep my stories straight.”

			So when Mager asked him, “Has there been anybody that you’ve attempted to get in your car that you couldn’t get in? I asked that because we’ve got surrounding areas where you have been and I need to know if I don’t need to look for somebody anymore,” I pricked up. Because those surrounding areas included Columbus and Fairfield County.

			“I’ve thought about it,” Grate replied. “But no.”

			He also didn’t like being called a serial killer.

			“I really don’t . . . Serial killing. Just, things happen. I really didn’t seek out to destroy. I don’t want to be a random killer. I don’t want to just hurt someone for no reason. I’m confused about it because I’m everywhere. You know what I mean? Not just one motive.”

			Can you name the motives in his five murders? No. Because his stories are molded, pushed, pulled, and fabricated justifications of his behavior.

			“Just wanna kill the flakes,” he told Mager at one point. “The Frosted Flakes or Fruit Loops.”

			“You what?” she responded. “Say that again.”

			“That I want to kill the Fruit Loops. Cereal killer. Fruit Loops . . . Yeah. I remember seeing that on a shirt—­‘Cereal killer.’ ”

			After I spoke to him, then went back and read all his interviews, this may have been the moment. For some of you, it may have happened earlier. For others, it will happen later. But for me, reading this line is the moment when it hit me—­we are probably not hunting for Hannibal Lecter. We are not looking for a devious mastermind who has his shit together. The serial killers who have been romanticized in popular culture had a plan. Son of Sam. Ted Bundy. Jeffrey Dahmer. BTK. The Zodiac Killer. The men who are murdering these women? Slaton. Grate. For the most part, they are morons. They are fucked-­up little narcissistic men-­children. We want them to be clever. We want them to be the face of evil. We want them to be extraordinary. Because then there would only be a select few of them. And that is what makes it so frustrating. We can’t catch these guys? We have to wait till one of them falls asleep and lets his next victim call the cops from her captive bed?

			Like Sowell and Little, Grate is another example of Ohio being unaware a serial killer was operating in their state and doing nothing to catch him. To not see the patterns in Columbus and Middletown and Dayton is just them repeating history.

			Do I want to get into his head, Mindhunter-­style? What would that give me? There is one thing to learn from this latest serial killer to be caught in Ohio: Many of them don’t have a plan. They just do. They stumble into their murders. They are ready to kill. There could be a mastermind out there picking off women at will. But he is the outlier.

			Do I want to talk to Grate again? To listen to him lie and justify?

			I wait a few days for his next call. He reaches out to Andrea and says he wants money to keep talking.

			We decline. He asks for money for art supplies. He makes art from prison and sells it. He wants two hundred bucks.

			“No,” I reply. I’m not going to give this guy money so he can sell his “artwork” to all the misguided souls who think they are collecting the next iteration of John Wayne Gacy’s clown paintings. No.

			Two days later, he writes back. “I’ve got a better offer,” he says.

			I don’t want to close the door on him. He is a liar and will continue to lie. And I can find no proof he was in Columbus around the time Danielle and Lindsey went missing. But he is playing games. This is the only power he has by this point.

			I tell Andrea to write him back a response. Four words.

			“Go fuck yourself, shitbird.”

			Grate is a dead end. I have to continue to press Columbus and Fairfield County PD. I have to get them to give a shit. I have to get loud. I also have to check back in on Danielle’s father, Scott, and tell him Grate was a bust. I have to get the Middletown police to talk to me. Same thing with the Fairfield police. And the Columbus police.

			And I have to find CeeCee. To see if she has heard anything about Danielle’s and Lindsey’s cases, but more to just make sure she was alright.

		

	


		
			Chapter 14

			One Soul at a Time

			Shawn Grate was a killer and a liar. But he was probably not the killer of Danielle and Lindsey. But there was another guy who has been mentioned in the same breath as the two women who went missing from Columbus and whose bodies were found in Fairfield County.

			Danielle’s dad, Scott, told me that when he was in rehab, a guy in group therapy came up to him and said, “I know you from somewhere.” They tried to figure out from where but couldn’t. When it came time for Scott to tell his life story, everybody already knew something about his daughter. He played the video from Crime Watch Daily.

			After the video clip played, he told the group, “That kind of sums it up for me.”

			After the group session ended, the same guy came up to him and said, “Man, I know where I know you from. It was that video. I was in jail with a guy named Edwin Zimmerman.”

			In the early morning of New Year’s Day 2017, three months after Lindsey’s body was discovered in the cornfield and two months after Danielle’s body was found in the creek behind a crop, a man picked up a sex worker along Parsons Avenue in South Columbus, offering her $300 for intercourse. She entered his white minivan, and they started a conversation that soon “turned to prostitutes who had been found dead in a cornfield,” according to court documents. The man used a mocking tone, wondering if the cops were ever going to find their killer. The woman was uncomfortable, but not enough to get out of the car.

			Then the man drove into a cornfield.

			He told the woman to get into the back of the van. She refused. He pulled out a pocketknife. He opened the three-­inch blade and made slashing motions in the air in front of her face. The woman bolted out of the van.

			The man drove away, but not before the woman was able to write down his license plate number on the sleeve of her sweatshirt. The woman had warrants out for her arrest, so she normally wouldn’t have reported anything. But she thought this man would have killed her if she hadn’t escaped. Police tracked down the van and its owner. The man’s name? Edwin Zimmerman.

			In 2009, Zimmerman had been sentenced to twenty years for rape. During the trial, the prosecutor told the courtroom, “When interviewed, Mr. Zimmerman said he has had sex with eight to nine hundred prostitutes in the past seven years. He could not recall the names or faces and could not estimate how many were forced to have sex with him.”

			The conviction was overturned on appeal the next year, and in 2011, he cut a deal to have his time reduced to five years.

			He was released from jail in June 2016.

			In 2017, Fairfield County detectives told me they had ruled out Zimmerman as a suspect for Danielle’s and Lindsey’s murders. He had an alibi, at least for Lindsey’s murder, which they knew took place within twenty-­four hours of when her body was found.

			Back in 2017, I contacted Zimmerman’s attorney to try to get an interview with him. His attorney declined. But Zimmerman took a plea deal of four years for kidnapping the sex worker on New Year’s Day in 2017. He left prison in January 2021. It was time to try to talk to him again.

			I learn Zimmerman is living in a halfway house and track down a cell phone number that is supposed to be his.

			I call him to attempt to set up an in-­person meeting to talk about sex workers in Ohio. And he answers.

			“What’s all this concerning? I don’t know if you’re familiar—­I’m in an exit program out of prison and I’m on parole and stuff. These people here do not want no dealings with the press, the paper, nothing, they don’t want nothin’ to do with it.”

			He won’t meet up with me. He says he won’t talk to me. But he keeps talking. And talking. And talking.

			“I don’t know if you’re familiar with the last case that I was convicted on . . .”

			“I am, yeah.”

			“Okay. Where the girl said I kidnapped her and all that?”

			“Yes.”

			“I’ve got evidence, clear-­cut evidence. You would clearly see that the cops basically used the victim to convict me or to get me off the streets, plain and simple. I mean, I did not do what the girl said. I pled guilty to it to get the sentence knocked down to four years. ’Cause I wanted to go home. At my age, sixty years old. I have issues with the system.”

			With some people, if they are talkers, you just let them talk. That is what I did.

			He tells me that the kidnap survivor’s story “changed multiple times, the dates changed, the times changed, the prosecutor used multiple dates and times which was none of the above. I’d been with this girl a couple of times. On 12/24 at nine o’clock, I was with her. We went to the same location as we did on January 1, now the time she claims that I attempted to rape her and kidnap her. I tried to explain this to the cops and my lawyers, and they did not wanna listen to me.”

			Then Zimmerman turns his attention to the police. He says the cops are using women on the streets to make cases against people they don’t like.

			“Not to brag, but I’ve been dealing with the prostitutes since late seventies, early eighties, since I was a teenager. And I’ve literally watched ’em evolve over the years, and these cops are literally forcing and threatening these girls to literally get certain individuals off the streets that are into drugs.”

			He turns back to his case.

			“They said Fairfield County talked to her first. That she got the tag number that night, but she told another detective she got it three days later. If she had the tag number the same night and she talked to Fairfield County regarding the two dead girls, why didn’t Fairfield County arrest me on the spot or come talk to me instead of waitin’ over a month?”

			He brought it up so I didn’t have to.

			“Fairfield County?” I reply. “So she was talking about Danielle Greene and Lindsey Maccabee?”

			“Yes. And I had never had an encounter or run-­in. I didn’t know neither one of them girls. And when she accused me that night and jumped out, I knew something was fishy. I didn’t know nothin’ about the girls. I had just gotten released from prison—­I was not aware of ’em.”

			As the court noted in 2017, Zimmerman admits that he’s been with more than eight hundred sex workers over the past forty years. Zimmerman holds up this statistic like a badge of honor. He knows how the game is played. He is a veteran. But he claims he has never been violent.

			“There’s never been a mark on one of ’em,” he says. “I’ve never used a weapon. That’s the thing—­these girls literally, like when you make an arrangement with ’em and you tell ’em certain things that what you want and then once they get high, they’re out here robbin’. They’ll say, ‘Well, give me $40 so I can get me some dope before I do this.’ That’s why some women are coming up killed. Because these girls are so thrivin’ off the dope, that what happens is when they get out there on the street and they find new guys or guys that look vulnerable, they tell someone, ‘I need some dope before.’ Well, they get your money and go in the front door and go out the back and they never see ya.”

			“So then who kills them?” I ask.

			“I can’t tell ya names ’cause I don’t know. But just like Jessica Nichols—­she grew up with my daughter. She was killed on I-71 I think in 2015 or ’14. Throwed out of a car.”

			Jessica Nichols was a twenty-­two-­year-­old mother. On August 21, 2013, someone pushed her out of a car into oncoming traffic on Interstate 71. Eight vehicles struck her. Nichols battled addiction and turned to sex work to feed her habit. The Dispatch reported that word on the street was that a dealer had struck her in the face and she hit him right back.

			Zimmerman heard another rumor about Nichols’s murder: “By what I hear from my people, the people that I know from the street over the years, the drug boys and stuff, she was literally out there robbin’ and there’s multiple girls that do that.”

			Even with all these rumors, there are still no arrests in the Nichols case. And she has yet to make it onto Ohio attorney general Dave Yost’s “Submit a Tip on an Ohio Unsolved Homicide” page. She brings the number of murdered women we know of who haven’t rated a mention on Yost’s website to fifteen.

			Zimmerman keeps going, talking with all the fervor of an old-­time baseball fan complaining how much better the game was back in the day. It’s turning into a rant.

			“And then the cops are givin’ these girls drugs. I’ve tried to get people to look this up—­look how many guys that are in prison right now, or even in Franklin County jail, based on prostitution. Because if you pay ’em, they want $200 to do all this and then when they get high and stuff, they don’t wanna do it so then you don’t pay ’em the $200 you agreed on, then they run to the cops and tell the cops, ‘Hey, this man raped me!’ ”

			Zimmerman claims this is happening more and more.

			“The case of mine in 2017. We agreed on a price, she reneged on half of what I wanted, she didn’t do it, so I didn’t pay her all the money, she got mad, started beatin’ on the dashboard of my truck, actin’ crazy, and I forced her out of the vehicle. There was never no weapon involved, but she goes cryin’ to the police and sayin’ I had a weapon—­I never did!”

			I attempt to steer the conversation back to Danielle and Lindsey. “Did you talk to the Fairfield County Sheriff’s Office?”

			“Yes!” he answers emphatically. “They did an interview with me. I offered to give them the GPS outta my van, do a polygraph. After their investigation, after I was convicted and stuff, and they used this at my trial to convict me, they let this girl testify. Basically, sayin’ that I told her I killed . . . and if you read her police statement, I never told her I killed these women or how they died or anything, but my lawyer let ’em get it into court and they basically convinced a jury, that’s why they convicted me! Because there was no evidence that I had kidnapped her. The evidence was, and I think the jury believed that I actually could have possibly been the one that killed these two women, and they didn’t want to take the chance of lettin’ me out on the street!”

			At his trial, he wanted to present character witnesses—­women who he regularly hired for sex work. “I had prostitutes write letters for me and gave ’em to my lawyer, saying that they had been with me at the same location and partied with me and I was not that type of guy. But my lawyer would not bring that up in court because he said it would look bad on me.

			“These girls have such a thirst for drugs that they’re literally out here doing stuff that most of the girls back in the seventies and eighties and early nineties were not doing.”

			“The addiction is that strong,” I say.

			“Well, they were addicted back in the seventies and eighties, too,” he says. “But they weren’t like this. Back in them days they were all about pleasing, taking care of their customer. Customer comes first, you do what you do to get what you could, get the tip, get the extra money. Today they’re on scandalous-­ass shit and the cops are taking full advantage of it. They’re devious and they’re plotting and they don’t give a shit about the customer no more. There’s no more loyalty to the customer.”

			Jesus. I don’t think this guy is a killer. He is definitely a piece of shit. But a killer? He sounds like a hobbyist. He sounds like a guy complaining about cancel culture. But he does have insight. I let him keep talking.

			“It’s on the street now, if a girl says, ‘Hey, I got a place to go, an apartment or a house,’ it’s forbidden. You do not go there. ’Cause as soon as you walk through the door, you’re gonna get robbed, they’re gonna take your car, and they’re gonna take you out, beat your ass, and leave you in an alley. I’ve had that happen to me before, so I can tell you firsthand, this is what they’re doing today.”

			Why have sex with a man for $100 when you can take all his money, jewelry, and car? He’s not going to tell the police. And you—­or really, your pimp—­now have that much more money for your addiction.

			Or, Zimmerman says, they try to get you with hidden fees.

			“You got these young Black boys that are out here that are running these girls literally on some thirsty shit,” he says, using millennial vernacular. “If they can get the girl to collect $20 or $40, $50, and they bring ’em back—­as soon as you walk in the door, they want $100 for the room . . . But most time they’re robbin’ ya, just straight robbin’ ya.”

			“Are the guys that are putting the girls out the same ones that are selling dope?” I ask.

			He pauses. Since he seems to know so much about the industry, I ask him flat-­out: “Who do you think would have taken the girls in Fairfield County?”

			“It’s the dope boys!” he answers. “If another dope boy that moves in the neighborhood on the block, and he finds out she’s buyin’ dope—­he’ll literally go and say, ‘Hey, this is what you need to do, you need to get rid of him,’ so she’ll go and snitch on him. And that’s in my paperwork—­the cops say they do it. It’s in black and white, I got it right on trial transcripts. They literally say they did that. So these girls are running up tabs with these dope boys and they’re literally going and telling on them to the cops.”

			“And then they’re just killing them?” I ask.

			“So he finds out she’s doing some dirty backdoor shit. So these guys are goin’ out, stickin’ needles in their arm, givin’ them fucked-­up dope, and killin ’em. That’s exactly what they’re doin’!”

			A woman is with one dealer. The dealer uses her to rat out another dealer to the police. Or she begins taking drugs from both dealers, one of them finds out and kills her.

			“Do you know who any of these dope boys are?”

			“I do. But I would not put their name out there . . . Columbus police know who they are.”

			I ask him about Whiteboy. He says he’s heard the name but never ran into him.

			“Why would the police target you and not target these dope boys?” I ask.

			“Basically, with my criminal record, once you get labeled a certain thing and once they see you’re back out there in the mix. I’m not the only one, I’m just one that’s trying to speak up.”

			I think I’ve gotten enough out of Zimmerman, and we end the call. But what he was saying was a fascinating theory—­cops using women to inform on drug dealers and then not protecting them.

			I had heard stories like this before. That Danielle had ripped off a dealer and had two men from German Village coming after her. Or the stories about Whiteboy.

			The police in Fairfield won’t tell me if they have DNA in either Danielle’s or Lindsey’s cases. Law enforcement in the other cases in Middletown and Columbus won’t even discuss their cases with me.

			I need to keep pushing. But pushing during COVID presents challenges. People are working from home. They might even be working from out of state. Getting in people’s faces—­literally—­is dangerous. So I continued to work the phones from back in LA.

			And I will say this—­I have never had so many police departments not call me back when working on a story. Middletown? Nothing after two dozen calls. Columbus? Same. And Fairfield County, where this whole thing started? Where Danielle’s and Lindsey’s bodies were found? They weren’t calling me back either.

			Fairfield County sheriff Dave Phalen told Andrea Simakis to talk to a Detective Morgan to ask for Lindsey’s and Danielle’s autopsies.

			“I do appreciate what you guys are doin’—­it definitely helps,” he told her. “I know it’s something we have not released in the past just because of the integrity of the investigation.”

			I ask Andrea if he’ll at least tell me the cause of death so we can compare their murders to others we have identified in the area, like Jessica Turner’s. He says neither of them died of blunt-­force trauma like Jessica. She may have ultimately died from her stab wound to the neck, but four years ago they told us that Lindsey had experienced blunt-­force trauma to the head.

			After months of calling to find out the status of the investigations, a sergeant with the last name Feyko was finally worn down enough to call me.

			I began by asking when was the last time the sheriff reached out to Danielle’s and Lindsey’s families. He stops me. “Since it’s an ongoing investigation, we will not be discussing any information at this time.”

			“Your department talked to me in 2016,” I asked. “What changed?”

			“I’m telling you, it’s an open investigation and I don’t know why they talked to you in 2016. We’re not going to give you a detective to talk to.”

			Fuck.

			I need to make another trip back to Columbus. The police chief I’ve been trying to talk to—­to find out about the local leads for Danielle and Lindsey, the other murdered women in the city, and to find out if his department is still a shitshow after the Vice squad evilness—­well, he’s been replaced. I need to find out if the new chief was going to make this right.

			I need to check in with Scott. And press Fairfield County detectives for more answers. And look for CeeCee.

			My plan is to drive to Ohio from Indianapolis, where I’m shooting the last episode of Unraveled, the show where my co-executive producer Alexis Linkletter and I question the legal system on multiple topics. This day, I’m questioning a prosecutor who used suspect blood-­spatter evidence to convict a man of killing his wife and two children—­even after DNA from another perpetrator was found at the scene. After we wrap, I start up my rental car, turn on the radio, and catch a little bit of hope in the form of a commercial. It’s promoting an exhibit at the Indiana State Museum called “FIX: Heartbreak and Hope Inside Our Opioid Crisis.”

			The museum is only two miles away, so I head there for a quick side trip before Columbus to provide me with some added perspective.

			As I walk into the cavernous building, there are large footprint-­shaped stickers on the floor guiding me to the exhibit.

			“See how communities are innovating to find solutions to this crisis,” reads the left foot, while the right foot tells you that the FIX exhibit is on level three.

			The footprint stickers continue throughout the museum—­“Powerful stories of hope.” “Life-­changing lessons.” “Understanding.” Anything to try to drag kids and their parents away from the skeleton of Fred the Bull Mastodon on the first floor, and up to the third floor to learn about one of the biggest crises of our time.

			When I enter the exhibit, a computer screen asks me questions. “Fact or Fiction: My doctor prescribed this opioid, so it must be safe. True or False.” The next question: “What would you call someone who misuses opioids? A. Junkie. B. Someone with opioid-­use disorder. C. Addict. D. Druggie.”

			After the quiz, I walk through the exhibit, which begins by explaining that this isn’t a new phenomenon. In the 1890s, three hundred thousand people were addicted to opioids. “More than half were white, mostly middle-­ or upper-­class women.” Opium and morphine were common ingredients in household products. Mrs. Winslow’s Soothing Syrup, marketed for teething pain, came with trading cards.

			I move on to interactive exhibits, which all attempt to humanize addiction. It’s not only opioids. There are kiosks for alcohol. Social media. Nicotine. Caffeine. Shopping. In the center of the room is a giant papier-­mâché-­like brain that I walk into. Inside is a control panel with three switches in front of a giant screen. I press a button and a video plays, with a pleasant-­sounding voice explaining that opioids are a “bit like chemical superspies . . . they hack into your brain and hijack it.”

			The screen plays animations of what happens to the brain during addiction. The voice talks about neurotransmitters and dopamine and how opioids can attach themselves to the neurons in the brain and send signals, tricking a user into thinking, “This is good. Pleasurable. What you need.” When the signal stops, the brain responds with an intense craving that makes it even harder to resist. “The brain’s reward system becomes rewired to crave opioids above all else.”

			A second button goes on to tell me how everything can go wrong. The cycle of having to increase opioids just to feel normal. A third button tells me about treatment and recovery. Hope.

			A large sign sits at the exit of the exhibit. “What Are 3 Things You Can Do?” it reads. “1. Choose your words. 2. Reach out to someone in need. 3. Get NARCAN Training.”

			Wow. I guess those are three takeaways. Not using words like “getting clean.” Yes. Reaching out to someone in need? We should be reaching out even if someone isn’t in need. The signs might not always be there. But nothing about petitioning the government to decriminalize drug use or adding more treatment centers. And the last one is bleak—­learn how to carry around a bottle to save the life of someone who is overdosing—­because we know it’s going to keep happening.

			I get back into the rental car and head to Ohio, thinking at least people are trying to get the public to understand addiction in a novel way. But also wondering how that exhibit is ever going to compete with Fred the Bull Mastodon.

			Three hours later, I enter Columbus—­and drive into another crisis, one that has been going for four hundred years. The day before, Derek Chauvin—­the white Minneapolis cop who murdered forty-­six-­year-­old Black man George Floyd by pressing his knee into his neck for nine minutes and twenty-­nine seconds—­had been found guilty of murder. And that very night, a Columbus police officer shot sixteen-­year-­old Ma’Khia Bryant as she wielded a knife during a brawl in southeast Columbus. Protests outside of police headquarters led to the public information officer for Columbus PD sheepishly telling me that an interview with the interim police chief would be impossible.

			A march protesting the shooting was heading down High Street, so I go south toward Parsons Avenue, where Danielle and Lindsey were last seen. COVID continues to make it a ghost town. I meander around the blocks, searching for any semblance of life, and eventually find myself in front of Jayme Bowen’s house, her MISSING banner back up on the front porch.

			I stop and knock on the door and talk to her mom, Nancy, who greets me with the demeanor of a movie cop who is too old for this shit but still keeps going. She hasn’t heard from anyone about her missing daughter in over six months. She says the police don’t care. But she continues to look, starting with putting the banner back up.

			“I feel so much better with it up,” she tells me. “My grandson [Jayme’s son, who turned twelve in August 2021] thought we were celebrating she was missing. I told him, ‘No. We just want to get people’s attention.’ ”

			I also decide to finally attempt to make contact with Whiteboy via the number on the ad he was running for another sex worker. I held off before so as not to interfere with the investigation, but from where I was sitting five years later, there was little investigation to interfere with. I text the number, with a simple “Hi” at first to engage. Once I got an answer “who is this?” I ask if they were still making dates. “?” Then I ask if this was Whiteboy “No.” I follow with asking about women on Parsons being kidnapped and thrown in a trunk. The person on the other end is either being coy, or the five-­year-­old number has been assigned to someone else who was now very, very confused. Either way, Whiteboy is still in the wind.

			With every police department save Dayton stonewalling me, my last option for answers was to try to talk to the top lawman in the land: Ohio attorney general Dave Yost. Andrea and I sent numerous written requests and traded phone calls with Yost’s press representative, Steve Irwin. Irwin asked us for a list of cases we were looking into. We sent him information via a spreadsheet that included the names, dates, locations, and manner of death, along with live links to Yost’s own website if one of our cases had made it onto his “Search Unsolved Homicide Victims” page, created by his office, presumably, to bring attention to unsolved murders. Lindsey and Danielle are there, with a “Submit a Tip” tab beneath each of their pictures. We also included all the missing women we have been searching for: Shasta and Brandy and Tiffany and Tameka. Jayme and Wanda and Charlotte. Thirty names total. Maybe a task force that shares information freely could be established. Anything but inaction and silence. The hope was to, at the very least, get these women on the statewide radar. Because most of them aren’t. Of the nineteen names of murdered women we sent to Yost, only five were listed among his “cold cases.”

			Yost’s office is better at keeping track of the missing than the murdered—­of the eleven missing persons cases we sent to Yost’s office, ten were featured on his “Ohio Missing Persons” page. Then I read the fine print and realize it’s not Yost’s office that’s doing the work at all: “The Ohio Attorney General’s Office Bureau of Criminal Investigation is not the originating source of the information contained on this webpage,” reads a disclaimer. “The information is derived from the National Crime Information Center (NCIC) via the investigating agency’s initial reporting.” That’s the FBI, not the state of Ohio. The state was cribbing the information from the feds—­and not doing much work on their own. That’s another thing I wanted to talk to Yost about.

			After weeks of stalling, I finally get a call from Steve Irwin. I ask if the attorney general is going to be able to meet with me in the coming week.

			“Dave is not available this week. And . . . in general. He’s not going to comment.”

			After weeks, this is what we get?

			“So you’re going to have a no comment?” I ask.

			“Based on the fact that the cases are currently under investigation, I’m not sure it would be appropriate at this time.”

			“The issue here is you have a lot of dead bodies,” I tell him. “And based on our investigation, it doesn’t look like law enforcement has done a lot to find out who is killing these girls. I understand your office is trying to say you are committed to finding answers . . . But the police departments. They don’t look like they are doing a damn thing and I’ve been doing this for twenty-­five years and I’ve never seen police departments being so poor in the way these cases are being handled.”

			I stop my rant. And then there is silence. For fifteen seconds. I break it.

			“You there?” I ask.

			“Yeah,” Irwin says. “I understand your perspective, but we really can’t comment on ongoing investigations.”

			Then I turn into a dick.

			“Alright. I’ll put you down for no comment, then. But I have to tell you, you’re going to have a big spotlight on you when this comes out.”

			Five more seconds of silence. Then Irwin says, “Thanks for the call.”

			I knew that wasn’t going to get me anywhere. But I was pissed. The families of these women shouldn’t have to be obnoxious to get answers for what happened to their daughters. If I have to play that role, then I will. Dave Yost’s phone number is 800-282-0515. Drop him a line. Send him a tweet at @OhioAG. Ask him, politely, to create a task force to investigate the missing and murdered women who were sex workers in his state.

			The killers we’ve talked about—­Grate, Mitchell, Slaton. These are three men who killed working girls in the last five years within fifty miles. These are not serial killers they make movies about. These are fuck-­ups. And the ones we haven’t discovered, they are either the same fuck-­ups, or drug dealers/pimps who are using these women until one of them crosses them. And certain cops—­like Mitchell in Columbus’s now-­defunct Vice squad—­not only look the other way, but take part in the transactions, going so far as raping and killing these women.

			The victims are caught in a never-ending cyclone. From the drug companies, to the doctors, to the lack of treatment, the pain they are trying to soothe can quickly transform into despair. Then the government criminalizes not only their addiction, but one of their only recourses to feed the addiction. The authorities lay the hammer down on sex workers, who engage in what may truly be the world’s most dangerous profession. Some studies claim it is fishing and hunting workers, but their fatal injury rate is 132 deaths out of every 100,000 workers. For sex workers, it is 204 out of every 100,000. That’s not counting the countless assaults these women endure, as well as the emotional trauma. Then police investigations into their crimes are lackluster at best . . . or they are raped and killed by the very cops meant to protect them. It happens again and again with no signs of stopping. And this is not only in Ohio.

			“Detroit Police warns of possible serial killer targeting women,” Detroit Free Press, June 5, 2019

			“2 transgender women killed in separate shootings at Charlotte hotels, police say,” ABC 11, Charlotte, April 16, 2021

			“OC man found guilty of kidnapping, killing 4 prostitutes in 2014,” ABC 7, Los Angeles, December 15, 2016

			“Officials: Border Patrol ‘killer’ agent befriended prostitutes before killing them,” USA Today, September 17, 2018

			“Prostitute Murders Go Unsolved,” ABC 24, Memphis, February 25, 2016

			“Saying their names: Vigil for sex workers killed in Alaska,” Anchorage Press, December 20, 2018

			The families of the women who have been killed sit and wait for a call from the police that never comes. Some think that whoever killed their daughter is still out there, killing again and again and again. Others don’t entertain that thought. They want answers for their families. They will visit their graves or clutch their ashes and try to think of better times.

			The families of the missing wait and hope and pray for a miracle. A miracle like the one in Cleveland, when Amanda Berry, Gina DeJesus, and Michelle Knight were found alive years after they’d vanished, emerging from the home of Ariel Castro. Held captive in the sometime–­school bus driver’s house on Seymore Avenue in the middle of a busy neighborhood, the women had been chained, beaten, raped, and starved. One of them, Amanda, had been snatched the day before her seventeenth birthday in 2003. She escaped one day in May 2013, a full-­grown woman with a six-­year-­old daughter—­the child of her rapist.

			“Help me, I am Amanda Berry,” she begged in a now famous 911 call from a neighbor’s house. “I’ve been kidnapped, and I’ve been missing for ten years. And I’m here, I’m free now.”

			Amanda’s mother, Louwana Miller, worked tirelessly to publicize Amanda’s disappearance and keep her in the news. In a cruel twist to the astonishing saga, she died before her daughter’s return. Nancy Bowen is a lot like Miller—­hanging posters and holding rallies and combing the streets searching for her daughter. That Amanda came home means Jayme could, too, no matter how many years have passed.

			That is the message so many of the families want to hear.

			But as we continue to search for the dozens of women, while I drive through Columbus, the one person I wanted to talk to more than anyone for the past three years has finally resurfaced.

			CeeCee.

			“Hi,” I tell her over the phone after she wrote back to me on Facebook, including her number. “I’ve been trying to get in touch with you for over a year. How are you?”

			“I’m good,” she replies.

			“So . . . Remember the interview we did that day?” I continue, trying to explain why I was so concerned. “I came away being really, really worried about you. And I normally don’t do that. But the things that you had said . . . Your two best friends had just been murdered, and I asked you, ‘Does it give you pause to get into a stranger’s car?’ . . . and you said, remember what you said?”

			“Yeah,” she replies. “I said, ‘I’m an addict, I have to.’ ”

			“Yeah. And, honestly, that launched this project. It just stayed with me for a really long time. Danielle’s and Lindsey’s murders really stayed with me . . . But it’s become so much bigger than that. There are so many other cases like theirs. So many other women who have gone missing and murdered.”

			CeeCee tells me she stopped working the streets a few months before the pandemic. She moved in with her mom, who lives far away from Columbus. She’s stopped using and got a job at a gas station. Then an ex-­boyfriend got out of prison, and she visited him in Columbus and was sucked back in again.

			She tells me she pulled out of the skid and hasn’t used in a month.

			“My ex—­I thought he was the love of my life,” she says. “But now I hate him. I was never forced [to do sex work or drugs], but I loved him so much, I would do whatever it took to be with him all the time.”

			She sounds lucid. Razor sharp. Hope.

			“I’m at the point in my addiction where I’m done. Like, it’s not fun no more. I’ve come a long, long way. I’m never going to say I’m clean, hundred percent. But I have it under control.”

			Although she’s back in Columbus, she stays in contact with her mom every day. She wants to go back to school—­maybe become a juvenile probation officer or a counselor. “Because I’ve been through it.

			“I used to hate when I was younger and they would be like, ‘I don’t know what you are going through, but I understand,’ ” she says. “No, you fucking don’t.”

			I ask if she knows Hollie Daniels. She thinks for a bit.

			“Oh yeah, she’s that woman that drives around in the van giving out bags.”

			“You should reach out to her,” I say. I give her Hollie’s information, and the call winds down.

			“CeeCee, I’m so happy to hear that you’re clean and you’re safe,” I say. “I’m continuing to press the cops for Lindsey and Danielle. Please stay safe.”

			“Okay,” she replies. “Make sure you text me again.”

			I then head to meet Scott Greene outside of the CVS on Parsons. He has a reserved smile on his face, but he looks a million times better than when I first met him.

			“I’m two years sober,” he tells me. “February 28.” Scott has his own place now. He used the first stimulus check from the pandemic to buy a car and is now using that car to work as a driver for DoorDash.

			“I’ve just been keeping busy,” he says. “It’s getting easier as the days go by. Keeping busy.”

			Scott tells me he had stopped doing videos about his recovery on his YouTube channel when he felt a pang of hypocrisy—­because he started using another “drug.”

			“I started smoking pot,” he tells me. “I want to come clean. I want to be transparent with everyone.”

			I tell him it’s a controversial term, but people refer to smoking pot but not doing any other drugs as “California sober.”

			“Really?” he says with a laugh. “Yeah, it helps me out with my pain. And I’ve never heard someone ODing over weed.”

			He hasn’t heard from the detectives in Fairfield County about Danielle’s case in over two years. He’s left messages, but they haven’t called him back.

			He tells me Danielle’s kids are living with their dad’s grandma, and they are not doing great. He wants to help. He wants to know what he can do to push the detectives.

			“I wish I can just heal everyone.”

			I told him I would drive to Fairfield County and try to talk to the sheriff face-­to-­face. If 80 percent of success is showing up, maybe my being there would get me a call back. Two hours later, I find myself sitting in the same cinderblock waiting room at the sheriff’s station that smelled of weed four years earlier, surrounded by men who are filling out concealed-­carry permit applications. I learn the sheriff isn’t in the office today. I leave a message with his assistant. He still hasn’t called me back. But I will keep trying until he does. And maybe this book can light a fire under him. His twitter is @sheriff2300 in case you wanted to ask him a question.

			So who are the killers amidst killers? At the end of the day, it’s us. We are the monsters at the end of this book. Because we have failed these women so miserably. At every step.

			But we can all make our hero turn.

			Danielle and Lindsey can’t be saved. But there is still hope for the women on Sullivant and Parsons. There is still hope for the women walking the streets in your town, the streets your parents might have told you to avoid when you were younger. We can fight with an email and a petition asking politicians for new laws and better treatment. And we need to do that. Absolutely. And we need people inside the government to make change. If you are in those positions, create the change. But for everyone else, the two ingredients for change are right in front of you—­empathy and action.

			You made it this far, so you have the first ingredient. For the second, you can act right now. Look for volunteer organizations like Hollie Daniels’s or Hannah Estabrook’s in your hometowns. Donate your time as well as your money. If you can’t find one in your town, start your own. We are all on our own hero’s journeys. Make this part of your journey, however big or small a part it might be. And when it comes to addiction, we need to reach out to friends and family members in need—­or even just reach out to someone we haven’t heard from in a while. It can go a long way.

			While we are doing that, there are the murder victims we need to get loud for: Jessica Lynn Turner, Candice Aliciea Taylor, Ashley Lynn Hamilton, Rebecca Lynn Carroll, Sydney Elaine Bryson, Samantha Jo Stewart, Tameka Danielle Lynch, Tiffany Sayre, Shasta Himelrick, Jasmine Wadsworth, Amanda Fella, Deanna Prendergast, Krystal Garcia, Lindsay Bogan, Michelle Burgan, Jessica Nichols, Lindsey Maccabee, and Danielle Greene.

			There are the women we need to keep searching for: Jayme Bowen, Holly Logan, Melinda Miller, Brandy English, Amber Flack, Charlotte Trego, Wanda Jean Lemons, Megan Lancaster, Sarah Woods, Amanda Lyn Ward-­Romine, and Amber Marie Whitmer.

			There are heroes. Heroes like Hollie, opening more and more houses to care for women as they transition from rehab to a new world. Like Hannah, fighting from her position of privilege to create the Sanctuary space in the middle of Sullivant Avenue. Like Joan, teaching classes at shelters in Middletown, looking for answers for where the missing women have gone.

			There are villains. A lot of them. Villains much worse than Ridgway and Gacy and Bundy. The Sacklers, who provided the pills, and the doctors, who irresponsibly pushed them. The pimps, too lazy to work, turning women out on the street to sell their bodies so they can both feed their addiction. The cops, taking advantage of their position of power to victimize women at their weakest, going so far as murdering them, like Andrew Mitchell did when one woman fought back. The killers, like Grate and Slaton and Sowell, and a clown car of still-­faceless men killing two or three women when the urge strikes them.

			There are the hopeful, like Nancy Bowen, who refuses to stop searching for her daughter, and Sharon and Belinda and Dave, who won’t stop searching for Lindsey’s and Jessica’s killers.

			And finally, there is the brightest hope. The survivors.

			Survivors like Scott. Like CeeCee. Living every day with the pain of knowing their loved ones were murdered, while fighting every day to stay away from the one thing they know will numb that pain.
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			In May of 2023, I was on my way to the Knights of the Round Table sober retreat when a publisher called me with a question: Should we release this book straight to paperback, or wait 6 months and release as a traditional hardcover? The book not coming out in hardcover first is unconventional. But it was already delayed a year, people were dying, crimes weren’t getting solved. While thinking about it at the retreat, I thought about my actions which led me to that moment, then looked up to a banner that read “Service Before Self.” So you’re holding in your hand a lightweight paperback that is less expensive, travels better and swats flies easier.  

			I’d like to thank Estil Wallace for the rock steady support and everyone at the Tuesday night stag in North Scottsdale and the Knights of the Round Table in Phoenix and North Dakota. 

			Andrea Simakis for being my boots on the ground in Ohio. I couldn’t have finished this project without you.

			Kendall, Zoe, and Will for everything.

			Steve Isaacs and Digger Mesch for being solid, solid friends. 

			AJ Daulerio, Alexis Linkletter, Bill Volhein, Camille Dodero, Carolyn Barron, James English, Jeff, Joke and Biagio, Jenn Carson, Jeremy Spiegel, Joel Moore, John Mancini, Marcus Silverberg, Mike Lacey, Neil Mandt, Neil Strauss, Scott Eldridge, Sovereign Syre, and Will Sweet.  

			Anthony Ziccardi and everyone at Post Hill Press. 

			All the guys I met in rehab.

			All the families of the victims. I’m better for knowing you. This book isn’t the end. We will keep fighting for answers.

			And to you, the person holding this book. Thank you so much for coming along on this journey with us. Please go forth and get loud for the victims. If you want to learn more about Naloxone (Narcan), End Overdose (endoverdose.net) is a fantastic resource. They will send you Naloxone for free after taking a free online course. Carry a couple with you—You may save a life. And if you know someone is struggling or not showing up much anymore, please reach out to them.  

			A portion of the author proceeds from this book will go to Danielle’s daughters (via Danielle’s father Scott Green) and towards headstones for Lindsey and her sister (via their brother Stacy Stewart). 
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